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Syed Talha Ahsan — Written evidence (EXL0O067)

Submission to House of Lords Select Committee on the Extradition Law 2014
Introduction

My name is Syed Talha Ahsan. | am a British citizen born in London, UK. | am 35 years
old. | was educated at Dulwich College, South London and the School of Oriental and
African Studies (SOAS), University of London. | am diagnosed with Asperger’s
syndrome — a condition on the autism spectrum.

Eight years ago | was on the verge of becoming a professional librarian. | want to
share with the Lords Extradition Law Committee some details of my personal
experience with extradition.

My submission is organised as follows:

A. Events Prior to my Arrest Relating to my Co-Defendant, Babar Ahmad
B. My Arrest and Extradition Proceedings

C. My Case in the US

D. Removal to the US and Conditions of Incarceration

E. Sajid Badat — Shoe Bomber and the US government’s Co-operating Witness

F. Lord Justice Scott Baker’s Report and the Inconsistency with his Ruling in
Sheppard and Whittle

G. Findings of the Judge at Sentencing
H. Application of Notification
I.  Conclusion

| thank the committee for understanding my current circumstances and extending
the deadline for my evidence.

Respectfully submitted,

Syed Talha Ahsan
26 September 2014



Syed Talha Ahsan — Written evidence (EXL0067)

A. Events Prior to my Arrest Relating to my Co-Defendant, Babar Ahmad

1. On 2 December 2003 four men in my local area were arrested in pre-dawn raids by
Metropolitan Police anti-terrorism officers. After six days of questioning all were
released without charge.

2. One of the men, Babar Ahmad, was assaulted by arresting officers and sustained 73
physical injuries.

3. InJuly 2004 the Crown Prosecution Service (CPS) concluded there was insufficient
evidence to charge Mr Ahmad with any criminal offence arising from evidence seized
in the December 2003 police raid.

4. On 5 August 2004, weeks after the CPS decision, Mr Ahmad was arrested on his way
home from work pursuant to an extradition request by the US under the terms of
Part 2 of the Extradition Act 2003. He was denied bail and taken into custody.

5. On 18 March 2009 the Metropolitan Police admitted full liability for the 2003 assault
and compensated Mr Ahmad £60, 000 while he remained in custody at high security
prisons.

6. For further details on Mr Ahmad’s case | refer the Committee to his submissions to
the Home Office Extradition Review in 2010/11.

B. My Arrest and Extradition Proceedings

1. During the searches in December 2003 a floppy disk was found in the house of Mr
Ahmad’s parents. This disk contained a Word document with a description of
movements by US naval ships in Spring 2001.

2. The document was a transcription of an unsolicited near-illegible handwritten letter
sent to the Azzam Publications postal box. Azzam Publications was an online media
outlet focussing on the conflicts in Bosnia and Chechnya. Mr Ahmad was in charge of
Azzam Publications. | typed up that document when in April until September 2001 |
was giving occasional help to Mr Ahmad with mail orders for books and tapes sold by
Azzam Publications. The file’s author name was mine.

3. The CPS did not regard the existence of this document as sufficient grounds for
prosecution for him and in turn for me. | have never been questioned by British
police arising from this document.

4. On 8 February 2006 my family home was searched by Metropolitan Police at the
behest of US authorities. Amongst items taken were two computers which were
returned 72 hours later with the contents intact. Personal property belonging to
other family members was also taken including my younger brother’s music CDs and
my nephew’s cartoon DVDs.

5. On 19 July 2006 | was arrested at my home for extradition to the United States. The
police came to my home under the guise of returning my passport. Before | signed
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10.

11.

for its return | was told an accompanying officer wanted to speak to me who
promptly arrested me. | was placed in handcuffs and taken to a waiting car. | was
denied bail on the basis of information presented in an affidavit by a US assistant
attorney from Connecticut. As | had no right to see the evidence for those allegations
| could not challenge my denial of bail.

On 19 March 2007 the Magistrates Court ordered my extradition. At the High Courts
on 10 April 2008 | lost both my appeal against extradition and an appeal for judicial
review into the decision of the Director of Public Prosecutions (DPP) to not charge
me in the UK.

There have been significant parliamentary protest in late 2006 about the extradition
of UK citizens to the US particularly when they have never left the UK. As a result
there was a UK-US agreement that cases would be carefully looked at as to whether
they could be more appropriately prosecuted here. Mine was the first case to raise
this but the court said it was too late for me and that my case was already linked to
Babar Ahmad.

| was classified as a category A prisoner subject to protocols such as regular strip
searches. | was held at high security prisons: HMP Belmarsh until 22 January 2008
then the Detainee Unit, HMP Long Lartin where | remained until my extradition on 5
October 2012 (with a stay at HMP Manchester between 13 October 2010 and 6
January 2011 owing to building work at the Detainee Unit). Certain high-profile
Muslim preachers, who | avoided when | was growing up for fear they may get me
into trouble, were my fellow inmates.

On 9 December 2008 the then Governor, Ferdie Parker, prohibited all members of
the Detainee Unit without any individualised risk assessment from mixing with the
general population of the prison. We were no longer allowed to mix with
mainstream prisoners for use of the gym, education or Friday prayers.

After a visit to the Detainee Unit on 4 April 2011 HM Inspectorate of Prisons
reported that “too little attention was paid to their uniquely isolated and uncertain
position.”

Ten days after my extradition the Home Secretary allowed Gary McKinnon, with
whom | share the same medical conditions, to remain in the UK based upon
associative risks. A psychiatric report in 2009 by Dr Quinton Deeley, one of the
country’s leading authorities on autism, also described my vulnerabilities to suicidal
ideation stating: “It should be noted that by virtue of his Asperger’s syndrome and
depressive disorder, Mr Ahsan is an extremely vulnerable individual who, from a
psychiatric perspective, would be more appropriately placed in a specialist service
for adults with autistic disorders and co-morbid mental health problems, with a level
of security dictated by his risk assessment”. | noted that the Home Secretary
procrastinated in her decision for Mr Mckinnon, who had long exhausted all
remedies against extradition, until my ECtHR case had been dismissed and | had
been extradited.
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C. My Case in the US

1. Inthe US| was held in solitary confinement at Northern Correctional Institution
(NCI), the state supermax of Connecticut. | was housed in the same block as Death
Row inmates. There were multiple suicide attempts and incidents of self-harm
during my stay there.

2. On 10 December 2013 as part of a plea bargain for a sentence cap at fifteen years
and facilitation to serve the sentence in the UK, | pled guilty to one count of
conspiracy to provide material support to terrorists and one count of providing
material support to terrorists. | was not guilty of either but | otherwise faced the
potential of receiving a life sentence if a jury convicted me in an atmosphere of
serious prejudice.

3. In February 2012, Lord Carlile QC, the former reviewer of anti-terrorism legislation,
described in an interview with Sky news that the plea bargain system in the US was
“appalling” and “intimidating.” He said about one defendant: “Who can resist that
sort of pressure? It is irrelevant whether the evidence he gives here is true or false,
whether the plea he gives is true or false. It is the process. If you examine English
law, particularly the Police and Criminal Evidence Act, then most American plea
bargains would not be admitted as part of the English evidential system.”

4. Nigel Farage, leader of UKIP, has also criticised the plea bargain system. In March
2012 Kent News reported Mr Farage saying about one defendant: “It’s not a fair
judicial system and | think it is unlikely he will get bail due to this as | imagine they
will make his stay as unpleasant as possible to make him plead guilty.” He also
described US prisons as “absolutely brutal.” It is not a controversial or radical
position to find fault with the US judicial system and its prisons.

5. On 16 July 2014 Judge Janet Hall sentenced me to credit for time served. | was taken
into immigration custody and held at medium security county jails. | wore leg
shackles and handcuffs tied to a belly chain when transported from the holding
centre to the airport up until the point | entered the aeroplane. | returned to the UK
on 21 August.

6. During domestic extradition proceedings | was represented by Gareth Peirce of
Birnberg Peirce & Partners. In the US | was represented by Richard Reeve and Anand
Balakrishnan of Sheehan & Reeve. | have no prior convictions.

D. Removal to the US and Conditions of Incarceration

1. Prior to my extradition | had never visited the US. | knew no relatives there or any
friends. The first time | set foot in the US, | was wearing a jumpsuit in handcuffs and
leg shackles while deprived of sight and sound by goggles and ear muffs.

2. During my time in UK custody | had a clean disciplinary record. | was described by
Ferdie Parker, then governor of HMP Long Lartin, as a “model prisoner.” Since 2007
after regular reviews | continually maintained Enhanced status as an inmate. | was
entitled to the maximum privileges given to inmates at high security prisons,

9
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including wearing my own clothes, cooking my own food and using a fully equipped
gym. None of these features were available during my time in solitary confinement.

3. At an RAF base | was processed by US Homeland Security handlers in the presence of
British extradition police. During times when | had to wait for others to finish | was
made to sit facing a corner as a Homeland Security handler stood over me. | could
only use the toilet with the door open in full view of the handler. Our bodies were
examined, including below the waist undressed, and photographs were taken. | was
not permitted to communicate with my co-defendant sitting beside me. | was
boarded separately upon a private jet in handcuffs and leg shackles deprived of sight
and hearing flanked by two handlers who took me on a zig-zag route. Once the plane
was in flight the goggles and ear muffs were removed. | remained in handcuffs and
leg shackles throughout the five - hour flight. When it was time to eat my right hand
was uncuffed while my left hand remained secured to the belly chain. Once again, to
use the toilet the door had to remain open and in full view of a handler. In every
other regard, the FBI agents and the Homeland Security handlers were respectful
and polite.

4. When we landed in Connecticut the goggles and ear muffs were put back on. | was
escorted into a vehicle and driven to the Federal Courthouse in New Haven where |
was guided into a holding cell before the goggles and ear muffs were removed. Our
arraignment occurred a few hours later and we had the opportunity to meet our
attorneys shortly before. After our arraignment we were placed in handcuffs tied to
a belly chain and shackled with leg irons before being taken by the US Marshals in an
armed convey of vehicles to NCI.

5. At NCI | was taken into a small holding cell. | was surrounded by Correctional Officers
(COs) who held me as they took off my clothes. My hair and beard were examined.
My glasses were confiscated. | was made to squat and cough while undressed below
the waist. | was placed in a Ferguson anti-suicide smock — a one piece garment made
of polyester held together with velcro. | had no undergarments. My shoes and socks
were confiscated and | was given paper slippers. | was handcuffed behind my back
and tethered to leg shackles. | was examined by medical staff and then escorted by
COs down a long concrete tunnel with no natural light.

6. |was placed in a concrete cell which had only a metal bed frame, a mattress and a
safety blanket. There was also a steel sink-toilet unit. | was told to lie face down on
the bunk. The leg shackles were removed. The paper slippers were taken too. |
attempted to get up but | was told to remain in place. After the door closed | was
told to approach the trap and the handcuffs were removed too.

7. lwas not allowed soap, a toothbrush or a pen. | had to request toilet paper from COs
who passed my cell for inspection every 15 minutes. The toilet could only be flushed
by a CO with a switch outside the cell. The faucet water ran for one minute with a
one minute delay. Meals were served in polystyrene cups without utensils. |
requested vegetarian food but was refused. There was a window in the door a few
inches wide and two feet long for observation. There was a similar window at the
back of the cell that faced onto a brick wall. There was no way to know the time

10
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10.

without asking a CO. Some of the COs were telling inmates that a terrorist has been
placed in the cell.

After four days in these conditions | was taken out to see the doctor. | was strip
searched and placed in handcuffs tethered to leg shackles behind my back. | walked
barefoot on concrete to the medical room. | was then placed in a normal cell that
had a metal desk and stool. | was given two yellow jumpsuits and 3 changes of
undergarment. My glasses were returned a few days later. It was only after the Vice-
Consul, Jacqueline Greenlaw, visited that | received basic toiletries, pens and shower
shoes.

Some of the COs, in particular Mssrs. Orcutt and Congelos, had a campaign of
hostility against me. At breakfast time they would recite the pledge of allegiance
outside my door. They told other inmates | was a terrorist. They would conduct
frequent “shake down” searches of my cell. They would be excessive in strip
searches. | also believed they tampered with my food as my cell was in a blind spot. |
raised the matter with the prison chaplain, Deacon Bernd, and the counsellor. They
were eventually moved.

| was unable to make a telephone call to my family for over a month. Every time | left
my cell | was strip searched and placed in handcuffs tethered to leg shackles. | had
showers wearing leg shackles. | exercised alone in the recreation yard. | was always
polite and respectful with staff. | never got a “ticket” or disciplinary offence. After
some months | no longer had to leave my cell wearing handcuffs or leg shackles
unless during lockdowns or for transportation.

E. Sajid Badat — Shoe Bomber and the US government’s Co-operating Witness

On 9 to 10 April 2014 the government’s witness Sajid Badat gave evidence via
videolink. Mr Badat was in an undisclosed location in the UK. My co-defendant,
Babar Ahmad and |, were in the Federal building in Hartford, Connecticut. We wore
leg shackles throughout the proceedings. Our attorneys flew to London to cross-
examine the witness.

On February 28, 2005 Mr Badat had pleaded guilty to involvement in a conspiracy to
destroy a US-bound aircraft with explosives concealed in his shoes. He still has an
outstanding indictment against him and refused to travel to the US to give his
deposition in person. Investigators learned how he regularly met with senior Al-
Qaeda members, including Usama bin Laden and Khalid Sheikh Mohammed.

Altogether he served just over six years in prison. By comparison | served eight years
with two in solitary confinement.

We had access to four large binders of verbatim transcripts and summaries of
interviews he had with UK police and the FBI since 2004.

We also had transcripts of interviews with British detainees at Guantanamo Bay by
the investigating officers in our cases.
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6. In April 2012 the Home Select Committee expressed concern that the British
taxpayer has been supporting Mr Badat with accommodation and expenses after his
release.

F. Lord Justice Scott Baker’s Report and the Inconsistency with his Ruling in
Sheppard and Whittle

1. On 29 January 2010, in the Court of Appeal, in the case of Sheppard and Whittle, two
British white supremacists who ran a website in the UK with a hosting server in
California, USA, Lord Justice Scott Baker determined that the UK was the natural
forum for their prosecution. He ruled the UK was the appropriate forum for
prosecution since a “substantial measure of the activities constituting the crime that
took place in England” namely the writing and uploading of the contents all took
place in the UK. This case was indistinguishable from our case yet Lord Justice Scott
Baker failed to properly examine the implications of this ruling in his report.

G. Findings of the Judge at Sentencing

1. |was unusually fortunate that the judge gave close attention to details without
prejudice. She accepted what | and my attorneys argued especially through the
expert reports and a detailed examination of the government’s evidence. She
rejected much of the government’s version of events and their interpretations. The
government also withdrew the testimony of their terrorism expert, Evan Kohlmann.

2. Atsentencing Judge Hall stated: “In my view, the Jihad does not equal terrorism...my
understanding is that the concept of Jihad in Islam is struggle, and it’s both an
internal and defensive struggle, but it’s never what happened on 9-11.”

3. She made clear that | was not a supporter of Al-Qaeda in any form: “Mr. Ahsan went
to Afghanistan and | don’t believe he was radicalised by his experience or the people
he met there” and “The cooperating witness also testified that Ahsan did not
support Al Qaeda or its terrorist actions against civilians. And unlike the cooperating
witness, Mr. Ahsan did not join Al Qaeda.”

4. On the so-called Battle Group Document, she made clear: “Mr. Ahsan had absolutely
no interest in operational terrorist actions that would harm the United States...I can
only draw the conclusion that it supports what | have concluded and will conclude
generally, that neither of these two defendants were interested in what is commonly
known as terrorism.”

5. She recognised | had never contributed to the websites in either content or
maintenance which was the basis of my extradition: “I find that you were not an
administrator of the website. | find you were aware of the website and what was on
it, and that you were assisting Azzam Publications in furthering its work, but that you
did not place anything on the website. And | don’t think that you were involved, and



Syed Talha Ahsan — Written evidence (EXL0067)

the government can correct me later, in answering e-mail.” The government
conceded there was no evidence | had access to the website email accounts.

6. She described my character:

“You had, and have, a nonviolent, | guess, outlook on life”

“l would, again, comment that he’s conducted himself in a way which reflects
well upon him while in custody. I’'m not sure that, |, myself could have
conducted myself that way.”

“A moderate person who has peaceful views”

“You strike the Court as a gentle person.”

“In all, you appear and strike me as a man who is sensitive and curious,
intelligent and talented. And as | say, there are many letters in support of you
as well who speak about you and your character as one which is not violent
and not aligned with the views of people who are violent.”

7. She repeatedly made clear | was not a terrorist and | had no connection to terrorism:

“In my view, the conclusion | draw is that that’s evidence that you never
intended to be a part of what | will call the false Jihad of terrorism.”

“You never engaged in any violent actions.”

“You did not support the bombings at 9-11 or the July London subway
bombings. Indeed, before you were arrested, you are on record as
denouncing them.”

“There is no sign that Mr. Ahsan’s view of what is Jihad in an Islamic sense
should be equated with terrorism. There is no evidence that he adopted
beliefs of people who believe in terrorism, attacks on civilians.”

“And | don’t see you in any way involved in anything that could smack of
terrorism or material support of conduct which we describe as terrorism.”

8. She spoke about my likelihood to “reoffend”:

“He’s certainly not likely to recidivate”

“l will add as a condition of supervision and hope that it will be respected by
the U.K. authorities in the supervision of you, that you receive mental health
treatment and counselling as is appropriate and needed for you.”

“l don’t think it’s in your nature to, as we use a legal criminal term, recidivate
here, to go and do again what you did when you were 19 and 20 years old,
but | do worry that to the extent you struggle with depressive periods, that at
those times things might look different to you. But | don’t see that as a
reason to conclude that you will recidivate, particularly if you receive
appropriate treatment and support.”

H. Application of Notification

1. As aresult of my having to plead guilty, so as not to risk a conviction by a jury which
would have led to a far greater sentence, | now have a conviction for a terrorism-
related offence of which | am not guilty. My attorneys gave the judge an expert
report by Max Hill QC, a senior UK prosecuting barrister, to say that no one had ever
been prosecuted in the UK for the allegations | faced during the relevant decade.
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2. On 28 August 2014 Metropolitan Police officers served an application of notification
upon me. It is a request to a court for an order that | have further restrictions placed
upon me for the next thirty years including such measures as signing at a police
station annually, reporting any stay away from my home address for more than
seven days, reporting upon leaving the country for more than three days as well as
further demands.

3. The solicitor for the Metropolitan Police, Andy Fairbrother, falsely describes my case
in his statement dated 26 August 2014. He claims, for example, in paragraph 8 that
the naval document was uploaded to the Azzam.com website from my home. He not
only contradicts the findings of Judge Hall but also the stipulation of facts agreed
upon by the parties in my plea deal that he attaches to his statement.

4. On 9 September 2014 the Legal Aid Agency denied my solicitor funding to challenge
the application.

G. Conclusion

1. 1 have spent six years of my life in British high security prisons without trial and two
years in solitary confinement in a country | had never visited all for conduct that was
lawful in the UK. My criminality was not attending training camps which the
Probation Officer and Judge after reading the expert reports refused to describe as
“terrorist” training camps. My criminality was not transcribing an unsolicited letter
that described the movements of a US navy fleet and its perceived vulnerabilities.
My crime was the occasional help | gave to a local friend to sell books and tapes
some of which were available in my university library. Now the Metropolitan Police
want to apply further restrictions upon me.

2. |am attempting to resettle without the benefit of a UK probation officer to explain
my options and entitlements. | fear if | attempt to renew my passport it will be
confiscated. | would like to make special mention of all those who supported my
family throughout these years. This is only a flavour of what has occurred in the last
eight years. | am happy to assist the committee in further solicitations.

26 September 2014
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Amnesty International’s submission to the Lords Select Committee on Extradition Law

Amnesty International opposes the extradition of individuals to the USA where they may be
held in isolation in "super-maximum security" facilities. Prisoners extradited to the USA on
terrorism-related charges will likely be held in pre-trial isolation in the Security Housing Unit
(SHU) of the federal Metropolitan Correctional Centre (MCC) in New York, and following
conviction may be transferred to the federal government’s United States Penitentiary,
Administrative Maximum (ADX) facility in Colorado.

As noted below and detailed in Al’s report, ‘Entombed. Isolation in the federal prison system’
(submitted to the Committee), Amnesty International considers that conditions of isolation
at ADX and MCC SHU breach international standards for humane treatment and, especially
when applied for a prolonged period or indefinitely, amount to cruel, inhuman or degrading
treatment or punishment in violation of international law. Additionally, Amnesty
International considers that conditions under which detainees have been confined in the
MCC SHU are incompatible with the presumption of innocence in the case of untried
prisoners whose detention should not be a form of punishment.

Amnesty International recommends that the United Kingdom authorities do not extradite
individuals to the USA who may be held in MCC SHU or ADX, or in any other facility with
comparable conditions.

United States Penitentiary, Administrative Maximum (ADX) facility in Colorado: With
capacity for 490 male inmates, the vast majority of ADX prisoners are confined to solitary
cells for 22-24 hours a day in conditions of severe physical and social isolation. The cells
have solid walls preventing prisoners from seeing or having direct contact with those in
adjacent cells. Most cells have an interior barred door as well as a solid outer door,
compounding the sense of isolation. Prisoners eat all meals inside their cells, and in most
units each cell contains a shower and a toilet, minimising the need for the inmate to leave
his cell. Visits by prison staff, including routine checks by medical and mental health staff,
take place at the cell door and medical and psychiatric consultations are sometimes
conducted remotely through tele-conferencing. All visits are non-contact, with prisoners
separated from their visitors by a glass screen. Prisoners in the General Population (the
majority of prisoners at ADX) are allowed out-of-cell exercise for up to ten hours a week, in
a bare interior room or in small individual yards or cages, with no view of the natural world.
Prisoners in some other units receive even less out of cell time.

Prisoners convicted of terrorism-related offences may also have Special Administrative
Measures (SAMS) placed on them by the Department of Justice which further restricts their
communications with the outside world.

There is no detailed publicly available information on the time that prisoners spend in
isolation in ADX; at a minimum individuals must spend a year at the most restrictive level of
confinement before becoming eligible for a step-down program (SDP) to work their way to a
less restrictive facility. However, a Federal Bureau of Prisons (BOP) analysis based on a
limited survey of 30 inmates in 2011 for a case before the European Court of Human Rights
showed prisoners were likely to spend at least three years in General Population GP before
being admitted to the SDP. Other sources based on a wider sample of prisoners have found
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that scores of prisoners have spent more than twice as long in solitary confinement.
Advocates have criticised the internal review procedures — including those for deciding
when a prisoner can access and progress through the SDP as over-discretionary and lacking
clear criteria. According to lawsuits and other sources, this means that some prisoners
effectively remain in isolation indefinitely, without being able to change their circumstances.

Metropolitan Correctional Center (MCC): Some prisoners held on terrorism-related charges
in the federal system have been held in prolonged isolation in punitive conditions while
awaiting trial. There is particular concern about conditions in the Security Housing Unit
(SHU) on the 10 floor of the federal Metropolitan Correctional Center (MCC) in New York,
where pre-trial detainees are confined for 23-24 hours a day to solitary cells which have
little natural light and no provision for outdoor exercise. Lack of access to natural light and
fresh air are in clear breach of international standards for humane treatment. Detainees
housed in the unit have included foreign nationals charged with supporting terrorism who
have been extradited to the USA; in addition to their harsh physical conditions of
confinement, some have had only limited contact with their families and few or no social
visits. Several prisoners have spent many months or years in the above conditions while
awaiting trial. Syed Fahad Hashmi who was extradited from the UK in 2007 spent nearly
three years in the unit before pleading guilty to one count of conspiring to provide material
support to terrorists.

26 September 2014
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Dr. Paul Arnell — Written evidence (EXL0016)
Response to Call for Written Evidence by the Select Committee on Extradition Law

1. The United Kingdom’s extradition arrangements largely operate satisfactorily. They
recognise the importance of addressing international and transnational criminality
and the UK’s international and EU legal obligations and yet bar the extradition of
accused and convicted persons in the light of egregious circumstances.

2. In the vast majority of cases the Extradition Act 2003 (2003 Act) operates to produce
just outcomes. Extradition requests to the UK are generally dealt with fairly and
timeously, with the various bars to extradition giving requested persons adequate
protection. The 2003 Act, Human Rights Act 1998 and ultimately the European
Convention of Human Rights 1950 condition all extraditions with human rights
protection.

3. Animportant point that requires emphasis is that the 2003 Act directly gives effect
to international treaties and an EU Framework Decision that the UK Government has
agreed. These are the product of political negotiation, operate on a reciprocal basis
and, in essence, place considerable trust in the criminal law and criminal justice
systems of third states. During the course of negotiations it can be reasonably
assumed that factors such as the sentencing policies, prison conditions and health
systems in these states were taken into account. Parliament enacted the 2003 Act to
enable the UK to carry out its international extradition obligations as far as possible
in light of its other at times competing obligations in the areas of human rights and
international criminal co-operation. It is not for the courts — in the UK or Europe — to
usurp or defeat the Government’s will as expressed through Parliament in the form
of the 2003 Act.

4. UK extradition law is not overly complex. The substantive rules in the area are
necessary to ensure that the law is effective and balances the competing interests
that will inevitably arise when a request is contested. Admittedly, extradition law
gives rise to novel and unusual enquiries, for example into the nature of systemic
corruption in Albania and prison conditions in a US ‘super-max’ gaol. However, the
legal tests to be applied to such situations are relatively settled. They are found in
European Court of Human Rights (ECtHR) and Supreme Court jurisprudence.
Procedurally, the extradition process is rightfully conditioned with relatively strict
time limits, which act to address a historic criticism of extradition in the form of the
considerable length of time the process has taken to come to conclusion.

5. Crime around the world is increasingly multi-jurisdictional and of an unprecedented
scale. The United Nations Office for Drugs and Crime in 2011 estimated that the
annual turnover of transnational organised crime groups and networks was $870
billion. The UK is not immune to this. In contrast to the multi-jurisdictional nature of
crime is UK criminal law. It has been, and remains, predominately territorial.
Particularly, the law generally requires a connection between the act and UK
territory for a crime to be committed within it. This is both appropriate and logical
but also enhances the importance of extradition. The UK relies on the law of
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extradition in order to ensure that criminals are prosecuted — including UK nationals
— for crimes committed abroad. The UK cannot be a global policeman, prosecuting
crimes committed outside its territory where there exists no other connection to it.
A generally territorial criminal law, in conjunction with a thorough and efficient
system of extradition is a wholly reasonable approach for the UK to take. Indeed,
there is not another approach that is readily apparent or appropriate.

6. Extradition is not properly conceived as a first resort, or any resort, in the
prosecution of crime committed in non-UK jurisdictions. Instead, it is a tool that
allows the transfer of accused and convicted persons where authorities in third
states make a request. Admittedly, the question of a UK prosecution has arisen in
the light of a request, for instance in the cases of the ‘NatWest Three’ and Gary
McKinnon. The Forum Bar also requires consideration of prosecutorial decisions in
England and Wales and Northern Ireland in certain circumstances. However, possible
prosecution within the UK and decisions on extradition are rightfully distinct, being
based upon different considerations.

7. The EAW has greatly improved extradition arrangements between EU Member
States. The system of judicial surrender, based upon a Framework List of offences
and foregoing the provision of evidence properly reflects the principles of trust and
co-operation upon which the EU is founded. This is not to suggest that there are not
concerns. The prosecution policies of Poland and the prison conditions and delays in
criminal justice in members including Greece are factors that should be addressed.
The responsibility for so-doing, however, is not the UK’s, but rather is that of the
Member States in question and the EU. The EU’s Charter of Fundamental Rights and
Freedoms, together with the fact that all EU Member States are party to the ECHR,
provide an avenue to those subjected to an EAW where concerns exist as to the
human rights situation within a fellow Member State.

8. The existing statutory bars to extradition, including the relatively new forum and
proportionality bars, provide sufficient protection to requested persons where the
requesting state need not provide the UK evidence of a prima facie case against that
person. Regular re-consideration of the list of territories exempt from providing
prima facie evidence should take place, with a view to remove those that it is
thought no longer appropriate to designate and similarly to add territories where it
is thought appropriate to do so. The rationale underlying these decisions must be
that the territory and its criminal justice system are such to merit a high degree of
trust. This, in turn, must depend upon that state’s adherence to the rule of law and
the human rights protection it gives accused and convicted persons.

9. The UK’s extradition arrangements with the United States are in law similar to those
with other territories designated as not having to provide prima facie evidence. The
prima facie evidence requirement exists to ensure that extradited persons have
committed an offence against the law of the requesting state. It has not been
suggested, to the present author’s knowledge, that the US has requested individuals
who have not committed an offence against its law.
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10. The operation of extradition between the UK and the US is notable on account of the
relatively high number of requests made to the UK from the US, the notoriety of a
number of those cases and certain features of the US criminal justice system
including the length of prison sentences imposed, its plea bargaining system and the
conditions within certain of its prisons. These have been considered by various
courts in the UK and by the ECtHR and have been held to be compatible with human
rights.

11. The partial removal of political input and discretion in the extradition process has
been beneficial. Political input should be completely removed. The rule of law
supports the removal in that the extradition process should apply equally to
everyone subjected to it. Political input in the process can lead to justifiable
criticisms, and provide the UK’s extradition partners and its critics a possible
justification for refusing UK requests and/or a ground for criticism. The existing bars
to extradition, including that a request that is made for the purpose of prosecuting
or punishing a person on account of his race, religion, nationality, gender, sexual
orientation or political opinions offer adequate protection.

12. Decisions to prosecute and decisions to extradite are, and should be, based upon
distinct factors. The former, in England and Wales, turn on the factors within the
Code for Crown Prosecutors, January 2013, and in Scotland in the Crown Office and
Procurator Fiscal Service’s Prosecution Code, May 2001. The latter turn on the place
of origin of the request and are based upon the terms of the EU or public
international legal obligation to act. That noted, it is not possible to completely
disentangle prosecutorial and extradition decisions. This is because single acts can
give rise to criminal offences in more than one location and, more specifically, that
extradition is barred on account of a previous prosecution according to the rule
against double jeopardy.

13. Political and diplomatic considerations should play no role in either prosecutorial or
extradition decisions. The rule of law, in a domestic and international sense,
mandates that conclusion, as do the EU’s Eurojust Guidelines, Making the Decision -
Which Jurisdiction Should Prosecute?, found in Annex A of its Annual Report 2003.
The guidelines contain the presumption that it is the territorial state — where
majority of criminality occurred or where the majority of the loss was sustained that
should prosecute. Following these, accused persons should be extradited to that
territorial state. As between the UK the US, the Agreement for Handling Criminal
Cases with Concurrent Jurisdiction between the United Kingdom and the United
States of America 2007 is less precise in iterating the factors that should be
considered in coming to decisions about prosecution in the face of concurrent
jurisdiction.

14. The extradition and surrender of nationals and the general applicability of the
criminal law on the basis of one’s nationality or residence are both relevant to the
discussion of the relationship between extradition and prosecutorial decisions. The
UK'’s position on both is relatively clear. Historically it has had no qualms in
extraditing its nationals. That view continues today. It has only exceptionally
extended its criminal law on the basis of nationality or residence. Where it has done
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15.

16.

17.

18.

19.

so evidential difficulties, prosecutorial disinclination and deference to third states
with a territorial interest have militated against the prosecution of offences on that
basis. Both of these positions — the extradition of UK nationals and the exceptionality
of non-territorial applications of the criminal law — are wholly reasonable and should
be maintained.

The human rights bar to extradition, as interpreted by UK courts with reference to
ECtHR jurisprudence, operates satisfactorily. It acts to protect requested persons
from egregious violations of human rights. The tests developed by the courts set the
hurdle quite high. The bar is not easily or readily invoked. This is appropriate in light
of the interests served by the extradition process and the trust placed in the national
and regional human rights systems of the UK’s extradition partners.

Where assurances have been received from a third state in regard to the future
treatment of a requested person courts should apply a presumption that they will be
followed. The question as to the bona fides of the third state is one which is not
suited to judicial determination. As such it should be considered to be non-justiciable
in all but the most extreme of cases.

The responsibility to monitor the implementation of assurances falls to the UK
Government. Where assurances are not honoured it becomes a matter for the UK
Government to make representations to the authorities in that state. The rendition
of persons to that country must cease until it can be demonstrated to the
satisfaction of the Government that they will be upheld.

The impact of the forum bar will be slight. This is because the facts underlying
extradition requests almost always demonstrate a substantial connection with the
requesting state in the form of the harm caused occurring within it. To the author’s
knowledge not a single case over the past several years would be a legitimate
candidate for a successful argument based upon forum. Cases such as those
concerning lan Norris, the ‘NatWest Three’ and Gary McKinnon did indeed have
connections to the UK, to the extent that a ‘substantial measure’ of the requested
persons relevant activity took place within it however all of these cases also gave rise
to losses and harm in the US.

The impact of the entry into force of the proportionality bar is less easily foreseen.
This is because a version of it has been applied for some time as developed in ECtHR
and UK jurisprudence. Indeed, a growing number of cases can be identified where
appeals against extradition orders have been allowed because it was held
disproportionate to extradite. Of 279 relevant cases identified via Westlaw and Lexis-
Nexis, over the period 1 July 2013 to 30 June 2014 human rights were successfully
invoked in 43. An example is Balodis-Klocko v Latvia, [2014] EWHC 2661 (Admin),
where it was held that it would be disproportionate to extradite a convicted person
where he had served over 8 years of a 10 year sentence for robbery, was HIV
positive and had a wife and child in the UK. The proportionality bar as found in s
21A(b) of the 2003 Act is more limited in scope than that developed in the case law
(it is also limited to Category 1 accusation extraditions). For example, it limits the
matters the judge can take into account in coming to a decision on proportionality in
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21A(3)(a)-(c), excluding the health of the individual and the existence of children or
other family. As the human rights bar remains alongside the proportionality bar, it is
reasonable to assume that both will operate in the same case. In light of this it is not
unreasonable to conclude that the proportionality bar will not have a material
impact.

20. The present devolution settlement in Scotland is, to this point, fit for purpose in the
area of extradition. It is notable that the substantive law in the area of extradition
has diverged as between England and Wales and Scotland for the first time relatively
recently in that the forum bar has not been brought into force in Scotland. It is
desirable for the whole of the UK to act under a single set of extradition rules —
where possible and reasonable to do so.

21. Scottish independence will have a significant impact upon extradition within the
British Isles. Whilst there is some debate about an independent Scotland’s
membership of the EU it is reasonable to assume that in due course Scotland would
become an EU Member State and as such the EAW scheme will govern extradition
between Scotland and the rest of the UK.

27 August 2014
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Written Evidence — Response to House of Lords Select Committee on
Extradition Law

Dr. Danae Azaria
University College London, Faculty of Laws
1 January 2015

Executive Summary
A. (1) Is the UK permitted to make a reservation to Article 12(2) of the European
Convention on Extradition vis-a-vis particular States to the effect that additional
documents, and more specifically prima facie evidence of the offence for which
extradition is requested (i.e. signed witness statements), have to be submitted by the
requesting State?

The European Convention on Extradition (‘ECE’) contains a provision concerning
reservations according to which reservations have to be made either upon signature or
upon ratification or accession. The late formulation of a reservation would render it
invalid. However, modern practice, including under the auspices of the Council of
Europe, exceptionally recognises the possibility that the late formulation of a
reservation can be valid, if unanimously accepted by other contracting states. A
reservation by the UK concerning Article 12 to the effect that prima facie evidence of
the offence for which extradition is requested (i.e. signed witness statements) has to be
submitted by particular requesting States parties would be consistent with the object
and purpose of the ECE, but its late formulation would not meet the narrow
circumstances in which late formulations of reservations have been accepted, and in any
event, such late formulation would require the unanimous acceptance of other
contracting States in order to be valid.

Although the formulation of a late reservation would render the reservation invalid, a
number of alternative routes may be available. First, the UK may denounce the ECE
(pursuant to its Article 31) with a view to immediately re-acceding to it and formulating
a reservation to Article 12 when acceding. Although such an approach is controversial,
there is no rule of customary international law prohibiting it. However, as at 1 January
2014, the UK is party to the Fourth Additional Protocol to the ECE (‘Fourth Protocol’). A
denunciation of the ECE automatically entails the denunciation of the Fourth Protocol
(pursuant to the Fourth Protocol’s Article 14(3)), and upon accession to the ECE and to
the Fourth Protocol a reservation formulated to the ECE concerning prima facie
evidence in relation to Article 12 of the ECE would have legal effects only in the
relationship of the UK with ECE parties that are not parties to the Fourth Protocol. The
UK will be unable to formulate a valid reservation to the Fourth Protocol (concerning
Article 12 of the ECE) that applies to the relationship between the UK and other Fourth
Protocol parties, because the Fourth Protocol permits only specified reservations but
not one in relation to Article 12 to the effect examined here. Second, the UK could try to
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elicit the establishment of an agreement between ECE parties concerning the
interpretation of Articles 12 or 13 to achieve the desired result by triggering the
subsequent practice of ECE parties in the treaty’s application.

A. (I1) What is the effect of doing so on the UK’s ECE treaty relations with other States
party?

If the late formulation of a reservation is accepted unanimously by all other contracting
states, it would be subject to the opposability rules concerning reservations. Between
the UK and those that accept the reservation, if they have not raised an objection to the
reservation by the end of twelve months after they were notified of the reservation or
by the date on which they expressed their consent to be bound by the treaty, whichever
is later, the ECE would apply with the reservation. The reservation would modify Article
12 to the extent of the reservation for the reserving State in its relations with the
accepting party; and would modify Article 12 to the same extent for the accepting party
in its relations with the reserving State. In contrast, between the UK and those that
object to the reservation, either the ECE would not enter into force between them, if
the objecting states choose to oppose it, or Article 12 will not apply to the extent of the
reservation.

If the UK attempted to make a reservation that was in fact not permitted (for instance,
because it has been formulated late without the unanimous acceptance of all other
parties) and as a result was invalid, and then sought to rely on that reservation
notwithstanding its invalidity, the UK would be in breach of its obligations under the
ECE.

B. Can the UK consider itself not bound by the ECE in relation to another ECE party
that it regards as not performing the ECE in good faith?

Assuming that an ECE (or Fourth Protocol) party is not performing the treaty in good
faith, under customary international law and the VCLT the UK remains bound by the ECE
or the Fourth Protocol (as applicable). The only available responses open to the UK as a
result of non-performance of the ECE by another State are the following.

First, under customary international law on the law of treaties, only in case of a material
breach by another State party, if the UK is specially affected by that material breach, will
the UK be entitled to suspend the operation in whole or in part of the ECE (or the Fourth
Protocol, as applicable) in its relationship between itself and the defaulting State. The
suspension of the treaty’s operation will release the UK and the defaulting State from
the obligation to perform the treaty in their mutual relations during the period of the
suspension, but will not otherwise affect the legal relations between the parties
established by the treaty.

Second, it is arguable — albeit not beyond doubt — that the UK may withhold
performance of its treaty obligations until such time as the other party performs,
assuming that the obligations in question are synallagmatic, in the sense that the
performance of some treaty obligations may be conditioned upon performance of the
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same or closely linked obligations under the same treaty (under the exceptio inadimpleti
contractus). This is a matter of treaty interpretation. However, it is doubtful that the
obligations in the ECE (or the Fourth Protocol, as applicable) are synallagmatic in this
way.

Third, under customary international law on state responsibility, if the UK is injured by
an internationally wrongful act pertaining to the breach (material or not) of an
obligation under the ECE (or the Fourth Protocol, as applicable), it may take a
countermeasure against the responsible ECE party (or party to the Fourth Protocol) in
the form of suspending compliance with its international obligations under the ECE (or
to the Fourth Protocol) or another international obligation owed to the responsible
State. The wrongfulness of such suspension would be precluded for as long as the
internationally wrongful act persists, but the obligations whose performance is
suspended would remain an applicable legal standard between the responsible State
and the State taking the countermeasure. However, countermeasures in order to be
lawful have to fulfill a number of conditions, and hence their lawfulness will depend on
the circumstances of each case. If they are not lawful, the wrongfulness of the
countermeasures will not be precluded, and the UK would violate its international
obligations and would engage international responsibility.

Question A, Part (I): Is the UK is permitted to make a reservation to Article 12(2) of the
European Convention on Extradition vis-a-vis particular States to the effect that additional
documents, and more specifically prima facie evidence of the offence for which
extradition is requested (i.e. signed witness statements), have to be submitted by the
requesting state?

1. The Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties (‘VCLT’)! has entered into force for a
number of parties to the ECE, including for instance the UK and Russia. However, it does not
apply to the ECE (as between ECE parties that are parties to the VCLT), because the VCLT
applies only to treaties, which are concluded by states after the entry into force of the VCLT
with regard to such states (VCLT Article 4). Hence, the following analysis examines rules of
customary international law, which may coincide in content with some rules set forth in the
VCLT.

2. The UK expressed its consent to be bound by European Convention on Extradition (‘ECE’)
on 13 February 1991 without making a reservation to Article 12(2) to the effect that
additional documents, and more specifically prima facie evidence of the offence for which
extradition is requested (i.e. signed witness statements), have to be submitted by the
requesting state. The question thus arises as to whether customary international law
permits the ‘late formulation of reservations’, meaning after the State formulating the
reservation has expressed its consent to be bound by the treaty.

3. Under customary international law, as reflected in VCLT Article 2(1)(d), a reservation is a
‘unilateral statement, however phrased or named, made by a State, when [signing or
expressing consent to be bound by a treaty], whereby it purports to exclude or to modify

' Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties (done in Vienna 23 May 1969, entered into force 27 January 1980) 1155
UNTS 331.
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the legal effect of certain provisions of the treaty in their application to that State’. A
reservation can be formulated only up to the point when the State that formulates it
expresses its consent to be bound by the treaty.? This is supported by the fact that the time
factor is part of the definition of a reservation in VCLT Article 2(1)(d), and part of the
customary rule of permissibility of reservations reflected in VCLT Article 19 (‘[a] State may,
when signing, ratifying, accepting, approving or acceding to a treaty, formulate a reservation
[...]'). If reservations are formulated late, they are of no legal effects and are null and void.3

4. There are two exceptions to this rule. First, a treaty may expressly permit that
reservations are formulated late (lex specialis).* However, this is not the case for the ECE.
Article 26 entitled ‘Reservations’ reads:

1. Any Contracting Party may, when signing this Convention or when depositing its
instrument of ratification or accession, make a reservation in respect of any
provision or provisions of the Convention.

2. Any Contracting Party which has made a reservation shall withdraw it as soon as
circumstances permit. Such withdrawal shall be made by notification to the
Secretary General of the Council of Europe.

3. A Contracting Party which has made a reservation in respect of a provision of the
Convention may not claim application of the said provision by another Party save in
so far as it has itself accepted the provision. [Emphasis added]

Therefore, Article 26 explicitly requires that reservations to the ECE are made either upon
signature or when the Contracting Party expresses its consent to be bound by ratification or
accession and so this first exception is not available in this case.

5. Second, modern practice indicates that the other contracting States may unanimously
accept a late reservation, in the absence of, or even contrary to, treaty provisions
concerning reservations, which require that reservations are formulated up to the point
when consent to be bound is expressed, such as Article 26(1) of ECE.> The consent of the
other contracting States can be perceived as ‘a collateral agreement extending ratione
temporis’ the formulation of reservations® or a treaty amendment.

6. If the late formulation is opposed, the State proposing the late formulation of a
reservation remains bound, in accordance with the initial expression of its consent. If the
late formulation is unanimously accepted (even tacitly),” the normal rules regarding
acceptance of and objections to reservations, as codified in VCLT Articles 20-23, apply with

2 Border and Transborder Armed Actions (Nicaragna v. Honduras), Jurisdiction and Admissibility, Judgment, 1.C.J. Reports
1988, p. 69 at 85, para. 35.

3 Text of the Guide to Practice, comprising an introduction, the guidelines, and commentaries thereto, an annex on
the reservations dialogue and a bibliography, adopted by the International Law Commission at its sixty-third session,
in 2011, and submitted to the General Assembly as a part of the Commission’s report covering the work of that
session (A/66/10/Add.1), ILCYB 2011-1I, (‘ILC Commentary to Guide to Practice of Reservations to Treaties’), p.
180, para. 18.

4 A treaty containing such clause under the auspices of the Council of Europe: Article 30(1), Convention on Mutual
Administrative Assistance on Tax Matters, CETS 127 (done in Strasbourg 25 January 1988, in force 1 April 1995).

> Letter to governmental official in a Member State, UN Secretariat, 19 June 1984, UN Juridical Yearbook, 1984, p.
183; ILC Commentary to Guide to Practice of Reservations to Treaties, p. 177, para. 9 and p. 178, para. 13.

¢ Ibid, p. 177, para. 9.

7 Ibid, p. 182, para. 2.
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regard to the content of reservations whose formulation took place late.?

7. The unanimous acceptance can be express or tacit. Tacit acceptance can be presumed if
no contracting State opposes the late formulation within a period of time after which a tacit
acceptance can be assumed. The VCLT does not touch on the requisite amount of time, nor
is practice of depositaries in general established.’® The United Nations Secretary-General
(‘UNSG’) has elaborated a continuous practice to deal with the late formulation of
reservations, including in relation to periods within which the other contracting States are to
be consulted and after which a tacit acceptance can be assumed.® In contrast, the Council
of Europe Secretary-General, who acts as depositary to the treaties concluded under the
auspices of the Council of Europe, including the ECE, has not developed a continuous
practice in this respect.

8. In 2011, the International Law Commission (‘ILC’) adopted the Guide to Practice on
Reservations to Treaties, which was submitted to the UN General Assembly on 16 December
2013 that took note of the Guide to Practice, annexed it to its Resolution, and encouraged
its widest possible dissemination.!! The Guide is not binding, but some of its Guidelines
either constitute a codification of existing law (VCLT or customary international law) or a
progressive development of the law. The Guide proposes a 12 month period following the
date on which the notification by the depositary was received, unless the treaty otherwise
provides or the well-established practice of the depositary differs (Guideline 2.3.1). This
proposition is a progressive development of international law,*? but is guided by the VCLT: it
has been guided by and parallels the 12 month period for objecting to a permissible
reservation under VCLT Article 20(5).13

9. Despite the lack of practice in the Council of Europe as to the precise time-frame during
which contracting States have to be consulted and oppose the late formulation of a
reservation, reservations to a number of treaties concluded under the auspices of the
Council of Europe have been formulated late, including to the ECE, without any opposition
having been raised by other contracting States.!* But, these instances are exceptional: some
have been attributed (by the state formulating them) to an administrative error; others have
been formulated soon after the expression of consent to be bound and before the treaty
has entered into force for the reserving state.

8 Ibid, p. 181, para. 23.

9 ILC Commentary to Guide to Practice of Reservations to Treaties, p. 182, para. 5.

10 See, Memorandum from the United Nations Legal Counsel addressed to the Permanent Representatives of States
Members of the United Nations, 4 April 2000 (LA 41 TR/221 (23-1)). ILC Commentary to Guide to Practice of
Reservations to Treaties, p. 183, paras. 6-8.

1 GA Resolution 68/111, Resetvations to treaties, adopted on 16 December 2013, para. 3.

12 1L.C Commentary to Guide to Practice of Reservations to Treaties, p. 183, para. 9.

13 Ibid, paras. 8-9.

14 While Portugal ratified the ECE on 25 January 1990, on 12 February 1990, Portugal formulated a reservation to
Article 1 of ECE (before the entry into force of the Convention for Portugal on 25 April 1990). In response
Belgium (a signatory since 13 December 1957) only objected to Portugal’s reservation explaining that it is not
compatible with the Convention’s object and purpose, but there is no evidence that Belgium opposed the
reservation’s late formulation. On 17 June 2003, South Africa supplemented with a Note Verbale the reservation it
made to Article 2 of ECE on 11 June 2003 (i.e. after its accession on 12 February 2003) according to which it]
regrets the belated communication of the treservation and declaration regarding the European Convention on
Extradition, which is the result of an unfortunate administrative oversight.’
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10. Hence, a late formulation of a reservation to Article 12 of the ECE by the UK would face a
number of hurdles: first, if such reservation were to have legal effect, it would have to be
unanimously accepted by all other contracting states to the ECE; second, owing to the fact
that such reservation would not fall within the limited and exceptional circumstances in
which late formulation has been accepted, it is unlikely that it will be accepted unanimously;
third, during the time between the proposed late reservation and when a unanimous
acceptance or an opposition occurs (arguably within twelve months from the date of
notification by the Secretary-General of such proposed reservation), there will be legal
uncertainty as to the reservation’s validity.

11. The question arises as to whether the UK could make an ‘interpretative declaration’ that
Article 12 of the ECE requires that prima facie evidence of the offence for which extradition
is requested (i.e. signed witness statements) has to be submitted by the requesting State.
The VCLT does not define the term ‘interpretative declaration’. The ILC Guide to Practice on
Reservations to Treaties defines interpretative declarations as ‘unilateral statement[s],
however phrased or named, made by a State or an international organization, whereby that
State or that organization purports to specify or clarify the meaning or scope of a treaty or
of certain of its provisions’ (Guideline 1.2).

12. Interpretative declarations can be made at any time after the adoption of the treaty’s
text, unless the treaty provides that they can be formulated only at a specific time
(Guideline 2.4.7). However, such a declaration by the UK would actually purport to modify
the effect of Article 12 of ECE in its application to the UK vis-a-vis other ECE parties, rather
than to specify or to clarify the meaning or scope of a treaty provision. It would thus
constitute a reservation, despite its title as a ‘declaration’,’> and the rules concerning the
late formulation of reservations, as explained above, would apply.

13. In any event, the UK could endeavour to establish an agreement between parties to the
ECE concerning the interpretation of Article 12. This agreement can be achieved through
subsequent practice in the application of the ECE, i.e. UK’s conduct and the reactive practice
of other parties (by positive conduct or tacit acceptance by silence or omission, in
circumstances where some reaction would have been the natural conduct).'® Although not
all parties to the treaty being interpreted need to have engaged in the practice, the practice
has to establish the agreement of all parties concerning the treaty’s interpretation.t’

15 See ‘however phrased or named’ in the definition of a treservation (VCLT Article 2(1)(d)); Case of Belilos ».
Switzerland, Judgment (Metits and Just Satisfaction), 10328/83, 29 April 1988, para. 49. The ILC Guide to Practice
on Reservations to Treaties distinguished reservations from interpretative declarations on the basis of the legal
effects that the author of the unilateral statement purports to produce (Guideline 1.3).

16 Conclusion 9(2), Text of the draft conclusions on subsequent agreements and subsequent practice in relation to
the interpretation of treaties, as provisionally adopted by the Commission at its sixty-sixth session, 6 August 2014,
ILCYB 2014, Vol. II, pp. 168-217; I.C. MacGibbon, Some Observations on the Part of Protest in International Law,
30 BYIL (1953) at 307; Appellate Body Report, Ewuropean Communities—Customs Classification of Frogen Boneless Chicken
Cuts, WT/DS269/AB/R, WT/DS286/AB/R, adopted 27 September 2005, para. 272.

17 1.M. Sinclait, The Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties (Manchester: Manchester University Press, 27 ed., 1984),
p. 48; R. Gardiner, Treaty Interpretation (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2008) 239.
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14. Alternatively, the UK could make an interpretative declaration to ECE Article 13%
pursuant to which it understands this provision to allow the requested State to require the
requesting state to submit prima facie evidence in relation to the charge made in cases
where the requested State cannot conclude that the request as originally formulated is
properly founded. Such declaration would purport to clarify the meaning of Article 13, and
would be permitted. If such declaration, along with other subsequent practice in the
application of the ECE, establish the agreement of treaty parties as to the interpretation of
the treaty (to the effect of this interpretative declaration), this subsequent agreement
would be taken into account together with the context of the ECE in the interpretation of
the Convention, as part of the general rule of treaty interpretation under customary
international law set forth in VCLT Article 31(3)(b).%°

15. The UK could denounce the ECE (pursuant to its Article 31) with a view to immediately
re-acceding to it formulating a reservation to Article 12 when depositing the instrument of
accession. Such an approach is controversial, as it would essentially defeat the system of
reservations in general,?° but also Article 26 of the ECE specifically. However, there is no rule
of customary international law (or in the VCLT) that prohibits such practice.

16. As at 1 January 2015, the UK, Albania, Latvia and Serbia are States party to the Fourth
Additional Protocol to the European Convention on Extradition (‘Fourth Protocol’),?! all of
which are party to the VCLT,%? and as between them the VCLT applies to the Fourth Protocol
(VCLT Article 4). Under the VCLT the late formulation of reservations is impermissible, as
explained in paragraph 3 earlier in this section. Although the VCLT does not specify the legal
effects of an impermissible reservation, the correct interpretation of the VCLT is that such a
reservation is invalid, and produces no legal effects,?® while the UK will remain bound by the
Fourth Protocol without the impermissible reservation formulated late.

17. In any event, Article 13 of the Fourth Protocol permits reservations only to specific
provisions:

‘3. No reservation may be made in respect of the provisions of this Protocol, with
the exception of the reservations provided for in Article 10, paragraph 3, and Article
21, paragraph 5, of the Convention as amended by this Protocol, and in Article 6,
paragraph 3, of this Protocol. Reciprocity may be applied to any reservation made.’

18 ECE Article 13 reads: ‘If the information communicated by the requesting Party is found to be insufficient to
allow the requested Party to make a decision in pursuance of this Convention, the latter Party shall request the
necessary supplementary information and may fix a time-limit for the receipt thereof.’

19 Sinclair, supra note 17; Gardiner, supra note 17; Conclusion 9(2), Text of the draft conclusions on subsequent
agreements and subsequent practice in relation to the interpretation of treaties, as provisionally adopted by the
Commission at its sixty-sixth session, 6 August 2014, ILCYB 2014, Vol. II, pp. 168-217; Guidelines 4.7.1-4.7.3, ILC
Guide to Practice on Reservation to Treaties.

20 Council of Europe CADHI, Practical Issues regarding Reservations to International Treaties adopted at the 19th
meeting (Berlin, 13-14 March 2000), para. 8; A. Aust, Modern Treaty Law and Practice (Cambridge: Cambridge
University Press, 3* edition, 2013), p. 142.

2l Fourth Additional Protocol to the European Convention on Extradition (done in Vienna 20 September 2012,
entered into force 1 June 2014), CETS No. 212.

22 Information available at UN Treaty Collection:
https://treaties.un.org/pages/ViewDetailsITI.aspx?&src=TREATY&mtdsg no=XXIII~1&chapter=23&Temp=mt
dsg3&lang=en

2 Guideline 4.5.1, ILC Guide to Practice on Reservations to Treaties. See also reasoning of the ILC: ILC
Commentary to Guide to Practice of Reservations to Treaties, p. 510, para. 6, and p. 515, para. 18.
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A reservation to Article 2 of the Fourth Protocol, which replaces Article 12 of the ECE, is
impermissible, and if formulated — even late — it would be invalid. The UK formulated a
(permissible) reservation when it deposited the instrument of its ratification of the Fourth
Protocol on 23 September 2014, but none contemplating a reservation concerning prima
facie evidence in relation to Article 12 of the ECE.

18. Even if the UK formulated late a reservation to the ECE whose late formulation was
unanimously accepted by ECE contracting States, reservations made to the provisions of the
ECE, which are amended by the Fourth Protocol, such as Article 12 of the ECE, do not apply
as between the parties to the Fourth Protocol (see its Article 13(2)). The reservation will
apply only between parties to the ECE that are not parties to the Fourth Protocol, in
accordance with the rules of opposability.

19. As a result, even if the UK, denounces the ECE with a view to immediately acceding to it
with a reservation, such denunciation automatically entails denunciation of the Fourth
Protocol (Article 14(3) of the Fourth Protocol), and upon accession to the ECE and the
Fourth Protocol a reservation formulated to the ECE concerning prima facie evidence in
relation to Article 12 of the ECE would first have legal effects only in the relationship of the
UK with ECE parties that are not parties to the Fourth Protocol, while second the UK will be
unable to formulate a valid reservation to the Fourth Protocol (concerning Article 12 of the
ECE) other than those prescribed by the Fourth Protocol (Article 13(3)).

Question A, Part (ll): What is the effect of doing so on the UK’s ECE treaty relations with
other States party?

1. In the event that a reservation formulated late is accepted unanimously be all other
contracting States to the ECE, it would have to be otherwise permissible and it would be
subject to the opposability rules concerning reservations. A reservation concerning Article
12 to the effect that additional evidence is required to be submitted by specific ECE parties
when they request extradition from the UK would not be incompatible with the object and
purpose of the ECE and would be a permissible and valid reservation (VCLT Article 19(c).?*

2. Between the UK and those that accept the reservation (even tacitly, if they have not
raised an objection to the reservation by the end of twelve months after they were notified
of the reservation or by the date on which they expressed their consent to be bound by the
treaty, whichever is later), the ECE would apply with the reservation (unless the treaty
provides otherwise). The reservation would modify for the reserving State in its relations
with that other party Article 12 to the extent of the reservation; and would modify Article 12
to the same extent for that other party in its relations with the reserving State.

3. In contrast, between the UK and those that object to the reservation, either the ECE

24 This is supported by the fact that the Belgium, Luxembourg and the Netherlands have all made reservations
according to which they do not apply Article 28 of the ECE in the relationships between themselves (i.e. specifically
formulating a reservation in relation to particular states) and no other contracting State has objected to it (on the
basis that the reservations are incompatible with the object and purpose of the ECE owing to the fact that they are
formulated in relation to particular parties). See reservations by Belgium on 3 June 1997, by Luxembourg on 16
November 1976, and by the Netherlands on 14 February 1969.
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would not enter into force between them (if the objecting States choose to oppose such
entry into force) or the provision to which the reservation has been made will not apply to
the extent of the reservation. Given that the reservation being considered here specifically
will refer to particular ECE parties, their reaction (acceptance or objection) is important.

4. On the other hand, if the UK attempted to make a reservation to ECE Article 12 requiring
prima facie evidence from particular ECE parties that was not permitted (because it has
been formulated late without the unanimous acceptance of all other parties) and as a result
was invalid, and then sought to rely on that reservation notwithstanding its invalidity, the
UK would be in breach of its obligations under the ECE.?> As a result, if the breach was
material, other State parties specially affected by the UK’s material breach would be entitled
to suspend the operation of the ECE in their relationship with the UK, and injured States
would be entitled to resort to countermeasures against the UK pursuant to the law of
international responsibility.

Question B: Can the UK consider itself not bound by the ECE in relation to another ECE
party that it regards as not performing the ECE in good faith?

1. Assuming that an ECE (or Fourth Protocol) party is not performing the treaty in good faith,
under customary international law and the VCLT the UK remains bound by the ECE or the
Fourth Protocol (as applicable). The only available responses open to the UK as a result of
non-performance of the ECE by another State are the following.

2. First, under customary international law on the law of treaties (and under the VCLT), only
material breaches entitle other parties to respond. A material breach is a breach of a
provision essential to the accomplishment of the treaty’s object and purpose. The type of
response, which can only involve the unilateral suspension of the treaty’s operation (not its
termination), depends on the nature of the ECE, as a treaty.

3. Multilateral treaties can create bilateralisable relationships between treaty parties, or
they can establish standards that are not reciprocal (integral treaties).?® In the case of a
treaty that creates bundles of bilateral relationships between the parties, the specially
affected states are entitled to unilaterally suspend the treaty’s operation in whole or in part
in their relationship with the defaulting state (VCLT Article 60(2)(b)). In contrast, integral
treaties that contain provisions relating to the protection of the human person are not
subject to the unilateral (or unanimous) suspension of their operation in response to their
material breach (VCLT Article 60(5)). Under the VCLT, only treaty provisions of humanitarian
character, as opposed to all treaties of integral character, such as treaties that establish
uniform conduct for states, are not subject to unilateral suspension of their operation.
Although it could be argued that the treatment of treaty provisions of humanitarian
character should be extended to all integral treaties, the fact that only some but not all
integral treaties are referred to in VCLT Article 60(5) allows the a contrario argument that

25 The mere formulation of an impermissible reservation does not engage the international responsibility of the State
that has formulated it. Guideline 3.3.2, II.C Guide to Practice on Reservation to Treaties.

26 A third type of treaties are interdependent treaties: those where a material breach of the treaty’s provisions by one
party radically changes the position of every party with respect to the further performance of their obligations under
the treaty (VCLT Article 60(2)(c)). Examples of such treaties are disarmament treaties. This type of treaty is not
examined further here, as the ECE is obviously not an interdependent treaty.
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the operation of those not mentioned in that provision are unilaterally suspendable, and
thus subject to the same rule as treaties establishing bilateralisable obligations (VCLT Article
60(2)(b)). It is not clear whether this is the state of customary international law, but an
argument to this effect is logical. Thus the most that can be argued in relation to customary
international law and responses to material breaches of treaties is that it is not as yet clear
that integral treaties are non-suspendable and are to be treated differently from treaties
that establish bilateralisable obligations.

4. Traditionally, extradition as a subject matter is dealt with on the basis of reciprocity, and
it could be argued that the ECE is a treaty that creates dyads of bilateral obligations
concerning extradition between its parties. The ECE is not a treaty aimed at protecting
human persons. Rather, the object and purpose of the treaty found in its Preamble?’ is to
‘achieve a greater unity’ between the members of the Council of Europe ‘by the conclusion
of agreements and by common action in legal matters; considering that the acceptance of
uniform rules with regard to extradition is likely to assist this work of unification.” That is not
to say that individuals involved in extradition proceedings do not have human rights that are
relevant in the context of extradition;?® rather that the cause of engagement of the parties
to the ECE is not to protect individuals as such, but to establish uniform rules as between
states as to their cooperation in relation to extradition proceedings. In light of the treaty’s
object and purpose, the ECE establishes self-existent standards of uniform application, but
does not as such contain provisions of humanitarian character for the protection of human
persons. This protection is rather provided to individuals involved in extradition procedures
under the Convention for the Protection of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms
(‘ECHR’).2®

5. Thus, even assuming that the ECE is classified as an integral treaty, rather than as a treaty
that establishes dyads of bilateralisable relationships between its parties, in the current
state of customary international law, it is only in the event of a material breach by another
State party to the ECE that the UK would be entitled, if it is a specially affected State, to
suspend the ECE’s operation in whole or in part in its relationship with the defaulting

27 The International Court of Justice has identified the object and purpose in the treaty’s Preamble: Territorial Dispute
(Libyan Arab Jamabiriya/ Chad), Judgment, 3 February 1994, ICJ] Repotts 1994, p. 6, at para. 52; Dispute regarding
Navigational and Related Rights (Costa Rica v. Nicaragna), Judgment, 13 July 2009, ICJ Reports 2009, p. 21 at para. 79;
Questions relating to the Obligation to Prosecute or Exctradite (Belgium v. Senegal), Judgment, ICJ Reports 2012, p. 422 at para.
68; Whaling in the Antarctic (Australia v. Japan: New Zealand intervening), Merits, Judgment, 31 March 2014, para. 56. See
also method for identifying the object and purpose of the treaty proposed by the ILC: Guideline 3.1.5.1, Guide to
Practice on Reservations to Treaties, adopted by the ILC at its sixty-third session, in 2011, and submitted to the
General Assembly as a part of the Commission’s report covering the work of that session (A/66/10, [75]), ILCYB
2011-11.

2 For detailed analysis of human rights of individuals involved in extradition proceedings: D. Azaria, Code of
Minimum Standards of Protection to individuals involved in Transnational Proceedings, Expert Report, PC-T]
(2005) 07, Council of Europe, European Committee on Crime Problems (CDPC), Committee of Experts on
Transnational ~ Criminal ~ Justice =~ (PC-TJ),  Strasbourg, 16  September 2005,  available  at:
http://www.coe.int/t/dghl/standardsetting/pc-oc/PC-

T]%20 2005 %2007%20E.%20Azaria.%20Code%200f%20Minimum%?20standards.pdf. See also D. Azatia,
Minimum standards of protection to individuals involved in transnational proceedings, in Extradition — European
Standards (Council of Europe 2007), pp. 95-155.

2 Convention for the Protection of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms, (signed at Rome 4 November 1950,
entered into force on 3 September 1953) 213 UNTS 221 (as subsequently amended).

31


http://www.coe.int/t/dghl/standardsetting/pc-oc/PC-TJ%20_2005_%2007%20E.%20Azaria.%20Code%20of%20Minimum%20standards.pdf
http://www.coe.int/t/dghl/standardsetting/pc-oc/PC-TJ%20_2005_%2007%20E.%20Azaria.%20Code%20of%20Minimum%20standards.pdf

Danae Azaria — Written evidence (EXL0087)

state.3? The suspension of the treaty’s operation would release the parties between whom
the treaty’s operation is suspended from the obligation to perform the treaty in their
mutual relations during the period of the suspension, but does not otherwise affect the legal
relations between the parties established by the treaty.

6. Second, it is arguable — albeit not beyond doubt — that the UK may withhold performance
of its treaty obligations until such time as the other party performs under the exceptio
inadimpleti contractus (‘exceptio’). It has been argued that the exceptio exists outside the
VCLT and customary international law set forth therein concerning responses to material
breaches. Whether the exceptio exists is important because it applies also to immaterial
breaches of treaty obligations, and is not subject to the conditions concerning treaty law
responses to material treaty breaches or concerning countermeasures under the law of
international responsibility, discussed below.3! The exceptio would apply only to treaty
obligations that are synallagmatic, meaning treaty obligations whose performance is
conditioned upon performance of the same or a closely linked treaty obligation by another
treaty party.3? This would be a matter of interpretation of the primary treaty obligations in
question.?®> However, even assuming that the exceptio exists in this limited manner under
international law (custom or a general principle of law), the obligations in ECE do not appear
synallagmatic. This is consistent with the treaty’s object and purpose (see paragraph 3 in
this section).

7. Third, under the customary international law on state responsibility, an injured State may
resort to countermeasures in response to an internationally wrongful act pertaining to a
breach (material or not) of a treaty obligation, such as an obligation under the ECE. Such
response can take the form of suspending compliance with international obligations (under
the same treaty or another international obligation outside the treaty breached) owed by
the State taking the countermeasure to the responsible State. The wrongfulness of such
suspension would be precluded for as long as the internationally wrongful act persists.

8. Countermeasures differ from treaty law responses to material breaches. Under treaty law
responses to a material breach the treaty’s operation is suspended and the treaty does not
constitute an applicable legal standard between the relevant parties. In contrast, under
countermeasures the treaty obligations apply, but the wrongfulness of non-performance is
precluded for as long as the circumstances that preclude the wrongfulness subsist.

30 However, it could be argued that some provisions in the ECE are of humanitarian character and are thus not
subject to unilateral suspension in response to the ECE’s material breach. For instance, the principle of speciality
(ECE Article 14) or the principle of non bis in idemr (ECE Article 9). Even if such argument is unsustainable, a partial
suspension of the operation of an ECE provision could be permitted under custom, but could constitute at the
same time a violation of the ECHR. For instance, ECHR Article 5(1)(f), 5(2), 5(4)-(5).

31]. Crawford and S. Olleson, The Exception of Non-Performance: Links between the Law of Treaties and the Law
of State Responsibility, 21 AustYBIL (2001) 55-74; D. Azaria, The Exception of Non-Performance, in R. Wolfrum
(ed.), Max Planck Encyclopedia of Public International Law (Oxford University Press, 2014).

32 See the pleadings of the Hellenic Republic before the IC]J in relation to the exceptio: Counter-Memorial of Greece,
Application of the Interim Accord of 13 September 1995 (the former Y ngoslav Republic of Macedonia v. Greece), 19 January 2010,
paras. 8.7 and 8.26. See also Declaration of Judge Bennouna, Application of the Interint Accord of 13 September 1995 (the
Sormer Y ugostav Republic of Macedonia v. Greece), IC] Reports 2011, p. 709.

3 Text of the draft Articles on responsibility of States for internationally wrongful acts with commentaries thereto,
Report of the Commission to the General Assembly on the work of its fifty-third session, ILCYB 2001-11, 31-143 at
72, para. 9.

32



Danae Azaria — Written evidence (EXL0087)

9. However, countermeasures in order to be lawful have to fulfill a number of conditions
under customary international law. First, in principle they may only be taken by an injured
state (or international organization).3* Second, they must be targeted only against the
responsible state (or international organization). Third, the State taking countermeasures
must call upon the wrongdoing State to comply with its obligations of cessation and
reparation, notify it of the decision to take countermeasures, and offer to negotiate.3°
Fourth, countermeasures have to be temporary and reversible.3” Fifth, they have to be
proportionate to the injury suffered taking into account the gravity of the breach and the
rights in question.®® Sixth, countermeasures are not forcible and may not affect
‘fundamental human rights’ obligations, humanitarian character obligations prohibiting
reprisals, and jus cogens norms.3 Seventh, countermeasures may not be taken, if the
internationally wrongful act has ceased and the dispute is pending before a court or tribunal
which has the authority to make decisions binding on the parties including provisional
measures.*

34 Responsibilité de I’Allemagne a raison des dommages causés dans les colonies portugaises du sud de I"Afrique (sentence sur le principe
de la responsabilité). Portugal contre Allemagne. Lansanne, 30 Juin 1930, RIAA, vol. 11, pp. 1035-1077 (30 June 1930) at
1057; Gabcvkovo-Nagymaros Project (Hungary/ Slovakia), Judgment of 25 September 1997, IC] Reports 1997, p. 7, at
para. 83. Contra supporting that customary international law permits States (and international organisations) other
than the injured State to resort to countermeasures: L.-A. Sicilianos, Countermeasures in Response to Grave
Violations of Obligations owed to the International Community, in J. Crawford, A. Pellet, and S. Olleson (eds.), The
Law of International Responsibility, (Oxford University Press, 2010), 1137-1148 at 1148.

% Article 49(1), Text of the draft Articles on the responsibility of States for internationally wrongful acts, Report of
the Commission to the General Assembly on the work of its fifty-third session, ILCYB 2001-1II, 26-30.

36 Article 52(1), Text of the draft Articles on the responsibility of States for internationally wrongful acts, Report of
the Commission to the General Assembly on the work of its fifty-third session, ILCYB 2001-II, 26-30; Responsabilité
de I'"Allemagne a raison des dommages causés dans les colonies portugaises du sud de I'Afrigue (sentence sur le principe de la
responsabilité) (Portugal contre Allemagne), RIAA, vol. 11, pp. 1011-1033 (31 July 1928) at 1026; Gabcvkovo-Nagymaros
Project  (Hungary/ Slovakia), Judgment of 25 September 1997, IC] Reports 1997, p. 7, at para. 84. Urgent
countermeasures may be taken with a view to preserving the rights of the injured State: Article 52(2)), Text of the
draft Articles on the responsibility of States for internationally wrongful acts, Report of the Commission to the
General Assembly on the work of its fifty-third session, ILCYB 2001-II, 26-30. Judge Bennouna referred to the
obligation to notify and to offer to negotiate although he did not expressly suggest that he considered it to be of
customary nature: Declaration of Judge Bennouna, Application of the Interim Accord of 13 September 1995 (the former
Yugostav Republic of Macedonia v. Greece), IC] Reports 2011, at 710.

37 Articles 49(2)-(3) and 53, Text of the draft Articles on the responsibility of States for internationally wrongful acts,
Report of the Commission to the General Assembly on the work of its fifty-third session, ILCYB 2001-11, 26-30;
Text of the draft Articles on responsibility of States for internationally wrongful acts with commentaries thereto,
Report of the Commission to the General Assembly on the work of its fifty-third session, ILCYB 2001-1I, 31-143 at
130131, para. 7; Application of the Interim Accord of 13 September 1995 (the former Yugoslay Republic of Macedonia v. Greece),
Judgment, 5 December 2011, ICJ Reportts 2011, p. 644 at para. 164; Gabcvkovo-Nagymaros Project (Hungary/ Slovakia),
Judgment, 25 September 1997, ICJ Reports 1997, p. 7, at para. 87.

3 Article 51, Text of the draft Articles on the responsibility of States for internationally wrongful acts, Report of the
Commission to the General Assembly on the work of its fifty-third session, ILCYB 2001-11, 26-30; Responsabilité de
L Allemagne a raison des dommages causés dans les colonies portugaises du sud de I’ Afrique (sentence sur le principe de la responsabilité)
(Portugal contre Allemagne), RIAA, vol. 11, pp. 1011-1033 (31 July 1928) at 1011; Case concerning the Air Service Agreement
of 27 March 1946 between the United States of America and France, RIAA, Vol. XVIII, pp. 417-493 (9 December 1978) at
pata. 83; Gabcvkovo-Nagymaros Project (Hungary/ Slovakia), Judgment of 25 September 1997, IC] Repotts 1997, p. 7, at
para. 83. O.Y. Elagab, The Legality of Non-Forcible Counter-Measures in International Law (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1988)
pp. 83-95.

% Article 50, Text of the draft Articles on the responsibility of States for internationally wrongful acts, Report of the
Commission to the General Assembly on the work of its fifty-third session, ILCYB 2001-II, 26—30. For definition
of peremptory norms of international law and the law of treaties: VCLT Articles 53, 64, and 71.

40 Article 52(3), Text of the draft Articles on the responsibility of States for internationally wrongful acts, Report of
the Commission to the General Assembly on the work of its fifty-third session, ILCYB 2001-1I, 26-30; Case
concerning the Air Service Agreement of 27 March 1946 between the United States of America and France, RIAA, Vol. XVIII, pp.
417-493 (9 December 1978) at paras. 91 and 94-96.
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10. Finally, an argument could be made that owing to an implied term in the ECE or the
Fourth Protocol (as applicable) according to which the UK is not obliged not to require prima
facie evidence supporting the extradition request, if the requesting State exercises its rights
under the ECE or the Fourth Protocol (as applicable) in bad faith. This would be a matter of
interpreting the primary rules contained in the ECE or the Fourth Protocol (as applicable).
However, this argument is unsustainable. There is no evidence that such a term specifically
exists in the ECE (or the Fourth Protocol as applicable).

5 January 2015
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Evidence from US experts to the House of Lords Select Committee on the Extradition Law

1.

We are academics, researchers and legal experts who have studied the US system for
prosecuting terrorism-related crimes. Our academic and legal research on the US
system has appeared in peer-reviewed journals, books and congressional and legal
testimony.

We have become increasingly concerned in recent years at the human rights issues
raised by the extradition of persons from the UK to the US to face terrorism-related
charges. Moreover, we believe that the evidence already submitted to the
committee on the nature of the US system conveys an inaccurate picture of how
terrorism prosecutions in the US are conducted. In particular, we have deep
concerns about the pattern of rights abuses in these cases and the conditions of
imprisonment that terrorist suspects face in the US both before and after their trial
or sentencing hearing.

Given the significant proportion of US extradition requests that involve federal
terrorism-related charges and the particular concerns that exist in relation to these,
we believe that specific attention to this category of extradition is warranted. In our
submission, we have restricted our comments to terrorism-related cases and make
no claims about cases involving other kinds of charges, although we believe much of
our evidence would apply more widely.

We are familiar with a number of terrorism-related cases involving extradition
requests to the US from the UK since 9/11: Babar Ahmad, Syed Talha Ahsan, Haroon
Rashid Aswat, Adel Abdel Bari, Khaled Al-Fawwaz, Syed Fahad Hashmi, Mustafa
Kamal Mustafa (commonly known as Abu Hamza) and Lotfi Raissi.

Our report outlines the general and legal context of terrorism prosecutions within US
federal courts, including the material support ban and use of classified evidence. It
offers the most detail on the conditions of confinement that terrorism suspects face
pre-trial and post-conviction. These conditions violate European human rights
protections but are generally unknown in the UK.

General Context

6.

It has generally been recognized that, after 9/11, the US government violated the
rights of a number of British citizens and residents through its system of
extraordinary rendition and the imprisonment of “enemy combatants” at
Guantdnamo. However, Guantanamo is not an aberration; terrorism suspects held
within the US itself — including those extradited from the UK — face most of the same
human rights issues. There is a continuum between US military prisons abroad and
territorial US civilian prisons. Indeed, the ADX “supermax” prison in Florence,
Colorado, where extradited men convicted of terrorism-related crimes are often held
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(see Conditions of Post-Conviction Imprisonment below), provided the blueprint for
imprisonment at Guantdnamo. Inhumane practices such as force-feeding of hunger
strikers, prolonged and indefinite solitary confinement, sensory deprivation,
permanent electronic monitoring, systematic secrecy (including draconian
restrictions on legal counsel) and the absence of independent monitoring are
common to both military detention and US “supermax” prisons. Moreover, in
relation to terrorism cases (and indeed other kinds of cases), the legal process in the
US federal system is profoundly flawed for reasons we outline below. The
appearance of due process and the public assurances of the US government serve to
obscure these flaws and create the impression of an open, adversarial process, even
though the reality is substantially different.

7. The 2001 case of Lotfi Raissi illustrates the dangers posed by relaxing the
requirements that US prosecutors have to meet before an extradition from the UK
can take place. Raissi was arrested at gunpoint in his Berkshire home ten days after
the 9/11 attacks and accused of having given flight training to the 9/11 hijackers. An
extradition request from US prosecutors relating to minor irregularities in his pilot
licence was described as “holding charges” that would be added to as the
investigation proceeded. A couple of months after he was arrested, intelligence
sources told the Washington Post that “we put him in the category of maybe or
maybe not, leaning towards probably not. Our goal is to get him back here and talk
to him to find out more”. The motivation for the extradition appeared to be
investigative and speculative — an inappropriate use of the process. Raissi was held
for almost three more months at HM Prison Belmarsh even after this statement was
made. After it became apparent to the court that there was insufficient evidence
against him, he was released. The allegations against Raissi were false but, even so,
he lost his career as an airline pilot and suffered damage to his health. Had the 2003
US-UK extradition treaty been in place at the time of his arrest, the prima face
evidence test would not have prevented his extradition to the US, where he would
likely have been placed in pre-trial solitary confinement, with its attendant mental
health consequences (see Conditions of Pre-Trial Imprisonment below), and faced
overwhelming pressure to agree a plea deal, irrespective of the lack of evidence
against him.

8. Human Rights Watch and the Columbia Law School Human Rights Institute have
produced the only major human rights analysis of terrorism-related cases
prosecuted in US federal courts. Based on twenty-seven cases, their study, published
in July 2014, found significant patterns of rights concerns: the US’s “overly broad”
legislation on the “material support” of terrorism is used to punish behaviour that
does not involve intent to support terrorism; the right to fair trial is in danger of
being violated by reliance on secret evidence or it is foregone as a result of
draconian sentences that pressure most defendants to plead guilty; and prolonged
solitary confinement and severe restrictions on communicating in pre-trial detention
are commonly applied (p4).

Jurisdiction
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9.

10.

The current ease of extradition to the US to face material support terrorism charges
(see US Federal Terrorism Prosecutions below) gives rise to the possibility that British
citizens living in the UK and engaged in lawful activities under UK law can
nevertheless be transferred to the US for prosecution. For this to become a
possibility, all that is needed is a tenuous connection to the US, such as the use of a
web server hosted in the US. This effectively means that the US’s more punitive
terrorism legislation, especially the material support statute, can assume quasi-
jurisdiction over the UK and begin to override the provisions of Britain’s own legal
framework. This raises particular concerns over sovereignty in light of a recent news
report that the FBI is conducting investigations within the UK into potential
homegrown terrorism.

The dangers of granting extra-territorial jurisdiction of the US’s more punitive system
to the UK is illustrated in the case of Babar Ahmad and Syed Talha Ahsan, two
British citizens from south London, who were extradited to the US in 2012 to face
accusations of running an al Qaeda support operation. For both, it was their first
time on US soil. The material support charges against them related to a website,
Azzam.com; among the many servers used by the site was one hosted in Connecticut
from 1999 to 2001. This was the only substantial connection to the US. The website
itself covered events in Bosnia, Chechnya and Afghanistan. The Crown Prosecution
Service stated on multiple occasions that there was insufficient evidence to charge
the pair with any criminal offence under UK law. Upon their arrival in the US, the
men were held for two years in solitary confinement at the Northern Correctional
Institution, a Connecticut state facility that houses death row prisoners. Babar
Ahmad described the fearsome conditions, including the “five pairs of socks and an
empty shampoo bottle” that he had to carefully affix every night around his cell door
and vent to block out the noise of screaming inmates. Under these conditions and
facing potential life sentences, in December 2013, Ahmad and Ahsan each agreed to
a US government plea bargain. The deal meant Ahmad faced a maximum sentence of
twenty-five years and Ahsan fifteen.

However, at the sentencing hearing, Judge Janet C. Hall found the US government’s
case to be flawed in significant respects and stated that the pair were neither
supporters of al Qaeda nor engaged in “operational planning or operations that
could fall under the term ‘terrorism’.” She sentenced Ahmad to 150 months and
deducted the time he had already served detained in Britain during the extradition
process; he will be released in July 2015. Ahsan was sentenced to time served and
transferred to the custody of immigration officers to be returned to the UK and
released. In this case, a federal judge took the unprecedented step of rejecting much
of the government’s case, noting that what she was doing might cause “someone in
New York to be unhappy with me”. However, as the alleged activities had no
substantial connection to the US, the extradition of Ahmad and Ahsan from Britain
should never have proceeded. As we describe below (see Conditions of Pre-Trial
Imprisonment), once the two defendants had been transferred to the US and placed
in solitary confinement, it was likely difficult for them to resist the considerable
pressure to accept a plea deal, irrespective of whether they were innocent of most
of the US government’s allegations.

37


http://www.express.co.uk/news/uk/502667/FBI-agents-guard-UK-airports-against-jihadi-fanatics
http://www.express.co.uk/news/uk/502667/FBI-agents-guard-UK-airports-against-jihadi-fanatics

Baher Azmy, Sally Eberhardt, Pardiss Kebriaei, Arun Kundnani, William P. Quigley, Laura
Rovner, Saskia Sassen, Jeanne Theoharis — Written evidence (EXL0049)

US Federal Terrorism Prosecutions

11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

Acquittal is extremely rare in US federal terrorism prosecutions. An August 2011
investigation through the Investigative Reporting Program at the University of
California-Berkeley of the prosecution of 508 defendants in US terrorism cases found
that 333 had pled guilty, 110 were found guilty at trial and 65 were still awaiting
trial. Once terrorism defendants have been indicted, a conviction is almost certain.

Very low acquittal rates are normally regarded (for example, in US State Department
country reports) as evidence of a flawed justice system. Defenders of the US
terrorism prosecution system argue that the absence of acquittals reflects decision-
making by prosecutors to only proceed where there is overwhelming evidence
against a defendant. Yet it is apparent from examining actual cases, including the
ones described here involving extraditions from the UK, that this is not the case.

Moreover, it is important to note that the majority of cases end in plea deals rather
than trials. It has been estimated that, between 9/11 and August 2011, three
quarters of the terrorism-related cases that had reached a verdict had ended in a
plea deal rather than a trial. Indeed, almost all federal cases in the US criminal
justice system end in plea deals. The decision-making of defendants that leads to
such a situation is discussed below (see, especially, Conditions of Pre-Trial
Imprisonment). Legal watchdog groups in the US, such as the Brennan Center for
Justice at the New York University School of Law and the Center for Constitutional
Rights, have issued public statements warning of this.

Under the federal sentencing system, sentences are not limited to the conduct for
which an individual is actually convicted but are based on a judge’s determination of
a defendant’s “actual conduct”. As a result, an individual’s sentence can be
lengthened dramatically based on allegations of conduct that a jury had not
assessed. Even if a jury acquits on all but one charge, a federal judge can still issue
the sentence that would have applied if the jury had found the defendant guilty on
all counts. In addition, the sentencing guidelines use a complicated points system
that leads to severely lengthened sentences for allegations of terrorism. This creates
an all-or-nothing situation for the defendant, who has to be acquitted of all charges
in a terrorism case to avoid the possibility of a sentence of twenty-five years to life.
For prosecutors, a perverse incentive structure results in terrorism cases: it makes
sense for them to bring multiple charges, often for the same action, and then secure
lengthy sentences by making inflammatory allegations at the sentencing stage, even
if a jury has acquitted the defendant of most of the charges. It also affects the
decision-making of defendants considering a plea deal because they have to be
confident of a jury acquitting them of all charges in order to think that going to trial
would minimise their time in prison.

The majority of US terrorism prosecutions involve the material support statute. The
statute was instituted in 1996 and thus allows for the criminalisation of conduct
prior to 9/11. The statute bans the knowing provision of “any service, training, [or]
expert advice or assistance” to a group designated by the federal government as a
foreign terrorist organization or to an organization engaging in “terrorist activity”. It
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16.

17.

18.

has been called the “black box” of federal terrorism prosecutions because of its
capacity to criminalise a wide range of conduct, ranging from weapons training to
the translation of public texts — what the Department of Justice (DOJ) describes as
“strategic over-inclusiveness”. To win a conviction, there is no need to show
evidence of a plot or even a desire to help terrorists. Material support charges often
target small acts and religious and political associations, which take on sinister
meaning as ostensible manifestations of forthcoming terrorism. Moreover, each
count of material support brought against a defendant carries a sentence of up to 15
years.

Human Rights Watch and the Columbia Law School Human Rights Institute state that
the expansiveness of the material support statute “has led federal prosecutors to
levy criminal charges for religious or political conduct itself, or as the primary
evidence of criminal activity.” (p62) In other words, the material support statute may
be resulting in the criminalisation of legitimate religious and political activism as
distinct from any terrorist conduct.

The Classified Information Procedures Act was passed in 1980 to enable and protect
the use of classified evidence in court. (The intention of the Act was to prevent
“greymailing” by former US intelligence officers being prosecuted for espionage who
threatened to expose state secrets in court.) Despite its original intentions, since
9/11, it is regularly used in terrorism prosecutions to classify parts of the
prosecution’s evidence and prevent people being charged with terrorism from
seeing portions of the evidence against them.

The first person extradited under the US-UK 2003 law for terrorism-related charges
was Syed Fahad Hashmi. Hashmi was extradited from Britain in May 2007 to face
charges of material support of al Qaeda. But prosecutors did not need to show that
he was a member of al Qaeda, that he had any direct contact to al Qaeda, or that he
was involved in any act by al Qaeda. The charges against Fahad Hashmi were instead
based on the allegation that he allowed an acquaintance to use his mobile phone
and to stay with him at his flat in London. According to the indictment, the
acquaintance had in his luggage waterproof socks and rain ponchos (described by
the government as “military gear”) and later delivered these to al Qaeda in Pakistan.
For this, Hashmi faced four counts of material support and conspiracy, which carried
a total possible sentence of seventy years. The Center for Constitutional Rights has
noted that the case against Fahad Hashmi “raises many red flags related to the
violation of his rights” and “prosecutorial overreach under the material support
statute”.

Conditions of Pre-Trial Imprisonment

19.

Those extradited to the US in terrorism cases are likely to be prosecuted in federal
court in the Southern District of New York. Defendants facing charges there are held
in the Metropolitan Correctional Center (MCC) in lower Manhattan. Terrorism
defendants are often held in the highly restrictive “10 South” wing of the MCC or in a
“Special Housing Unit” where detainees are also held in solitary confinement.
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20.

21.

22.

23.

Based on information received from some detainees and their lawyers, suspects in
10 South spend twenty-three hours a day confined to their cells. Detainees shower
inside their cells, so that they are alone almost all of the time. They are allowed one
hour of recreation outside of their cells, which takes place in an indoor solitary
recreation cage. Recreation is periodically denied: detainees can pass days without
leaving their cells. No outdoor recreation is allowed for detainees in 10 South and
cell windows are frosted. The only fresh air enters through a window in the indoor
recreation cage. The conditions at the MCC are dirty and decrepit; detainees and
lawyers report that the temperature is not sufficiently regulated and varies between
extreme cold and severe heat.

There is electronic surveillance inside and outside of the cells — every action,
including using the toilet, showering and talking, is monitored. Detainees are strip-
searched each time they go to court. These regular searches can be traumatising and
degrading. To avoid these strip searches, defendants in some cases have requested
not to attend their own court hearings.

Solitary confinement has serious mental health consequences, as documented by
virtually every mental health study that has examined its effects. Dr. Craig Haney, a
psychologist at the University of California-Santa Cruz, has studied the effects of
solitary confinement for decades. He has conducted his own empirical research as
well as an exhaustive review of the existing research — which demonstrate
deleterious effects are clear after sixty days. His summary of the types of
psychological harms suffered by prisoners held in long-term solitary confinement
includes “appetite and sleep disturbances, anxiety, panic, rage, loss of control,
paranoia, hallucinations, and self- mutilations” as well as “cognitive dysfunction, ...
hopelessness, a sense of impending emotional breakdown, self-mutilation, and
suicidal ideation and behavior”.** Haney writes that “many of the negative effects of
solitary confinement are analogous to the acute reactions suffered by torture and
trauma victims”. He concludes: “There is not a single published study of solitary or
supermax-like confinement ... that failed to result in negative psychological
effects.”#2 Stuart Grassian, a former faculty member at Harvard Medical School, has
also carried out extensive research with prisoners in solitary confinement. He has
documented a specific psychiatric condition brought on by solitary confinement,
even among people with no previous psychiatric issues. This includes hyper-
responsivity to external stimuli, illusions and hallucinations, panic attacks, difficulty
concentrating, intrusive obsessional and aggressive thoughts, paranoia and problems
with impulse control.*3

On top of solitary confinement, some terrorism suspects face added isolation
through the imposition of Special Administrative Measures (SAMs). SAMs are
prisoner-specific confinement and communication rules, imposed by the Attorney
General but carried out by the Bureau of Prisons (BOP). The Attorney General may
authorise the Director of the BOP to implement SAMs only upon written notification

41 Expert Report of Dr. Craig Haney, Silverstein v. Bureau of Prisons, 07-cv-247-PAB-KMT (Apr. 13, 2009).
42 Craig Haney, “Mental Health Issues in Long-Term Solitary and ‘Supermax’ Confinement”, Crime & Delinquency 49 (1),

2003.

43 Stuart Grassian, “Psychiatric Effects of Solitary Confinement”, Journal of Law & Policy (22, 2006).
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“that there is a substantial risk that a prisoner’s communications or contacts with
persons could result in death or serious bodily injury to persons, or substantial
damage to property that would entail the risk of death or serious bodily injury to
persons”. The SAMs “may include housing the inmate in administrative detention
and/or limiting certain privileges, including but not limited to correspondence,
visiting, interviews with representatives of the news media, and use of the
telephone, as is reasonably necessary to protect persons against the risk of acts of
violence or terrorism”. The Attorney General does not have to publicly declare his
reasons for the introduction of SAMs. The government can impose SAMs for a year
and renew annually without limit. SAMs layered on top of solitary confinement
produce further isolation by circumscribing communication with the outside world.

24. Under SAMs, typically only the lawyer and immediate family (if cleared) can have
contact with a detainee — no other letters, visits, calls or talking through walls are
permitted. SAMs spell out in intricate detail the nature of the isolation to be
imposed, down to how many pages of paper can be used in a letter or what part of
the newspaper is allowed to be read and after what sort of delay. Human Rights
Watch and the Columbia Law School Human Rights Institute have found that at least
twenty prisoners under SAMs were barred from “making statements audible to
other prisoners or sending notes” (p144).

25. The application of solitary confinement and SAMs is typically instituted at the
beginning of pre-trial detention and appear to be related to the mere fact of the
terrorism charges and not necessarily to behaviour in custody or a specifically
demonstrated risk that communications from prison would cause violence. This is
particularly pernicious: in the pre-trial period, a presumption of innocence ought to
be in place. Solitary confinement generally lasts for the entire pre-trial period.

26. Human Rights Watch and the Columbia Law School Human Rights Institute have
documented twenty-two cases of pre-trial solitary confinement in terrorism cases,
for an average length of 22 months (p200). Mohammed Warsame, a defendant on
federal terrorism charges, was held in pre-trial solitary confinement in a 100 square
foot cell for five and a half years. The SAMs he was subjected to gave the
government the ability to control who visited him, what he read and whom he talked
to. His only allowed interaction with his wife and daughter was via closed circuit
television.

27. Terrorism suspects in 10 South at the MCC who are subject to SAMs have been
punished for speaking through the walls. One man was given a four-month
punishment for saying “Asalaam Aleikum” to another detainee. Another was
reprimanded for making the call to prayer. Detainees report going months without
any talking with other inmates. In response to these harsh conditions, there have
been hunger strikes at the MCC as well as force feeding (which is not permitted in UK
prisons) but these have attracted little public attention because disclosure of
information on the situation inside the MCC is itself prohibited by the SAMs.

28. Defence lawyers must agree in writing to comply with SAMs. They are then
prevented from discussing certain subjects with their client (even including some of
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the evidence against him), with his family or with third parties including the media.
In this way, the application of SAMs prior to trial distorts the adversarial balance in
the courts because the government is able to control the flow of information at the
expense of the defence. It has the effect generally of chilling zealous representation
by the defence. Family members also have to agree to comply with SAMs and are
then unable to share with others the content of conversations they have had with
the defendant.

29. The use of prolonged solitary confinement and SAMs during pre-trial detention
raises substantial due process concerns. Such conditions, and the mental health
issues they give rise to, compromise the ability of defendants to participate actively
and effectively in their own defence, creating a landscape in which convictions are
much easier to secure. Moreover, they undermine the presumption of innocence, as
pre-trial solitary and SAMs — extreme conditions that are punitive in their effect — are
imposed on defendants whose charges have not been proven.

30. The use of prolonged pre-trial isolation and SAMs can exert extraordinary pressure
on a defendant to cooperate or take a plea bargain to escape these conditions,
impairing judgment and undermining the voluntariness that is supposed to underpin
plea deals and the legitimacy of the resulting convictions. Indeed, it appears that
solitary confinement may be applied as a way to pressure defendants to accept a
plea, rather than because of genuine security concerns. Often, the restrictions on a
defendant are relaxed after conviction or after a plea deal is accepted. In theory, a
conviction ought to increase the perceived likelihood that the prisoner represents a
security risk; the government’s decision to relax restrictions after a conviction is
consistent with the assumption that solitary confinement is being used as leverage
by the government in the pre-trial period. Given the harm that solitary confinement
inflicts on mental health, defendants have a strong incentive to preserve their
sanity by accepting a plea deal that will relax the conditions of their imprisonment,
irrespective of the merits of their case.

31. The Brennan Center for Justice at New York University School of Law notes

pretrial detention may, whether intentionally or inadvertently, have the
practical effect of pressuring [a defendant] into accepting a plea-bargain to
which he otherwise might not agree. SAMs are intended to address
particularized safety-related concerns. It is highly inappropriate for SAMs to
become, either intentionally or collaterally, a bargaining chip in plea
negotiations because they provide the government with leverage unrelated
to the scope of criminal liability that might be imposed at trial. Further, the
SAMs may have the additional consequence of creating an incentive to plead
guilty so as to secure a post-conviction imprisonment regime that does not
include SAMs.

32. Fahad Hashmi was held in solitary confinement for over six years, three years at the
MCC and over three years post-conviction at ADX, during which time he did not
touch another human being or set foot on anything other than concrete. Juan E.
Méndez, the UN Special Rapporteur on Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or
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33.

Degrading Treatment or Punishment, has issued a public statement about the
conditions of confinement of Fahad Hashmi at the MCC

| found no justification for the fact that he was kept in solitary confinement
during his prolonged pre-trial detention (in the US although not in the UK
during his pre-extradition detention), and that he was later placed under
“special administrative measures” amounting to solitary confinement under
another name, after a conviction based on a negotiated plea. The explanation
| was given made no mention of Mr. Hashmi’s behavior in custody as a reason
for any disciplinary sanction; it appears that his harsh conditions of detention
are related exclusively to the seriousness of the charges he faced. If that is so,
then solitary confinement with its oppressive consequences on the psyche of
the detainee is no more than a punitive measure that is unworthy of the
United States as a civilized democracy.
Amnesty International has noted that during pre-trial detention at the MCC “the
combined effects of prolonged confinement to sparse cells with little natural light,
no outdoor exercise and extreme social isolation amount to cruel, inhuman or
degrading treatment.”

Conditions of Post-Conviction Imprisonment

34.

35.

36.

Following conviction, the US Bureau of Prisons (BOP) says it places the “most
dangerous” convicted terrorists at the Administrative Maximum Facility (ADX) in
Florence, Colorado, the most restrictive prison in the US federal system. ADX houses
approximately 400 prisoners, all of whom are held in solitary confinement.

In the “general population” unit of ADX, prisoners are in solitary confinement for
twenty-two hours a day, five days a week and twenty-four hours a day for the other
two days, in cells that measure 87 square feet. Each cell contains a poured concrete
bed and desk as well as a steel sink, toilet and shower; a small window gives a view
of the cement yard. ADX prisoners eat all meals alone inside their cells, within arm’s
length of their toilet. Prisoners at ADX cannot see any nature — not the surrounding
mountains or even a patch of grass. In a special unit known as “H Unit”, prisoners
under SAMs are held with additional isolation and restrictions.

The only time prisoners are regularly allowed outside of their cells is for limited
recreation, which occurs either in an indoor cell that is empty except for a pull-up
bar, or in an outdoor solitary cage. The outside recreation cages are only slightly
larger in size than the inside cells and are known as “dog runs” because they
resemble animal kennels. The warden can cancel recreation for any reason he deems
appropriate, including weather, shake-downs or lack of staff. Accordingly, ADX
prisoners sometimes pass days without ever leaving their cells. Contact with others
is rare. The prison was specifically designed to limit all communication among those
it houses. The cells have thick concrete walls and two doors, one with bars and a
second made of solid steel. The only “contact” ADX prisoners have with other
inmates in the “general population” unit is attempted shouting through the thick cell
walls, doors, toilets and vents. All visits are non-contact, meaning the prisoner and
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37.

38.

39.

visitor are separated by a glass barrier. Prisoners at ADX under SAMs are held in a
Special Security Unit in cells that measure 75.5 square feet.

According to the BOP’s own policies, prisoners with serious mental illnesses should
not be assigned to ADX. In practice, the BOP regularly assigns prisoners with serious
mental illnesses to ADX. The BOP also fails to monitor ADX prisoners for mental
health problems that arise after they arrive at the facility and fails to provide
mentally ill prisoners at ADX with adequate mental health care. Mental health checks
are often conducted by talking through the prison door. Because of their untreated
or poorly treated mental iliness, some prisoners at ADX mutilate themselves with
razors, shards of glass, sharpened chicken bones, writing utensils or other objects.
Many engage in prolonged episodes of screaming and ranting. Others converse
aloud with the voices they hear in their heads. Still others spread faeces and other
waste throughout their cells. Suicide attempts are common; some have been
successful. There is no independent medical oversight at ADX and motions to allow
evaluations by independent medical experts have generally been denied. The US
government is currently defending a lawsuit asserting that many ADX prisoners are
severely mentally ill and are held in extended confinement in isolating conditions
that exacerbate their mental illness.

Human Rights Watch has noted prisoners at ADX can be subjected to “years of
confinement in conditions of extreme social isolation, reduced sensory stimulation,
and rigorous security control”. It has expressed concerns about the mental health
degradation that results from such conditions and about reports of force feeding of
inmates on hunger strikes. The inhumane conditions at MCC and ADX have also been
criticized by Amnesty International. Erika Guevara-Rosas, Amnesty International’s
Americas Director has stated: “You cannot overestimate the devastating impact long
periods of solitary confinement can have on the mental and physical well-being of a
prisoner. Such harsh treatment is happening as a daily practice in the US, and it is in
breach of international law.”

In 2011, Juan E. Méndez, the United Nations Special Rapporteur on Torture and
Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment, called on all countries
to ban the solitary confinement of prisoners except in very exceptional
circumstances and for as short a time as possible, with an absolute prohibition for
people with mental disabilities.

Legal Remedies and Oversight

40.

By placing such extreme restrictions on the flow of information, SAMs construct a
wall of secrecy around the conditions of imprisonment and the potential human
rights issues they give rise to. This severely restricts the possibility for legal remedies
to the abuses faced by terrorism defendants. For example, when Fahad Hashmi was
under SAMs during his pre-trial detention at the MCC and for a year after his
conviction at ADX, no member of the public except for his attorneys and three family
members — not a reporter, researcher, or United Nation expert — was able to
communicate with him in any form, even by sending a letter. The few people
allowed to communicate with him were also forbidden, under threat of criminal
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sanction, from speaking to the public about anything he told them. Testimony from
prisoners on their treatment is thus almost completely restricted.

41. Arguably, prisoners held under SAMs are more restricted in their ability to
communicate with the outside world than those at Guantanamo, where information
received by lawyers from detainees is deemed presumptively classified but
potentially releasable. By contrast, lawyers representing prisoners under SAMs are
often unable to make public important details about conditions. In a legal challenge
to the MCC's strip-searching policy, for example, a psychiatrist’s report found that
strip-searching triggered PTSD in one of the defendants and left him unable to assist
in his defence. The psychiatrist’s notes, however, could not be made public due to
the restrictions imposed by SAMs.

42. Amnesty International and journalists have requested to visit the MCC and ADX to
interview detainees. These requests have all been denied, resulting in a lack of
publicly available information about the nature of these conditions and their impact
on detainees’ health and rights.

43. Juan E. Méndez, the United Nations Special Rapporteur on Torture and Other Cruel,
Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment, has made repeated requests to
visit ADX and the MCC — to no avail. He has also raised with the US government the
case of Ahmed Abu Ali who has been held under SAMs for nine years and is currently
at ADX: “Due to the lack of information provided by the Government regarding
allegations of torture and ill-treatment of Mr. Ali, the Special Rapporteur finds that
the Government has violated the rights of Mr. Ali under international law regarding
torture and cruel, inhuman or degrading treatment.”

44. The possibility of legal remedies for the human rights abuses in the federal
terrorism prosecution and imprisonment system is significantly weakened by a
general culture of deference to the US government in national security cases.
Courts are easily intimidated by government claims of national security risks that
would supposedly result were a court to rule against the government. This often
impedes proper scrutiny of prosecutions and the possibility of legal remedies for
rights violations in prisons. Even if pro bono legal representation is obtained for
inmates, the DOJ can still refuse to give counsel the necessary security clearance — as
happened to the Civil Rights Clinic at the University of Denver when it attempted to
represent some inmates at ADX.

45. Human Rights Watch and the Columbia Law School Human Rights Institute state
that, in general, there are a number of “serious fair trial concerns” in relation to
terrorism prosecutions, including prolonged solitary confinement prior to a trial, the
use of anonymous witness evidence (making it difficult for the defence to challenge
its reliability), the use of evidence tainted by its being obtained coercively, and the
use of classified evidence (which places limits on communication between the
defence attorney and the defendant) (p76).

Assurances
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46.

47.

48.

In terrorism-related extradition cases, the US government often issues assurances
that the defendant would not face the death penalty and would be prosecuted
before a federal court and not a military commission. In some cases, more specific
assurances are issued.

In April 2013, the European Court of Human Rights ruled that the extradition of
Haroon Aswat, who has been diagnosed with paranoid schizophrenia, would violate
Article 3 of the Convention (inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment) and
stayed his extradition to the US. The Court found “there is a real risk that the
applicant’s extradition to a different country and to a different and potentially more
hostile, prison environment would result in a significant deterioration in his mental
and physical health.” The US Department of Justice then issued an assurance that, if
Haroon Aswat were held pre-trial at MCC, he would have access to mental health
services. With this assurance, the British high court then gave the go ahead for
Haroon Aswat to be extradited, despite admitting that “there are still detailed gaps
about the precise circumstances in which the claimant would be detained in MCC”,
including whether he would be housed in a single cell, if so, for how long in every 24
hours and what opportunities there would be for contact with others. In effect, the
decision meant Haroon Aswat could be subjected to the mental health deterioration
that will most likely result from solitary confinement and possibly SAMs at MCC, so
long as he enjoys occasional access to a psychiatrist.

Haroon Aswat’s case points to the underlying weakness of assurances as a remedy
for concerns about the treatment of terrorism suspects in US prisons. No mechanism
is available for verifying the claims made in the assurances. Even accepting the
validity of the assurances at face value, they offer inadequate remedies for the
inhumane conditions within ADX and MCC. Unfortunately, the British and European
courts have not fully recognised the severity of those conditions, the secrecy that
surrounds them or the threats to mental health they present.

Concerns Regarding the ECHR Decision in Babar Ahmad & Others v. the UK

49.

50.

In April 2012, the European Court of Human Rights issued a judgement rejecting the
claims of Babar Ahmad and others that prison conditions at ADX Florence were
incompatible with Article 3 of the Convention and that therefore their extradition to
the US should not proceed. During the proceedings, the US Department of Justice
submitted a series of declarations about the conditions at ADX. Based on these
declarations, the Court found that extradition to the US could proceed without risk
of an Article 3 violation.

However, there were flaws with the process by which the Court reached its findings.

a. The Court only considered post-conviction conditions of imprisonment, not
pre-trial, where there are serious Article 3 issues, as described above.

b. The US Department of Justice provided misleading data on the length of time
that terrorism convicts are held in solitary confinement at ADX. The Court’s
decision rested substantially on this question because it held that a prisoner
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d.

e.

who was “at real risk of being detained indefinitely at ADX” in solitary
confinement would face conditions that potentially reached the minimum
level of severity required for a violation of Article 3. The DOJ described the
data it submitted as “a random sample of thirty inmates”. On the basis of
that sample, the government claimed, an inmate was likely to spend 3 years
at ADX before being admitted to a different institution. However, a sample of
30 from a prison that holds over 400 is not statistically significant.
Additionally, none of those selected in the sample of 30 were from the SAMs
“H Unit” at ADX. A more statistically significant sample of 110 ADX prisoners,
drawn from legal research conducted in 2010 and 2011, found an average of
8.2 years in solitary confinement.

Other US government claims are also called into question by this legal
research. For example:

i. The government claimed there is significant communication between
staff and prisoners at ADX. But such “interacting” only takes place
through the solid steel door and/or the bars of the prisoner’s cell.

ii. The government claims that ADX prisoners are able to “talk in
moderate tones to other inmates”. But evidence shows that prisoners
must shout to communicate with each other between cells or put
their faces in air vents and toilets in order to speak or hear one
another

iii. The government claims that “seriously mentally ill prisoners are not
housed at ADX”. Yet the BOP itself acknowledges that “a diagnosis of
bipolar affective disorder, depression, schizophrenia, or post-
traumatic stress disorder would not preclude a designation to the
ADX”.

Juan E. Méndez, the UN Special Rapporteur on Torture and Other Cruel,
Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment, issued a statement to the
ECHR as part of the case: “I think there [are] very good arguments that
solitary confinement and SAMs would constitute torture and prevent the UK
from extraditing these men.”

Twenty-five US-based human rights groups and 150 academics signed a letter
of concern to the ECHR in 2012 expressing concerns that the US government

had given the Court “insufficient and misleading” information on “the nature

and duration of conditions” at ADX.

Because the US government delayed its submission until right before the
deadline, when the rebuttal evidence described above was submitted, it was
disallowed by the Court and not considered, on the grounds that the deadline
had passed.
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Evidence Session No. 1 Heard in Public Questions 1 —23

TUESDAY 8 JULY 2014
10.40 am

Witnesses: Rt Hon Sir Scott Baker and Anand Doobay

Members present

Lord Inglewood (Chairman)
Lord Brown of Eaton-under-Heywood
Baroness Hamwee

Lord Hart of Chilton

Lord Henley

Lord Hussain

Baroness Jay of Paddington
Lord Jones

Lord Mackay of Drumadoon
Lord Rowlands

Baroness Wilcox

Examination of Witnesses

Sir Scott Baker, lead author of A Review of the United Kingdom’s Extradition Arrangements,
and Anand Doobay, Consultant, Business Crime, Peters & Peters, panellist on A Review of
the United Kingdom’s Extradition Arrangements

Q1 The Chairman: Can | extend a warm welcome to the two of you, Sir Scott Baker and
Anand Doobay? We are extremely grateful to you for coming to talk to us this morning. We
have been fully briefed on your distinguished backgrounds and credentials to help us, not
least because you are two of the three joint authors of A Review of the United Kingdom’s
Extradition Arrangements. Quite a lot of the questioning we shall be giving you will be based
on that particular document, which, certainly speaking as an individual, | found very helpful

in trying to work out the intricacies of the topic we are looking into.
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Before proceeding, it is necessary under the rules of the House of Lords that, before our first
oral session, anybody who has any relevant interests should declare them in public. | am
told that nobody has declared any relevant interests as far as the rules are concerned, so
there is nothing more for anyone to say.

Lord Brown of Eaton-under-Heywood: | have already declared, perhaps not as a relevant
interest, that | happen to have known one of the witnesses.

Lord Mackay of Drumadoon: | should also declare | have a recollection of playing one of the
witnesses at golf many years ago.

The Chairman: What | would like to do is say to you both that, as far as answering the
guestioning is concerned, please one or both of you respond as you see fit. Before we get
into the formal session of questions and answers, if there is anything either or both of you
want to say as an opening statement, we would be very pleased to hear from you.

Sir Scott Baker: The only thing that | would say is that we reported nearly three years ago
and | have not kept greatly in touch with what has been going on for the last three years—
although obviously | read the newspapers and have a reasonable idea. Anand Doobay,
however, is at the coalface and he knows virtually everything about what has been going on.
Therefore, if issues arise on that front, | would suggest that he is better qualified to answer
than I am.

Q2 The Chairman: That is a very modest way of opening the batting. Unless you want to
say anything else, can | move into the first part of the session? Obviously, as you have just
said, your review was produced three years ago. On the basis of what you know about the
way the world has moved on, would you continue to argue the same general line as in your
review? Against that background, are there any particular recommendations you would like
the Government to have taken up or taken up more strongly than they did?

Sir Scott Baker: Absolutely, | certainly would stand by everything we said in the report. |
cannot see that anything has changed in the last three years that would make me
recommend anything differently. As far as the recommendations that the Government
might have taken forward go, there are two in particular that | am disappointed have not
gone further. The first is the review of category 2 destinations. The Government are
committed to conducting a review but, three years later, as far as | am aware, they have not
actually done so. We set out our reasoning at paragraph 8.93 to 8.96* in our report and
nothing has changed since then.

The second area that | am disappointed about is that non-means tested legal aid has not
come in for extradition cases in the magistrates’ court. We were firmly of the view that
there would be an overall saving when one looked at how long cases were taking when they
were being adjourned, people were being held in custody and so forth.

The Lord Chancellor’s department was asked to look into this, promised to do so and
eventually did so, but at a very late stage in our deliberations. The Government’s view is
that the business case is not made out. We can see why it is not very attractive to have
automatic legal aid, but we certainly thought then, and I still think, that it would, overall,
create a saving, as well as facilitate the administration of justice. We deal with that at
paragraph 11.85 of the report, with the suggested possible alternative at paragraph 11.86.
Those are, as it were, my views on these points; | do not know what Anand’s are.

Anand Doobay: | would certainly agree with Sir Scott’s issue: that more could be done on
legal aid. The one nuance | would add in terms of what has changed in the last three years is
what has been happening at an EU level. When we wrote the report, we were reasonably

44 Paragraphs 8.93 to 8.96 of the Review of the UK’s Extradition Arrangement
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optimistic about the developments that might take place at the EU level to deal with what
were commonly acknowledged to be issues that were significant: for example, the length
and conditions of pre-trial detention, the issue of proportionality and the use of European
Arrest Warrants when it was inappropriate for them to be used.

We were entitled to be optimistic at that time, because there was a recent change in the
handbook to encourage Member States to carry out a proportionality check. The
Commission was talking about taking action in terms of detention conditions. However, that
optimism has not proved to be well placed, and there is certainly still a lot that needs to be
done about those and other issues. You can see that from the European Parliament’s
resolution and report earlier this year, where they again call for the Commission to take
action on these and other issues to reform the European Arrest Warrant to deal with some
of the systemic problems that exist.

| do not resile from what we said at the time, but | do feel that, three years on, some of
these issues have not been solved at a European level. Therefore, perhaps, if we were
carrying out the review now, we might need to look at taking action on a domestic level.
That is what the Government has been trying to do in the recent amendments they have put
forward to the Extradition Act.

The Chairman: That is a very helpful starting point. We are going to touch on some of these
points later in the session. On one small point as to the question of reviewing the category 2
countries, | gather the Government have said that they will do it, but have not told us either
when or how; is that right?

Sir Scott Baker: That is precisely the position as we understand it.

The Chairman: As far as legal aid is concerned, | know Lady Jay wanted to talk about it.
She might want to come in now.

Q3 Baroness Jay of Paddington: | am interested that you raised that as one of your points,
because, of course, it comes very late in your report. However, you say—I think | quote
correctly—the solution to this very serious problem is “essential”. Therefore, you must be
disappointed. | am interested that you quoted the Government as saying the business case
had not been made out, because that does seem to be an argument using the suggestion
that efficiency, rather than justice, is paramount. | wondered if you could comment further.
Sir Scott Baker: | am afraid that efficiency and cost saving is always a strong argument
against taking steps that may save costs elsewhere. | have not seen any real analysis on why
they say the business case is not made out. | do not know whether Anand has seen anything
on that.

Anand Doobay: No, | am not sure that we were convinced by the way that it was analysed in
terms of the savings they looked at, because we certainly foresaw savings in terms of
interpreters not being needed for adjourned hearings and shorter periods of detention for
people who were in custody. It did appear that insufficient weight was given to the overall
aim of securing the interests of justice and having a fair and speedy process for those people
who were undergoing extradition. It is an interesting use of words in the Government’s
response about the business case not being made out. Certainly | feel that insufficient
weight was given to the other side of this, which is not the financial aspect.

The Chairman: Are the Government not inferring that it is for someone else to make the
business case rather than for them to look into it, work it out for themselves and show the
world what the right outcome is?

Sir Scott Baker: | do not think so; we made it pretty clear. There was a problem about this,
because certainly we had the impression that the Lord Chancellor’s Department produced
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the annexe to our report, which is their response, at a very late stage, having promised it a
long time earlier. They were overtaken, they said, by other commitments. It may be unfair—
| do not know—but we certainly formed the view that it had been done in haste and had not
really been thought through.

Lord Brown of Eaton-under-Heywood: One of your recommendations, which was actually
implemented, was that you should have to have permission to appeal. | do not know
whether you know, but that has subsequently attracted a certain amount of criticism, not
least on the basis that very often the proceedings will have been conducted without
representation. This is linked therefore to the question of legal aid. People cannot fund their
initial appearance. That, in turn, is said to call for an automatic right of appeal, so that you
can, to some extent, ameliorate the problems caused by non-representation. Is there some
linkage between those two recommendations?
Sir Scott Baker: | can see where the point is coming from, but that is, to my mind, not the
way to solve the problem. It ought to be sorted out at first instance and they ought to be
represented in the magistrates’ court. There are very few circumstances these days where
there is an automatic right of appeal in criminal cases. It has been reduced gradually over
the years. The Government accepted our recommendation, but they did not go further and
accept our suggestion that the test should be the same as judicial review: “arguable case”.
There was originally an issue as to whether it should be “reasonable prospects of success”,
but this has now been resolved in favour of “arguable case”, because there was a change
and the criminal procedure rules were applied to extradition. That problem, | think, Anand,
has been solved.
Anand Doobay: That is right. The legislation itself did not make plain what the test would be
for permission. We had always anticipated it would the judicial review test of “arguable
case”.

Lord Brown of Eaton-under-Heywood: The fact is that if legal aid was available at first
instance, it would then make these objections to the introduction of the permission stage
altogether less tenable.

Sir Scott Baker: We would save a great deal more money at that level as well. That is
something new that has happened since the report.

Baroness Jay of Paddington: It all stems from the very firm recommendation you made
about sorting out the legal aid situation at the early stages of proceedings.

Sir Scott Baker: Yes. All the evidence we had was one way on this, and we did feel that we
needed to make a firm recommendation to have any chance of anything happening.

Lord Mackay of Drumadoon: Can | ask you to elaborate on the consequences of an
unrepresented party in proceedings in terms of the management of the court on a
day-to-day basis?

Sir Scott Baker: Anand, you are probably more on the coalface on this than | am.

Anand Doobay: There are a number of practical consequences of this. First, there are
defendants who wish to be represented, but there is a delay in the legal aid process of
simply having them apply and be granted legal aid. That would cause repeated hearings that
were ineffective. If they did not speak English, that would require the attendance of
interpreters at each of those hearings. It would lengthen the process and if they were in
detention it would increase the detention cost.

There is also an issue about defendants who, because of all these difficulties, were
unrepresented. Extradition is a very technical process. Many of the defendants are not
English and do not speak English as a first language. They would struggle to understand
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what was going on. Therefore, there are all sorts of difficulties about having unrepresented
defendants going through the magistrates’ court process. As we have heard, that may lead
to issues being raised for the first time on appeal that in fact could have been dealt with at
the magistrates’ court if the defendant had been represented.

Lord Mackay of Drumadoon: It creates practical difficulties, whoever is on the Bench,
irrespective of what level the proceedings are at.

Anand Doobay: Yes, absolutely. That is why the evidence was all one way. We were hearing
this from the judges, the prosecutors, the defence lawyers and the people who were subject
to proceedings. There was nobody who was saying this was not creating an issue, because
every participant in the process was feeling the effects, both in cost terms and practical
terms.

The Chairman: We must move on to Lord Jones, so please be quick.

Q4 Baroness Hamwee: My question then moves on a bit to effectiveness, so can | combine
them? On the legal aid point, you gave one example of a step that could remedy the
situation. | wondered, reading that, whether you were concerned not to give any other
get-out to the Government or whether you had a selection of other ideas.

Sir Scott Baker: It is hard to remember three years ago. We floated various thoughts, but we
did not think they were really practical, except for the one that we put in the second
paragraph.

Anand Doobay: That is right. We did believe there was an issue of principle here. Therefore,
while you can suggest practical ameliorations of the problem, it is not really solving the
problem. There were some practical issues about the way in which you applied, filling out
forms and language issues, but essentially we did not feel those were going to deal with the
root cause of the problem.

Baroness Hamwee: There is a second part to my question. Mr Doobay, you mentioned
detention conditions, if | heard you correctly. | know there are all sorts of issues around the
conditions of detention, but, on the narrow point of causing problems to the extradition
proceedings, is there anything we ought to know about how somebody being in detention
makes the proceedings more problematic?

Anand Doobay: | was talking about detention conditions in other states, i.e. the countries
that were making the requests. The impact of detention conditions on domestic
proceedings here is simply the cost. If the process takes longer because there are lots of
ineffective hearings, we are obviously paying for that person to be kept in custody during
that period.

Q5 Lord Jones: In the Baker review, you wrote that extradition is a form of international co-
operation in criminal matters based on comity intended to promote justice. Do you still
subscribe to this view and, since you wrote that sentence, do you feel the Government have
focused too much on achieving efficient international co-operation on extradition and
focused too little on ensuring that the UK’s extradition arrangements are just?

Sir Scott Baker: | certainly still do subscribe to that view, and very strongly subscribe to it.
The question that you pose is a very, very general one. In my judgment, it is a matter of
balance between international co-operation and just extradition arrangements. We made
our recommendations on the basis of trying to maintain that balance. | am not aware that
the position has changed significantly since then.

There are a number of points that need to be made here. First, it is terribly important to
remember that extradition is not a one-way street. We obviously are interested in getting
our criminals back from abroad, just as other people are keen to extradite people they say
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have committed crimes here. We heard some quite compelling evidence about how
advantageous the arrival of the EAW was in 2003 in getting back criminals from Spain, in
particular, where there had been all sorts of problems before. Those were largely overcome
by the EAW.

The next point is that modern travel and modern communications have made crimes
increasingly international. Often crimes are committed in not one, two or three countries
but a whole variety of different countries by different individuals playing different parts,
moving around in different places or simply staying behind a computer in one country and
not moving at all. One has to cope with that situation.

There is another point here that is perhaps worth making. We did touch on this in the report
in paragraph 3.73. Many members of the media and readers of Articles in the media have an
often not expressed view that British citizens ought to be treated differently in extradition
cases from people who are not British citizens. That is not the case and has not been the
case for a very long time. It would require a dramatic putting back of the clock to change the
situation.

We come back to this when we get to the forum bar; perhaps that is the appropriate time to
expand.

Anand Doobay: | would add a couple of things. When we are talking about the promotion of
justice, as Sir Scott was saying, there are two aspects. One is to ensure that people who are
accused of offences are tried and, if necessary, convicted. If you do not have effective
extradition arrangements, essentially you risk your country becoming a haven for those who
want to escape prosecution and can come to your country and simply rest there, safe in the
knowledge that they will not be tried. However, it is a difficult balance to maintain to ensure
that you are not sending people by extradition to face an unfair trial or an improper process
or conditions of detention that are in breach of the European Convention on Human Rights.
| would strongly echo what Sir Scott said about nationality, because this is actually one of
the issues that lies at the heart of many people’s misgivings about the extradition system.
There is a sense that if you are a British national or resident and it is possible for you to be
prosecuted in the United Kingdom, you should be prosecuted here because that gives you
certain advantages in terms of a familiarity with the system, an understanding of the law
and a support system of your family and friends. That is an understandable position to hold,
but it is not the case in our law as it stands.

One of the things we tried to recommend in the review was that the Government give some
thought to clarifying what weight should be given to the fact that somebody is a UK national
or resident when making a decision on whether or not to prosecute them. Often in these
cases, as Sir Scott says, many countries have the ability to prosecute and the question is:
should the UK step in and prosecute? That may involve questions of resources, politics and
all sorts of other issues.

Unfortunately, in the Government’s response, the Crown Prosecution Service’s guidance
does not give you any clarity. It simply says it is a factor to be taken into account where the
suspect has connections with the UK, but it does not really help us as to what weight it
should be given or how you should balance it against the other factors.

Lord Jones: Briefly, Lord Chairman, and for the record, do existing provisions adequately
prevent efficiency from superseding justice?

Sir Scott Baker: Again, that is a very general question. They do, but it is difficult to answer
the question on such a broad basis.
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Anand Doobay: We should also bear in mind that there are a number of amendments to the
Act that are not yet in force, which will introduce quite significant changes, certainly in
terms of the European Arrest Warrant system, in the UK. The whole aim of those
amendments is to introduce more attention to the individual’s situation and the
proportionality of the request, et cetera. Certainly, we felt the legislation was capable of
being operated by the Courts to avoid injustice. Obviously, that does not mean that will be
the case in every instance, but we also now have these additional protections, which have
yet to come into force.

The Chairman: Is there an inherent robustness in the system that you feel is focused on
protecting liberty, for want of a better way of putting it?

Anand Doobay: That is right, but the court is struggling with same problem we were, which
is balancing these twin aims. In any one individual case, you can have a different view as to
whether they have achieved that outcome.

Q6 Lord Rowlands: Can | ask about the other party to this: the victim? You mention in
paragraph 5.26 that you had regard to the interests of the victims when you were preparing
your report. | wonder if you could elaborate on that a little. Should we go further and
establish rights for victims in the process?

Sir Scott Baker: We probably do not need to establish rights for victims as long as their
interests are taken into account properly at key points. One key point where | notice victims
do not get a mention is the new proportionality test for the EAW. Section 157 of the Anti-
Social Behaviour Crime and Policing Act 2014, which is yet to be brought into force, requires
the court to have regard to the seriousness of the conduct, the likely penalty and the
possibility of less coercive measures. However, we recommended, in relation to the
proportionality test that we thought should be introduced, that consideration should be
given to whether there was a reasonable chance of conviction, the level of harm caused,
previous convictions of the person sought, the age of the person sought and the views of
the victims. | am not clear myself why these have not figured in Section 157.

However, while | am on the subject of proportionality, there is another deficiency in the
proportionality test. We recommended that it should be dealt with at the issuing end by the
issuing state, because it is much easier for questions of proportionality to be properly dealt
with by the person who is making the request, rather than the person who is receiving the
request, but that has not been done. How it will work in a country like Poland | do not know.
To what extent it would reduce the number of requests is again problematic. What the
Government are introducing is at least going some way down the road that we were
suggesting.

Anand Doobay: | certainly agree we have to bear in mind the interests of victims. The way
you do that is to ensure that people cannot simply evade justice by being in the UK and not
be extradited. That is part of the balance you have to put in place. Their interests are
represented normally by the issuing country that has made the extradition request, because
they are obviously putting forward the case for the prosecution.

Coming on to the issue of proportionality, there is a difficulty in that the measures that have
been taken at EU level have not been that robust. They are essentially encouragements to
countries to apply a proportionality test and it is not clear that that has succeeded at all.
There are some steps being taken in Poland to try to deal with this specific problem, but
these steps are very gradual and do not seem to be having much of an impact. Certainly, the
European Parliament is still calling for an amendment to the framework decision to allow for
a mandatory proportionality test by the issuing Member State.
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There remains much to be done and what the UK Government are trying to do is simply to
ameliorate the position. However, as Sir Scott says, the better solution would be to ensure
that these requests are not made at all.

Lord Rowlands: Are you suggesting that we should amend the section to include the views
of victims?

Sir Scott Baker: It is not in yet. That is really a matter for Parliament, as to whether it should
or not. We would like to have seen all the factors that we mentioned in the report,
obviously, otherwise we would not have mentioned them. Whether it is too late to amend
Section 157, | do not know.

Anand Doobay: What we cannot tell is how the court will consider the seriousness of the
conduct, because the court may well decide that the seriousness of the conduct includes an
assessment of the impact on victims and assessing exactly what has happened to the victims
in the offence.

The Chairman: On the proportionality point, there would seem to be two slightly different
issues. One is whether it is appropriate and legal—not least of all if we opt back in—under
the directive. Secondly, there is the point you made, which is important: if it really works
properly, the number of requests will simply decline and therefore there will be less burden
on the courts and fewer people in trouble.

Sir Scott Baker: We certainly felt—and | am sure the judges in the magistrates’ court felt
this—that there are far too many cases coming through that are not really justified. The
primary object of the proportionality test is to stop that up.

Lord Henley: If a lot of issuing countries are not observing proportionality at the moment,
does it not have to be for this country to do?

Sir Scott Baker: It is a start, but what is going to happen when this country starts rejecting
cases hand over fist? There are going to be issues about it. We had hoped that work could
be done behind the scenes to get everybody to agree on a sensible way ahead, but that has
unfortunately not arisen.

Lord Henley: That is your complaint: that that has not been happening in Europe and at the
European Commission.

Sir Scott Baker: Yes.

Q7 Lord Rowlands: There is quite a bit of evidence to suggest that in fact these new tests
you would like introduced could fall foul of the decision itself. On EU Sub Committee E, we
heard from The Bar Council and we heard it from the Scottish Lord Advocate. Is that a real
prospect?

Sir Scott Baker: | cannot second-guess what courts will do on this; we will have to wait and
see.

Anand Doobay: There is an issue about whether it is compliant with the framework
decision, but essentially if the European Commission is not going to act to deal with this
problem by including this legislative obligation on the issuing states to look at it, it is
understandable that individual Member States are having to take action to try to deal with it
themselves.

The other thing | would add is that, while | would agree it is something that should be done
by the issuing Member State, there is one issue that it does not deal with, which is a change
in circumstance. If you have had a prosecution in another Member State some years ago
and the person’s circumstances have completely changed in the intervening period —they
have had have children, they have led a blameless life, whatever it is—the proportionality
assessment by the issuing Member State will not necessarily take that into account, because

56



Rt Hon. Sir Scott Baker and Anand Doobay — Oral evidence (QQ | —23)

they will not be aware of those changes. There is some call for an assessment again in the
executing Member State. That could be done by looking at the Article 8% issues of their
private and family life in some situations, but there are two aspects to it: one is an
assessment at the time the request is made, but that does not necessarily take into account
a change in circumstances.

Q8 Lord Brown of Eaton-under-Heywood: Should the courts be ready under Article 8 to
look at those sorts of changed circumstances? You know we had a group of cases a couple
of years ago in the Supreme Court that involved extraditing caring parents. We were pretty
strict in those cases: only one of them was allowed to remain, a Polish case, because it was a
very old allegation, not terribly serious and there would be children over here who would be
left uncared for. Ought the courts be readier to allow Article 8 —to which they have been
very resistant—to come to the aid of people who are being sought? | know your views
generally on not giving preferential treatment to nationals, but there is additional Article 8
relevance to a case when you are trying to extradite nationals from one country to a foreign
country.

Sir Scott Baker: That is a good point, if | may say so. The problem with Article 8 is that it has
been misapplied in a variety of different situations—often nothing to do with extradition—
and the courts are increasingly cautious about using it. However, there are plainly cases
where it is important that it should be used.

Anand Doobay: The other problem with Article 8 is that, again, it is a balancing exercise. The
courts do use it in appropriate situations. Very recently, the courts refused a request to the
US on Article 8 grounds. However, the problem is, again, the court is struck with weighing
up the necessity of having this international co-operation and ensuring that people do not
avoid prosecution where they should be prosecuted. | do not know that anything is going to
avoid having to deal with the difficult issue of balancing the two factors.

Lord Brown of Eaton-under-Heywood: There still are countries that will not extradite their
nationals. France and Germany used not to; now they have to under the European Arrest
Warrant, but that is only within the EU.

Sir Scott Baker: France does not extradite to the United States.

Lord Brown of Eaton-under-Heywood: Exactly. They are not required to in respect of
non-EU extraditions and probably still do not. Russia, we were told, also does not.

Anand Doobay: That is the bigger question. If you want to have that system where your
nationals are entitled to be tried in the UK and not be extradited, that is a very large political
decision to take; you have to be willing to prosecute them in situations where you would
not otherwise bother, because it is not of interest to you or it is not a policing priority. You
also have to be willing to deal with the diplomatic fallout that goes with that. If you look at
Russia, when they said they were willing to try the Litvinenko suspect, but they would not
extradite him, the UK said, “This is a vital national interest for us to deal with somebody who
has been murdered in London”. You have to be willing to deal with both the political issues
and also the practical issues if you have that system where you refuse extradition of your
own nationals and you instead agree to prosecute them.

The Chairman: | have one point before we move on. If, as appears more likely, the country
opts back in to the EAW, will the new “Lisbonised” —I know it is a horrid word—procedure
that will pertain make any difference to the actual workings of this?

* Article 8 of the European Convention of Human Rights
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Anand Doobay: It certainly will mean that there will be the possibility of going to the
European Court of Justice. There will be more case law, potentially, dealing with cases
emanating from the UK. It does also mean that the Commission will have the ability to bring
enforcement proceedings. If they do believe that the proportionality bar we are introducing
here is not compliant with the framework decision, that will be tested.

The Chairman: From our point of view, that seems to be quite a crucial matter.

Anand Doobay: Yes. That is the hesitation in terms of allowing the “Lisbonisation”. The two
significant changes it will make to us are the European Court having jurisdiction and the
Commission having the ability to bring enforcement proceedings. That will be a significant
thing that will change the way in which the system operates, yes.

The Chairman: You may not wish to act as a soothsayer, but are these things likely to stand
up?

Anand Doobay: | do not know. | do not know whether the proportionality bar will stand up.
There is a complex argument about EU law, which has within it an essential element that
you have to consider proportionality when taking actions under EU law. It is going to be a
more complicated argument than simply whether the framework decision allows you to do
it on its face, because plainly it does not. It is going to be an argument about the underlying
fundamental concepts of EU law and whether you can read into it this requirement that it
has to be proportionate, because that is a fundamental concept of EU law.

Q9 Lord Rowlands: If you look down at the figures, there are 880 cases from Poland in the
last year, which is way above any other country. If you could sort the Polish issue out, would
the issue of proportionality at least be less relevant?

Sir Scott Baker: When we looked at this three years ago, it was the Polish issue that was the
primary one. In terms of numbers of requests, they were miles ahead of any other country.
There were one or two that had a significant number, but nothing remotely like Poland’s. If
there had not been the Polish problem, | suspect we would never have been looking at this
guestion of proportionality at all.

Anand Doobay: There are some attempts to deal with the Polish problem. There was
evidence given before the European Parliament earlier this year by a Polish representative
and they were explaining the particular problems they face. They have a principle of legality,
which they believe means that in every case they have to prosecute and in every case they
have to make a European Arrest Warrant. They also do not tend to use fines. Instead, they
have suspended sentences, but that means that as soon as somebody leaves Poland their
sentence is put into effect and there is a huge issue of emigration from Poland. They are
trying to deal with the issues, they say. They are trying to bring in legislative amendments to
take effect in 2015; they are trying to bring in training. So far, however, there is little sign
this has had a real effect in terms of how it is working in the UK.

Sir Scott Baker: This does illustrate an even more general problem, which is that no two
countries have identical criminal justice systems. The framework decision is really designed
to draw together all 27, or however many, Member States to have a procedure that
accommodates everybody. However, perhaps it is natural that we in this country think our
system is best and, therefore, anybody who does anything differently has got it wrong.
There will have to be some accommodation to achieve an answer to these problems. For
example, we heard of a case, | think in Poland, that chicken-stealing, in the country rather
than the towns, is regarded as a very serious matter; they see things differently from us.
The Chairman: Can we move on to talk about forum bar issues, which are obviously not far
away from the topic?
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Q10 Lord Mackay of Drumadoon: In your report, you advise, on balance, against the
introduction of a forum bar. Are you in a position to give views on the consequences of the
forum bar that was, in the event, introduced in 20137

Sir Scott Baker: We were against it for reasons that we set out in the report, and | will not
go through all those again. The option that we have | would describe as the least bad option.
After we had reported, | did spend a number of sessions with the Home Office when they
floated drafts of what the forum bar might contain. | looked at these and tried to point out
the pitfalls there might be if they were introduced in that form. We are asked what the
effect of the forum bar that has been introduced will be. | can only answer by saying that
that depends on how the courts interpret it, but | would be very surprised if this forum bar
results in many cases where extradition will not take place where it would otherwise have
taken place. The forum bar creates an additional bar to extradition. One needs to ask: what
void is it there to fill? It was interesting that the magistrates dealing with extradition cases
said that they could not think of any single case where the result would have been different
if the original forum bar had been introduced. | certainly wonder how many cases there will
be where this will result in a different solution.

The ultimate point is that there are seven aspects the court has to take into account on the
interests-of-justice test, which is the second of the two limbs that get to first base. The first
limb is that there has to be substantial measure of relevant activity in the United Kingdom,
and then it also has to be in the interests of justice. The interests of justice require the court
to look at where most of the harm or loss occurred, the interests of the victims, the belief of
the prosecutor that the United Kingdom is not the most appropriate place for trial, the
availability of evidence in the United Kingdom, delay, desirability of all prosecutions taking
place in one place and the individual’s connections with the United Kingdom. The critical
guestion is how much weight, in assessing the interests-of-justice test, is going to be given
to the person’s connections with the United Kingdom. It will be difficult to give a great deal
of weight to that in most cases.

Why, fundamentally, | do not like the idea of a forum bar is that the question of forum, as
Lord Lloyd of Berwick said in one of the debates, is essentially a prosecutorial decision. It is
very difficult for the courts to get into the kind of issues that prosecutors would be
considering perhaps on a cross-Atlantic basis with issues of confidential information and so
forth to be assessed. All | can answer to the question is that it is a matter of “wait and see”.
Anand Doobay: | would add two things, Lord Chairman. The first is that it does not address
the issue of where prosecution should take place. The forum bar is simply looking at where
it should not take place. The court may be presented with quite a stark choice, which is to
refuse extradition in the knowledge the person may never be prosecuted, even if there
appears to be significant evidence that an offence has been committed, or to allow
extradition even though the person is British, with ties here and there would be significant
effects on them if they had to leave the UK.

| share Sir Scott’s view that we will have to see how the court deals with it. What we have
not had so far is any appeals that have been heard that deal with this issue. When the first
of those comes through, which will probably be in the next month or two, we will see how
the High Court is going to lay down the principles of how it will approach this and,
particularly, how it will deal with the weight to be given to a person’s connections with the
UK.

The problem | have with the bar as drafted is actually the prosecutor’s certificate. It is not
appropriate for a prosecutor to have the right of veto. That is essentially what is given here,
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because if the prosecutor issues a certificate the court cannot consider the forum bar. The
prosecutor, in issuing a certificate, is looking at specific things. One of them is not the
interests of justice. If the idea of this bar is that you are supposed to weigh up the interests
of justice as to whether or not it is appropriate to extradite, | do not understand how a
prosecutor can have the right of veto to stop the court from doing that. That would be a
personal reservation | have in terms of the way in which the bar is drafted, but we will have
to see how the court approaches the interpretation.

Q11 The Chairman: | am interested that you say that, because it struck me that there is an
interesting question as to whether or not the proper way for a prosecutor to determine
whether or not to bring a prosecution takes into account precisely the same things as a
court or any judicial process should, in deciding what the just outcome to the facts are. You
tend to think they are in fact different, and hence we should be clear they are different, and
processes and systems should recognise that difference.

Sir Scott Baker: We would like to have seen a set of guidelines published so that it was
transparent as to the factors the prosecutor takes into account in these cases. A set of
guidelines has been issued, but it is very much along the lines of the Eurojust guidelines and
does not really add very much to telling us what really goes on.

Anand Doobay: No. What we had really hoped was that there would be some detailed
explanation of how you assess the weight to be given to the residence and links of the
suspect with the UK. When the CPS is taking their decision, should they be prepared to
spend more money to prosecute here? Should they be prepared to put a lot of effort into
getting evidence from overseas to prosecute here? All of these are quite significant practical
issues and they are unanswered by the guidance that has been issued, which simply lists the
location of the accused as one of the factors.

However, | certainly would agree, my Lord Chairman, with your analysis: they are not the
same things. If you look at the test to be applied under the forum bar in assessing whether
the interests of justice are engaged, that is not the same thing a prosecutor will do when
deciding whether or not to issue a certificate.

Baroness Jay of Paddington: Can | ask a factual question? Have the Director of Public
Prosecution’s (DPP) guidelines been challenged legally?

Sir Scott Baker: | do not think they have.

Lord Mackay of Drumadoon: Have the Crown Prosecution Service (CPS) made public their
views on this?

Sir Scott Baker: They produced the guidelines.

Lord Mackay of Drumadoon: | appreciate that.

Sir Scott Baker: They have not gone any further than that.

Lord Mackay of Drumadoon: | would like to know whether they are enthusiastic or they
think it is a useful role they are being asked to play, or whether they are just having to put
up with it.

Sir Scott Baker: My recollection is that the then DPP, Keir Starmer, was not enthusiastic
about the forum bar or any forum bar, and was enthusiastic about some guidelines but the
guidelines have not gone as far as we perhaps hoped.

Anand Doobay: Obviously, they were consulted as part of the process of formulating the
forum bar. One of the things that is not yet clear, because we have not had very many cases,
is in how many situations they will in fact issue a certificate, because my fear had been that
they would do it simply based upon looking at the extradition request and saying, “Actually,
there does not appear to be enough here to warrant a prosecution in the UK”. However, it
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appears they may not do that. In fact, what they will do is say, “In order for us to issue a
certificate, there has to have been an investigation in the United Kingdom. The police
actually have to have investigated, gathered evidence and sent us a file before we will issue
a certificate.” If that is the case, | would have fewer concerns about how it will operate in
practice. However, it is too early to say for sure how it will operate in practice.

Q12 Lord Mackay of Drumadoon: Is there any evidence to suggest that any foreign country
has taken account of the existence of a forum bar and not proceeded with a request for
extradition?

Sir Scott Baker: We did not hear of anybody who has a forum bar anywhere.

Anand Doobay: | imagine that most countries will be waiting to see how it is dealt with at
the appeal stage, because all of us are guessing how the court will lay down the principles
on how it should be dealt with.

Lord Rowlands: Does this raise the question of whether Parliament should have been
more explicit anyway? Should the legislation have been more explicit, rather than just
waiting for the courts to define our legislation for us.

Sir Scott Baker: | belong to the school that says, if you have a knotty problem, let the judges
work it out.

Anand Doobay: However specific you are, because there will be a number of factors that
are going to be weighed together, it is going to require, first, some interpretation of the
actual words they use, but also some indication of how the courts are going to weigh the
different factors. | am not sure. It would have been possible to say, for example, “Greater
weight should be given to the individual’s connections with the UK”. That was an option, but
it is not the one that the Government have taken.

The Chairman: Can | ask you to clarify that? In particular, what you are saying, Mr Doobay, is
that if you are going to have a forum bar—if—you actually need enhanced and improved
guidelines to make it work as well as it ought to. Is that right?

Anand Doobay: Actually, what | am trying to say is that the forum bar is a longstop. It is
there to avoid the problem at the end of the process. What is better is to make the right
prosecution decision at the start. Where there are cases where a number of countries
should prosecute and it is appropriate for the UK to prosecute, that should be what
happens, because then you will never have a successful extradition request, because if the
UK does prosecute then it will stop any extradition proceedings. If the UK prosecutes and
there is a conviction or an acquittal, double jeopardy will stop any extradition proceedings.
The better way to deal with this problem is to deal with it at the beginning of the process
and make the right decision prosecution decision, because the forum bar otherwise simply
presents the court at the end of the process with a very unattractive choice, which is stop
extradition and potentially the person does not get prosecuted anywhere or allow
extradition despite the fact that it is going to have a significant impact on the person being
taken from the UK.

Sir Scott Baker: Going back a step, | was quite impressed by evidence that we received from
prosecuting authorities, which was that with cross-border crime very often there is an early
meeting between the prosecutors of the various countries who may be involved and then a
decision is taken as to who is going to investigate it. In one sense, the die is cast pretty early
on as to where the prosecution is going to take place and the courts have to live with that
later, which illustrates the difference between the prosecutorial decision about where the
case should be heard and the forum bar, which leaves it to the court.
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Q13 Lord Brown of Eaton-under-Heywood: What sort of appeals are anticipated here? Are
these appeals against the court’s decision on striking the balance in the interests of justice,
or are these appeals against the prosecutor’s certificate, which is, as you say, when it is in
being, going to operate as a veto?

Sir Scott Baker: | tried to find out yesterday what the position was and the Lord Chief Justice
was not aware whether there were any immediate cases for hearing in the High Court, but
he would not necessarily know that. Mr Doobay thinks that there is a little group of cases
raising various points to be heard together probably sometime later this month, but we do
not know in any detail what the cases involve or what the issues are; at least | do not.
Anand Doobay: | do not think they involve a prosecutor’s certificate. That is why |
understand the CPS are adopting, at least at this stage, that approach of not issuing a
certificate unless there has been an effective police investigation. My understanding is that
these initial cases do not involve a prosecutor’s certificate. They are about the way in which
the court has balanced its factors.

Lord Brown of Eaton-under-Heywood: They are Section 19(b) appeals, not 19(c) or 19(e)
appeals?4®

Anand Doobay: Yes.

Lord Brown of Eaton-under-Heywood: The suggestion that the legislation should be yet
more explicit seems to me difficult to reconcile with these convoluted and endless pages,
which | find very difficult to track my way through.

Anand Doobay: It is interesting that the legislation prescribes what the judge can look at. It
is not the normal situation where it is simply the interests of justice and it is determined by
the court what the interests of justice are. It is a prescriptive and exhaustive list of factors
the court can take into account when assessing the interests of justice.

Sir Scott Baker: It is a rather dangerous line of legislation, because it is always possible that
something quite important has been overlooked.

Baroness Jay of Paddington: Does it not underline a point made by the Chairman: that the
guidelines should be looked at again and made more precise?

Sir Scott Baker: Yes.

The Chairman: Are the Eurojust guidelines a bit generalised? If we are going to focus on
certain aspects of this, | am trying to work out where we should be looking.

Sir Scott Baker: The Eurojust guidelines have been picked up and adopted by the

Crown Prosecution Service. | am trying to remember what they contain, but they cover
pretty wide territory. However, the area they do not really touch on is the person’s
connections with the United Kingdom.

The Chairman: Or any other country, for that matter.

Sir Scott Baker: Yes, or any other country.

Anand Doobay: The problem with the guidelines is that each of the factors is very sensible
to take into account, but they often point in opposite directions. For example, the first and
main factor is that you should bring the prosecution where most of the criminality occurred
or most of the loss or harm occurred. What if those are two completely different countries?
What if you sat in the UK and carried out all of your acts in the UK, but, in fact, the harm you
caused was entirely in France? The problem with the list is not that the list is not sensible; it
is how you apply it to the facts of a given case where each of the factors may point in a

* Sections 19(b), 19(c) and 19(e) of the Extradition Act 2003.
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different direction or each of the factors may require you to spend more money to bring the
prosecution. How do you reconcile these things when you are making your overall decision?
Sir Scott Baker: There can be issues about admissibility of evidence, where evidence that is
not admissible in one country is admissible in another: phone-tapping, for example.

The Chairman: One point on this more generally is that, obviously, we have had the
introduction of the forum bar here. Do we know whether there has been any impact on US
prosecutors, in whether or not they try to bring a case and seek the extradition of people
from here? It is a question of fact.

Sir Scott Baker: | think we would hear about it. | would imagine the American authorities
would simply press on and wait and see what happened. They would not take any different
course because of our forum bar, at least until the courts had interpreted it. However, |
cannot really second-guess what the Americans would do.

Anand Doobay: | am sorry: | do not know.

Q14 Lord Hart of Chilton: For some of us who have had no experience of this subject
before, there is a steep learning curve involved here. One of the things, however, that
appeared to be reasonably clear early on is that the equivalence of the two tests “probable
cause” and “reasonable suspicion” do seem to be roughly equivalent. There does not appear
to be any major dispute about that. What is, however, emerging from all the papers we
have is that there are other things surrounding circumstances where there are differences
between the two countries. There are 50 different states with different legislatures. In
respect of judges in America, some are elected and some see their election programme as
being enhanced by stiff sentencing. There is plea-bargaining and the longer sentences that
induce plea-bargaining. America is far more enthusiastic and zealous about extending their
extraterritorial claims.

In those circumstances, one is left with impression that while the two tests may be similar,
the surrounding circumstances may produce a situation that is slightly unbalanced. | would
like your views on that.

Sir Scott Baker: There are certainly features of the American criminal justice system that are
unattractive to UK residents. Their plea-bargaining is a great deal more vigorous, if | can use
that word, than ours is, although we do have plea-bargaining in this country to a degree. It is
very unsatisfactory to see people who have been extradited for white-collar crime being led
off in chains from the aircraft by US marshals. The prison conditions, in some instances,
leave a great deal to be desired.

However, the bottom line on all of this is: are we satisfied that individuals can have a fair
trial in the United States or whatever other country it may be? That is a value judgment that
has to be made and looked at in individual cases. To my mind, | cannot recollect any
individual case where the courts have said they will not extradite on the basis that the
individual would not have a fair trial. By fair trial, | am looking at the whole of the
surrounding circumstances. One has to be a little bit careful, because, in some instances, in
the media the focus has been on very narrow aspects of particular cases, which have been
built up to present a picture that is not, perhaps, entirely the fair one. | seem to recollect
that Lord Brown, in one of these cases in the House of Lords—not the Supreme Court—had
something to say about plea-bargaining in the United States not being quite as vigorous in
some instances as was being portrayed. That was in the McKinnon case. Yes, there certainly
is a point here, but the bottom line is: when does one, as it were, pull the plug on
extradition arrangements with a friendly country?
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Lord Hart of Chilton: There is also the point that it appears to be the case that if you have
challenged extradition you get an extra whack. Is that fair?

Sir Scott Baker: | am not specifically aware of that having been the case, but it may be my
memory is wrong.

Anand Doobay: There is certainly an impact in terms of getting bail: if you have challenged
extradition here, it is very unlikely that you will get bail, but that is not specific to the US. My
sense is that there are very significant differences between the US and the UK systems of
justice. However, the problem is that the way we assess all other countries’ systems when
we are looking at extradition is whether they are compliant with the European Convention
on Human Rights. That is our baseline. If the countries we are extraditing to do comply with
the ECHR, we will extradite. All these issues and aspects we are talking about have been
considered by the courts and have been found to be compliant with the ECHR. That leaves
us in a difficult position where, if we want to say they are unacceptable, we would have to
do it on the basis not that they are not compliant with the ECHR, but that they are aspects
that we just do not like and we do not think people should be exposed to.

That brings us back around in a circle to the prosecution decision in the UK. We have to be
careful about our use of the word “extraterritorial”, because that would imply the US is
claiming jurisdiction for things that happen entirely outside of the US. To my mind and my
knowledge, that has not been the case in any of these situations. There has been some
conduct in the US and some conduct outside of the US. The US may certainly take a more
robust view than we would in the UK as to which situations it will prosecute in if there is
only 10% of the conduct in the US, but that is not extraterritorial; that is simply that they are
taking a decision that we would not take ourselves. We have to work out on what basis we
are going to complain about these aspects of their system if it is not that they are not
compliant with the European Convention on Human Rights.

Q15 Baroness Jay of Paddington: We have failed so far to get a clear position on—or at
least | have; that may well be my lack of understanding—the relationship between the
federal courts and the federal authorities and the state authorities on this. One of the
papers which Lord Hart referred to, which we have had circulated in the last two weeks, has
referred to the state Supreme Court judges increasingly resembling ordinary politicians in
partisan mud-fights. We have seen some background about the programmes on which these
judges have been elected in individual states. It is unclear to me still the extent to which the
individual states have complete jurisdiction over some of these matters and the extent to
which this is federally organised. It is the state situation that | find more immediately
concerning.

Sir Scott Baker: A lot of extradition operates across the board in the same way in all the—
Baroness Jay of Paddington: And is interpreted in the same way? Is there any latitude for a
state supreme court?

Sir Scott Baker: There may be some different nuances, but the principles are the same.
Baroness Jay of Paddington: The principles may be same, but is the actual practice and legal
constraint on an individual state’s supreme court the same, or indeed a state’s legal system?
Anand Doobay: There are two separate systems within the US. My understanding of the
system is that there are particular offences that the federal system prosecutes and then
there are state offences that the state prosecutes. Either can lead to an extradition request.
Baroness Jay of Paddington: Yes, exactly.

Anand Doobay: In many cases, they are federal prosecutions that lead to requests to the
UK, but that is not to say that they cannot be state prosecutions. There may be more
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concerns over the treatment that an individual received if they are subject to a state
prosecution, because, as you say, there may be a perception that there are less robust
checks in terms of what happens at a state level.

Baroness Jay of Paddington: In general, my concern is that, obviously, a very authoritative
survey and report like yours, in terms of the balance between the UK and the US on this
matter, said that it was imbalanced for the reasons Lord Hart expressed. However, there is a
much more general—one would call it “diplomatic”, as you said before, Mr Doobay—or
political context to this about the way the systems operate, which actually does make it
possible to say that it is not imbalanced.

Anand Doobay: Yes, it is possible to say it is different. It is certainly true that there are
significant differences between the two systems and it is whether those differences are
unacceptable. If they are, what do you do about them? As | say, the problem is that
ordinarily under extradition law all you are looking for is compliance with the European
Convention on Human Rights.

Lord Rowlands: Are there any figures on the numbers of requests coming from state or
federal authorities?

Anand Doobay: | am sorry; | do not know.

Sir Scott Baker: We got some figures on requests from the United States in an annexe to the
report and | did ask for those to be updated before today’s hearing. They present a broadly
similar picture, but they do not distinguish between one state and another, and between
federal and state requests. | imagine that it would be possible to obtain such figures.

Lord Brown of Eaton-under-Heywood: You point out at paragraph 7.85 of your report that,
actually, in proportionate terms, in proportion to the overall population of both the

United States and the UK, we get back from them significantly more than we extradite to
them.

Sir Scott Baker: Per head of population, yes.

Baroness Hamwee: Lord Hart mentioned issues like plea-bargaining. One would add delay,
prison conditions and so on. | saw somewhere in the reading that the Netherlands imposes
conditions before it will agree to extradition in some cases. | wondered whether that was
something that you had considered.

Sir Scott Baker: We certainly considered assurances, and | am not sure if assurances and
conditions are terribly different. You ask us later on in one of the questions, or may be
asking us, about assurances and whether they are effective or not. With a country like the
United States, if one assurance is not maintained there will not be any more. There is a big
interest in making sure they are maintained. With other countries, the real difficulty is in
policing what actually happens and whether the assurance has actually been maintained
afterwards, or whether, if you call it a condition, the condition has been met.

Anand Doobay: One of the things we did look at was repatriation, because that is often a
significant issue for people who are facing extradition to the US: their desire to serve any
sentence that is imposed in the UK. We did try to explore whether it would be possible to
make certain of that in advance so that they could know before they went to the US that
that is what would happen and also to make it speedier. The difficulty we found, when
speaking to the US authorities, was that their system did not really allow for that, because it
is a bureaucratic and administrative process that involves the consent of a number of
different federal entities. It involves the prison, the DoJ and also lots of other actors. What
they were saying was, “It is not possible for us to say in advance, ‘You will be able to be
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repatriated to the UK to serve a sentence’, or to say, ‘You will be able to have this happen
quickly’”. I know that is often an issue for people who are undergoing extradition to the US.
Sir Scott Baker: We had quite a lengthy session in Washington with the US prosecutors. This
was one of the issues we talked about at some length. They were not unco-operative at all;
they were anxious to try to help. However, they did explain to us the difficulties. For
example, after the case, there may be issues of reparation for victims and so forth, which
have to be sorted out, or confiscation. These all take time. It has certainly not escaped our
notice that there have been quite a number of cases, or at least a handful, where there have
been arrangements made before extradition that would result in a significant part of the
sentence being served in the UK. It is certainly our view that this is a pretty important quid
pro quo to extraditing somebody from this country who has done little or nothing to
facilitate the offence out of this country. Yes, there are good reasons why they should be
extradited, but there are pretty compelling reasons why any sentence should be served in
the home state. It is going to need quite a bit of work to get to that point, however.

The Chairman: While you have been debating this, a question has come into my mind. In
conceptual terms, we extradite where the person who is being extradited can get a fair trial.
Is there a conceptual difference that one ought to think about between the trial and the
process of determining guilt and what happens subsequently?

Sir Scott Baker: It is not only subsequently but beforehand as well. We just picked up the
point that it may be more difficult to get bail if you have resisted extradition. There are also
prison conditions and so forth. It is a fair point, but it is really a political one.

The Chairman: | do not disagree about that. It is what we are here for, is it not?

Sir Scott Baker: That means we are not much help.

The Chairman: | would not say that.

Anand Doobay: From a legal point of view, though, there is a great deal of acceptance that
it is better for a person to be imprisoned, if they are going to be imprisoned, in their home
state, where they have much greater prospects of being rehabilitated and reintegrated into
their community. That has certainly been accepted at an EU level. There is a great deal of
emphasis being placed on that, so it is something which most people agree is desirable. It is
the practicalities of ensuring that it happens quickly and reliably that is really the problem.
Q16 Lord Henley: On the whole process of looking for assurances and assurances from the
Americans, could | take this opportunity to go just a bit wider? Should there be a process of
some sort of systematic monitoring of all assurances? As you say, one failure by the States
and that would be it. What would happen, however, with other countries?

Sir Scott Baker: In a perfect world, that would be ideal, but it is very, very difficult to
achieve. Anand, you probably have more experience of this in the cases you have run.
Anand Doobay: Yes, the problem with assurances is that you have to guard against them
becoming a panacea for all ills. In any case where there is any risk that is raised, the answer
is, “That is okay. We will give you an assurance.” We have to bear in mind, if there is a risk
raised, why that is. If there is a risk of torture, that is because the requesting state allows
torture to occur. When we are looking at assurances, the European Court has laid down a
very good list of factors that have to be taken into account in weighing assurances up in
terms of whether they are effective and practically going to be a safeguard. The courts in
the UK have to rigidly apply those and be very careful not to allow assurances to be
accepted in every instances where there is a risk raised.

It is especially important that they are monitored, otherwise it will become a vicious circle. A
country will give an assurance that does not have any monitoring; the next time that
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country makes a request, the court will say, “They gave an assurance last time and nobody
has complained about it.” If the reason nobody has complained is because there has been
no monitoring of what has happened, you steadily get to the position where any assurance
given is given a great deal of weight, despite the fact that, actually, none of the assurances is
being honoured.

The Chairman: Lord Brown, | know you want to talk about prima facie evidence. You might
move us in that direction.

Q17 Lord Brown of Eaton-under-Heywood: Not everybody would agree that there is no
significant difference between probable cause and reasonable suspicion, but assume, for
this purpose, that that is indeed the case and that in practical terms there is difference
between them. There is a plain difference between probable cause and a prima facie case.
Regarding the designation process in respect of part 2, as | understand it, there are two lots
of designation. There is designation, so to speak, within the general scope of part 2, and
then there is a further designation. It is the further designation of those countries that are
already designated within part 2 that determines whether they have to produce a

prima facie case or merely probable cause. Is that right?

Anand Doobay: That is correct.

Lord Brown of Eaton-under-Heywood: Is there a different Home Office process for deciding
who in the first place is prima facie designated for part 2 purposes and, separately, one for
those within that designation that are further designated as being sufficiently reliable that
you only need from them probable cause?

Anand Doobay: The way you become designated as a category 2 territory is that you have
either a bilateral or multilateral extradition treaty with the UK. That is the default position.
Countries that have become further designated to remove this prima facie evidence
requirement fall into two groups. The first are parties to the European Convention on
Extradition—the Council of Europe convention. There are about 20 of those. We have no
choice, under international law, because by becoming a party to that convention we agreed
that all the other parties would have this requirement removed from them.

Then there are the others, which are essentially the Commonwealth countries—Australia,
Canada, New Zealand—and the US. The UK took the position that, given that we had all of
these parties to the Council of Europe convention that did not have to provide prima facie
evidence, there was no reason why we should require Australia, New Zealand and Canada to
provide it, given that they were longstanding trusted Commonwealth partners. For the US,
the designation came as result of the 2003 treaty that we signed with the US. Those are the
two groups that have had the requirement removed.

Lord Brown of Eaton-under-Heywood: The further designated group, which does not have
to produce a prima facie case, includes some rather unlikely-looking countries, such as the
Republic of Korea, Ukraine and Azerbaijan. They only have to produce a probable-cause
basis for extradition, not a prima facie case.

Anand Doobay: All the countries you listed there are parties to the European Convention on
Extradition. The Republic of Korea is a non-state party. Obviously, it is not within the
Council of Europe’s geographic scope, but it has been allowed to become a party to this
convention. Each time a country becomes a party to that convention, the UK has no choice
but to designate them to remove the prima facie requirement. It does have a choice if a
non-state party wants to join. If somebody outside the Council of Europe wants to become a
party to that convention, the UK has a right of veto, essentially. Each new Member State of
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the Council of Europe has the opportunity to join the convention and, if it does, the UK has
to remove the prima facie requirement.

The Chairman: Can | just clarify? The Republic of Korea, first of all, is South Korea, is it not,
and not North Korea?

Sir Scott Baker: Yes.

The Chairman: Secondly, it has signed the European convention as a non-state party and, as
a result, we have an option as to whether or not to designate them for the purposes of this
part of the act; is that right?

Sir Scott Baker: No.

The Chairman: Is it our choice or is it automatic?

Anand Doobay: |t is our choice whether they become a non-state party.

The Chairman: If you wanted to stop it, the way to do that would be veto them becoming a
non-state party.

Anand Doobay: Yes, exactly.

Sir Scott Baker: The challenge has to be at that point.

Lord Brown of Eaton-under-Heywood: Has anybody ever challenged a country that wished
to join that convention?

Anand Doobay: | am not sure. That would happen very privately. If countries want to
express an interest to become a non-state party, they would have a private discussion with
all of the other members before making in public. They would only really make it public
once everybody else was agreed that they were happy for them to join.

Lord Brown of Eaton-under-Heywood: Having become a party, there is no possibility of
subsequent review as to whether, after all, they ought to be allowed to continue to
extradite without the requirement for a prima facie case.

Anand Doobay: There is an ability for review, but not at a UK level. There would be an
ability for review at the Council of Europe level of how state parties are behaving in terms of
their obligations under the convention. The difficulty the UK has is that if it wants to
reimpose the prima facie evidence requirement for any of these convention parties, it has to
withdraw from the convention. That leaves it without treaty arrangements with about 20
countries. It would have to negotiate bilateral treaties to replace the multilateral
convention. It is quite a difficult thing to reimpose the prima facie obligation for any one of
these Council of Europe parties.

Lord Rowlands: What is the situation with Russia?

Anand Doobay: Russia is a party to the Council of Europe convention, and that is why it has
had its prima facie evidence requirement removed.

Lord Brown of Eaton-under-Heywood: There is nothing we can do unless, in the

Council of Europe, a sufficient number of states are prepared to block Russia’s future
participation in the treaty.

Anand Doobay: Yes, that is right. The way the courts have tried to deal with this issue is to
use the abuse-of-process jurisdiction, because even though there is no requirement to
provide prima facie evidence, if the court is concerned that its process might be being
abused, it can call for evidence. If it does not receive that evidence, it can draw an adverse
inference that it has not received the evidence. For example, in Russian cases, where there
has been a concern that the prosecutions are politically motivated and without merit, the
courts have been able to consider the evidence about the allegations through the abuse of
process jurisdiction, rather than because the country has to provide prima facie evidence.
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Lord Brown of Eaton-under-Heywood: That is only if there is a possibility of political
thinking behind the prosecution. You cannot ask for evidence just because you are
extremely concerned about way trials are proceeding in a particular country.

Anand Doobay: No. You would have to be asking for evidence about the way the trials are
proceeding. If your concern is that there is not sufficient evidence or it is improperly
motivated or it has been improperly gathered, you can investigate that through the
abuse-of-process jurisdiction.

The Chairman: We are all a bit unclear up here. Going back to your recommendation that
the category 2 designation should be looked at, it would seem to follow—this is just so that
we are all clear—from what has been said that any country that is a signatory to the
European Convention on Extradition could only be reviewed in the context of the
convention as a whole and the country’s membership of the Council of Europe. However,
there are certain bilateral individual agreements, some of which are long-standing. They
could be reviewed on a case-by-case basis.

Sir Scott Baker: Yes.

The Chairman: There is also the London agreement? Is it called that? It is a multilateral
Commonwealth agreement. You would then have to review that, would you not?

Sir Scott Baker: Basically, it is the treaties underlying the arrangements that are not as
transparent as they might be.

Anand Doobay: The problem is that, when you review the designations, there is a limit to
what you can do when you are reviewing the designations.

The Chairman: You mean once you have reviewed them.

Anand Doobay: You are reviewing the designation of a country like Russia, which is a party
to the Council of Europe convention. What you cannot do is say, “We are going to impose a
prima facie evidence requirement on you, because you have behaved badly”, because we do
not have the ability to do that without withdrawing from the convention. What you can do
as a result of your review is probably only say, “Diplomatically, this is unacceptable. We
need you to stop doing it.” There is, practically, a limit to what you can do.

The Chairman: The wiggle room we have is that under other aspects, such as
abuse-of-process procedures and things, there is both an inherent power in the court and,
possibly, a forum bar provision that would enable you to mitigate the process, even if you
cannot deal with the evidential requirements. Is that right?

Sir Scott Baker: | am less sure it would be the forum bar that would be used than the
European Convention on Human Rights.

Q18 The Chairman: Can | ask a question that has puzzled me about all this? We tend to talk
about the United States, Canada, Australia, New Zealand and South Africa in one breath, yet
nobody ever talks about the last four. They just come in, because they are thought to be
“good countries”.

Sir Scott Baker: Okay people.

The Chairman: Is that right?

Anand Doobay: When the 2003 act was coming in, the US was added because the treaty
had already been signed and that is what the treaty says. Australia, Canada and

New Zealand were proposed by the UK Government at the time on the basis of, “We allow
all these other people who are parties to the European convention not to have to do this.
Look at them: surely we trust Australia, Canada and New Zealand.”

The Chairman: They are not non-state members. They are just—

69



Rt Hon. Sir Scott Baker and Anand Doobay — Oral evidence (QQ | —23)

Anand Doobay: They are countries we have had long-standing close extradition
arrangements with, which are members of the Commonwealth. We have the same level of
trust in them as we do in all of these Council of Europe convention party members.
Baroness Wilcox: | assume we are talking about common law. That is what we are talking
about, is it not, or have | got lost along the way?

Anand Doobay: No, it is common law.

Baroness Wilcox: That seems to me to be the underlying point.

The Chairman: It may make us more confident in what they are doing. We may or may not
be right in thinking that.

Lord Brown of Eaton-under-Heywood: Not all commonlaw countries have a designation
that allows them to escape the prima facie case requirement.

Anand Doobay: That is right. | cannot remember the exact wording, but in the review it was
proposed on the basis that they were long-standing Commonwealth partners. Essentially,
the rationale was, “If we do not require it from Azerbaijan, why do we require it from
Canada?”

Baroness Jay of Paddington: Could | make the general observation that this precisely
illustrates the political and diplomatic context for all this, which is what we are concerned
about with the United States?

Sir Scott Baker: The treaty with the United States was negotiated without the public having
any real idea of what was going on. That is the complaint, in a sense: a lack of transparency,
which leads to the designation.

The Chairman: | have just been told by those who advise me that in the case of Canada we
do not demand prima facie evidence from them, but they demand prima facie evidence
from us. Is that right?

Sir Scott Baker: It is news to me.

Anand Doobay: The UK does not insist on reciprocity as a policy position, so it does not
require the same from other countries as we give to them.

The Chairman: There is one final point, if | might, on this general topic. When there are
special extradition arrangement, in general did the way it all worked work in a way that
safeguarded those requested properly? It is cases outside the general scheme.

Sir Scott Baker: These are cases where there is a memorandum of understanding reached
with the requesting country.

The Chairman: Yes, or some other convention.

Sir Scott Baker: The Secretary of State then certifies that the case is dealt with under part 2.
We have the fallback of the European Convention on Human Rights, however, and all of the
other bars to extradition. | do not have any real problem here.

Anand Doobay: The significant stage is the Secretary of State deciding which countries to
enter into discussions with about this, because there is no obligation to do it for the ad hoc
arrangements. It is a decision for a particular individual in a particular case whether to have
this discussion. The UK is probably quite circumspect as to whom it speaks to about these
cases, because there has only been one so far, in Rwanda, and in that case, in fact, the
request did not succeed. There has been another request now brought, but the first request
did not succeed.

The focus has to be on the Government’s decision to engage in a discussion to draw up a
memorandum of understanding to make sure it only does so in appropriate cases and also
to make sure the memorandum of understanding has sufficient protections within it. Once
that has happened, you go into a normal extradition process, where the person concerned
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has the ability to raise all the ordinary challenges and there is a prime facie evidence
requirement for those countries that have these special extradition arrangements.

The only part we should really focus on and be concerned about is the bit at the beginning:
who do we talk to about these and what exactly does the memorandum of understanding
have in it?

The Chairman: That is helpful. Thank you very much.

Q19 Lord Henley: Over the years, it seems that the Home Secretary—as Secretary

of State—has given up a lot of his or her discretion on a great deal of matters. | am grateful
for the “history” section in your report, which was very enlightening on that. However, more
importantly, in very recent years, particularly after she used it in McKinnon, she has now
given up her discretion on making a decision on human rights as a bar to extradition. | would
interested to know what you think the long-term effects of that will be and whether it might
not be more appropriate that matters of this sort were decided by a politician, rather than
by the courts.

Sir Scott Baker: This was a recommendation that was, to my mind, a very important one. It
was critical in improving the extradition arrangements. What will it do? It will simply take
out one layer from the extradition process, because whereas the previous position was that
the Secretary of State had human-rights issues to consider right at the end of the case, when
it had been through the courts, she made a decision that X, Y or Z should be extradited and
should go and then it goes back to the courts and the decision is reviewed by the courts,
which is, to my mind, totally unsatisfactory. The courts deal with the situation. They have to
look at the human rights bar. They deal with it up to the moment that the judge gives
judgment. This is simply to deal with situations that arise after the matter has been through
the courts for hopefully the final time. The courts have a way of dealing with these
situations in civil cases where, for example, some completely unforeseen event occurs after
the court has given judgment. There is the case of Taylor and Lawrence, which gives an
opportunity, in very restricted circumstances, to go back to the court for it to reconsider the
position.

Whatever one’s views about the McKinnon case, the one point nobody could really disagree
about is that it took far, far, far too long before a final decision was made. This
recommendation is designed to speed up the process. It is also consistent with the way that
extradition has been moving over past years. Whereas it started by being an entirely
political decision, it has now moved much more into the courts. These are matters that can
really be dealt with judicially with relevant provisions in the appropriate statute. In this
recommendation, we are moving matters one stage down further down a line that has
already been moving quite a way in that direction.

Lord Henley: It speeds up the process, but the Home Secretary is left in an almost Pontius
Pilate-like position where she can only wash her hands.

Sir Scott Baker: That is probably a very good thing from her point of view, because she then
does not have a desperately difficult decision to make. “What on earth do | do?” She does
not have to be guided by political considerations; it is trying to take the politics out of it at
that stage.

Anand Doobay: | wonder if | can also focus on what the Home Secretary is doing, because
she does not have discretion. She is looking at whether there is a risk a person’s human
rights will be violated. She is essentially making a judicial decision as to whether or not there
is sufficient evidence presented to her to suggest that the person’s human rights will be
violated and, therefore, she should not order extradition. The problem has always been

71



Rt Hon. Sir Scott Baker and Anand Doobay — Oral evidence (QQ | —23)

that, even though that is the process she is supposed to be undertaking, many people
assume that she actually takes into account political considerations, and that they form part
of that decision-making process. That, however, is not what is supposed to be happening.
Either we have to change the process explicitly to allow for what we used to have, which is
that the Home Secretary can make any decision they want to and take into account any
factors they want to, including political factors, or we have to have a process that is simply
about assessing whether or not there is a risk of human rights being violated. We tried to
make the system we have, looking just at human rights, go back to its original purpose,
which is that the courts assess whether or not there is a risk of that happening.

Lord Rowlands: Organisations like Liberty want the Home Secretary back into the process.
Sir Scott Baker: Liberty were out on a limb on quite a few of their representations to us, not
least on prima facie evidence, which they wanted back across the board. This was very
largely driven by Shami Chakrabarti, who feels very strongly about it. However, we had an
awful lot of evidence the other way. The evidence was overwhelmingly in favour of taking
away the Secretary of State’s discretion on human rights matters, in so far as it can be
described as a discretion.

Anand Doobay: | cannot think of anyone other than Liberty who wanted to bring back in a
political element in the decision-making, because many people thought that that had been a
wholly improper way to carry out the extradition process, and that, actually, political
considerations should not come into it. | appreciate that that is a point of view, but it was
not one that was strongly heard when we were carrying out the review.

Lord Brown of Eaton-under-Heywood: Liberty’s witness sought to rationalise the desire to
reintroduce the Secretary of State’s final say on the basis that there would be cases where
there was a lot of confidential, secret knowledge about what is going on in some particular
country that would be impossible or, at any rate, extremely difficult to get before a court on
a final human rights challenge.

Anand Doobay: We considered that, because we assumed that the courts deal with these
situations ordinarily all the time in terms of confidential —

Lord Brown of Eaton-under-Heywood: | am not saying | agree with it, but that is the way
they put it. That is something you did actually have regard to.

Anand Doobay: Yes.

Q20 Baroness Hamwee: You mention the training of lawyers and international
communication between judges towards the end of your report. Listening to you comment
about the very different systems, particularly in Poland, | wonder if this is desirable but
unachievable. Did you have any specific ideas that you felt perhaps were beyond the brief?
Sir Scott Baker: The Government’s view on this was that this was a matter for the legal
profession and the judiciary.

Baroness Hamwee: Which you said yourselves.

Sir Scott Baker: Any talking is better than no talking in this territory. One only has to look at
the degree of communication that goes on between the legal systems of England, Scotland,
Northern Ireland and, indeed, southern Ireland. If one could only achieve something like
that on a Europe-wide basis, a lot of these problems might go away. There are obvious
difficulties such as culture, language and cost. However, | was wondering what steps might
be taken now. | see there is a new chairwoman of what used to be called the

Judicial Studies Board. Lady Justice Rafferty has just been appointed to that. | do not see
why this is not something they could take on board and see what can be arranged. The
European Commission also ought to be pushed to do something in this direction.
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Baroness Hamwee: Did you take evidence on this area? | should have looked to check.

Sir Scott Baker: Do you know?

Anand Doobay: Yes, we took evidence on the training issue. Most people agreed that it
would be a sensible thing to do. The judges certainly thought it would be useful to have
practitioners who were expert in the area, who were able to help them more and who
would help cases be dealt with more efficiently. We were recommending that legal aid not
be means tested. As a quid pro quo, we thought it was fair enough that lawyers who wanted
to engage in that type of work should therefore be adequately trained so that they were
experts in the area.

At a European level, the Parliament earlier this year was still calling for the Commission to
set up a European Arrest Warrant judicial network and a network of defence lawyers, and to
fund it adequately at Commission level. That is probably the level at which we need to do it,
because, while the UK has made bilateral efforts to bring some Polish judges to the UK, it
requires more of a co-ordinated and systematic approach to have regular communication
and communication channels to have any real impact.

Q21 Lord Rowlands: | read the interesting exchange the panel had with Lord Justice
Thomas. He seemed to be very pessimistic in the context of the European Arrest Warrant.
He said at one point, “This all presupposes a kind of mutual confidence and common
standards that actually do not exist”. Later on he said, “We have mechanisms put in place
without unfortunately having brought the judges up to speed”. You did not share that
pessimism at that time, | gather.

Sir Scott Baker: He is still very keen to achieve the greater degree of co-operation, but he
foresaw the difficulties, because he had quite a lot of dealings with various individuals in
different parts of Europe.

Anand Doobay: Building trust is still an issue we are facing. We are talking about training in
communication, which is one thing, but engendering trust so that judges in one Member
State believe that another Member State has the same standards and the same processes
and the same fair-trial procedures is a very different thing. We still have a long way to go to
achieve that at EU level. In terms of conditions of detention, for example, there are findings
before the European Convention on Human Rights that Italy is in systemic violation of its
prison conditions, which means that extraditions are being refused to Italy from the UK.
That is unlikely to engender trust between the UK judges and Italy. There are significant
issues about the systems within individual Member States that would need to be dealt with.
Lord Rowlands: In finding 7, you said an effective European Arrest Warrant system “is likely
to bring in its wake improvements in the administration of justice in the single

European area”. Are there any signs of this happening?

Sir Scott Baker: Not enough.

Anand Doobay: There are some very concerning things that are not happening. As well as
the European Arrest Warrant framework decision, there were a number of other mutual
recognition measures that were supposed to go with it. For example, they would make the
system of transferring fines easier between Member States; they would make the system of
transferring probation sentences easier between Member States; and, really significantly,
there was the system of Eurobail, which would mean you could be bailed from one country
to your home country, subject to conditions.

The problem is, while the EAW has been implemented effectively and with a great deal of
zeal in most Member States and is being very well used, many of these other measures have
either not been implemented at all or, if they have been implemented, are simply not being
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used, which is partly about lack of familiarity—i.e. the people at the coalface, dealing with
it—and is partly about a lack of willpower. If you look at the European supervision order, for
example, there are still 16 Member States that have not implemented it even though the
deadline for implementation was the end of 2012, and the UK is one of them.

It is fine to talk about the European Arrest Warrant, but if you do not have these other
measures that are supposed to complement it, you end up with a system where everyone
resorts, as a measure of first resort, to the European Arrest Warrant, rather than trying
other alternatives that are less coercive. You have somebody who is sentenced to probation,
but their probation sentence cannot be transferred, so they fail to do it; they then have a
sentence of custody imposed and then they have a European Arrest Warrant imposed.
There is still a great deal to be achieved at EU level in terms of ensuring that these other
measures are actually implemented effectively and used.

Q22 The Chairman: Are there any measures that we are not proposing to opt back in to?
As | gather, we are likely, according to the newspapers, to opt back in to the 35 measures or
whatever it is. Are there any measures that we have declined to opt back in to that you
think are crucial to the working of this general area of the law?

Anand Doobay: Yes, there is the framework decision on probation and alternative
sanctions, which we have indicated we are not minded to opt back in to. There has been a
lot of criticism of that decision by the House of Commons Justice Committee and lots of
other committees have reported that this is not a sensible thing to do. My understanding,
however, is that the Government’s current position is that they are not minded to opt back
into that.

The example | have just given you explains why that is difficult: because the idea is to make
these things transportable. If someone is prosecuted in Italy but they do not live in Italy and
they are sentenced to probation, ordinarily they would want to go back to the UK, where
they live, to carry out their probation sentence. Otherwise, how do they have somewhere to
live? How do they have a job? If you do not have this working effectively, they will not be
able to do that. If they do not perform their probation, they will have a sentence of custody
imposed and a European Arrest Warrant issued.

The Chairman: The other thought that occurred to me—we were talking about this in the
context of European/UK relationships—was that we have also spent a lot of time talking
about US/UK problems. Are you happy that this kind of dialogue that is going on between
ourselves and the various elements involved in the US is moving in the right direction, as it
were?

Sir Scott Baker: It is difficult to know precisely what has been happening since the McKinnon
case. | do not know, Anand, if you have any more knowledge than | have, but the American
authorities were certainly receptive, helpful and keen to make things work

Anand Doobay: There is a great deal of dialogue between the UK and the US, not least
because there are many cases that involve both countries: for example, the LIBOR cases and
the foreign-currency trading cases. There are all sorts of cases that involve co-operation
between the two countries. | am not sure at what level the communication rises above the
case. There are obviously very specific communications about these cases. | am not sure
whether there is a broader discussion going on about the overall extradition relationship.
The Chairman: We are getting to the end of the questions we had prepared for you, but |
would like to ask the Members of the Committee if there is anything anybody else would
like to ask. Are there any points you would like to raise?

74



Rt Hon. Sir Scott Baker and Anand Doobay — Oral evidence (QQ | —23)

Q23 Lord Brown of Eaton-under-Heywood: | just wondered about the new provisions 12(a)
and 21(b), the provisions about an absence of a prosecution decision and a request for
temporary transfer. In practice, are they having any impact? | take it they are now in force.
Are they in force?

Anand Doobay: They are not in force.

Lord Brown of Eaton-under-Heywood: They are not yet in force. Forgive me. Are they
promising advantages for the future or not?

Anand Doobay: | certainly think about the temporary transfer that it will depend on how
much it is used in practice. It is a very good idea. We thought in the report that the ideal
scenario would be that in the pre-trial phase you would remain on bail in your home
country, making your appearances by video link and then only attending the trial when you
needed to in person. This mechanism of temporary transfer would give you that ability,
albeit within the European Arrest Warrant framework. However, again, my concern is
whether, in reality, it will be used in practice. It requires the consent of the issuing Member
State. It is whether, in practice, people will actually make use of it. | am sure many
defendants would wish to use it, but it is whether the other country will agree to it.

Sir Scott Baker: Again, it is a question of education, if we can achieve it. The bottom line
with the EAW is that it would be a great pity if the baby was flushed out with the bathwater.
a lot of progress could be made.

The Chairman: Finally, before formally thanking you both, is there anything either of you
would like to say to us that you think it is important we hear that we have not touched on?
Sir Scott Baker: We have covered most things.

The Chairman: All | can say to both of you is thank you very, very much indeed. It has been,
so to speak, personally very helpful indeed. Thank you.

Sir Scott Baker: We look forward to reading your report; we hope it is not as long as ours.
The Chairman: So do I.
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Written Submission to the House of Lords Extradition Committee 12" September 2014

Introduction

| am one of the so-called ‘NatWest Three’, extradited to Texas in July 2006. | am not a
lawyer but would hope that my personal experience on the subject matter at hand gives the
following evidence some weight. In that regard:

1. Prior to extradition in 2006, | was heavily involved in efforts by the Conservatives and
Liberal Democrats to introduce a ‘forum’ amendment to the Extradition Act. | wrote
numerous briefs for MPs and Peers during the passage of the Police & Justice Bill,
which efforts continued after my extradition.

2. | have direct knowledge of the workings of the US criminal justice system.

3. | have direct knowledge of the US penal system, having spent time incarcerated in 5
separate institutions there.

4. | have direct knowledge of the workings of Convention on the Transfer of Sentenced
Persons, having been repatriated to the UK from America in late 2008.

5. 1 have extensive knowledge of most of the high profile US extradition cases since
2004, as | regularly give help and advice to people facing extradition to the US.

6. | have given oral and written evidence to the Joint Committee on Human Rights (see
http://www.parliamentlive.tv/Main/Player.aspx?meetingld=7722 )

7. | have given oral and written evidence to the Home Affairs Select Committee (see
http://news.bbc.co.uk/democracylive/hi/house of commons/newsid 9674000/9674227.st
m)

8. I made a detailed written submission to the Scott Baker review, although | was not
called to give oral evidence.

9. Il wrote a book about our case which includes extensive commentary on the practical
workings of the Extradition Act, the politics behind it, and the impact that it has on
those on the receiving end of it. http://www.amazon.co.uk/A-Price-Pay-David-
Bermingham/dp/1492890170

10. I regularly give keynote talks at business conferences about the practical aspects of
US long arm enforcement, and how the US authorities go about their business.

This note focuses exclusively on the UK'’s extradition arrangements with the US, on
which the Committee has already taken certain oral evidence. | would be most happy to give
oral evidence to the Committee if called, and | believe | have something to contribute to the
process.

Executive Summary

This note deals with three specific areas within the purview of the Committee:

1. The practical consequences of the Treaty imbalance
2. The hard realities of the US criminal justice system
3. The ‘forum’ amendment
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Members of the Committee should be in no doubt that the almost certain consequences
of extradition to the US are a plea bargain and consequent conviction. The current system
not only permits but encourages aggressive US prosecutors to seek the extradition of people
who may never have set foot in America, safe in the knowledge that conviction is all but
assured, irrespective of the merits of the case.

The lack of any requirement for a US prosecutor to support a request for extradition
with any evidence effectively means that we are subjecting our citizens to a regime in which
accusation becomes guilt, and all concepts of innocence until proven guilty, let alone habeas
corpus, are entirely eradicated. It is incredibly difficult to understand why Parliamentarians
continue to support this situation, given that the first duty of any Government should be the
protection of its own citizens, something which all other countries (including most notably
America) seem to understand.

The extent of the one-sided nature of the arrangements and their advantages to US
prosecutors is perhaps best demonstrated by the zeal with which the American embassy has
lobbied over the last few years to maintain the status quo even when successive
Parliamentary Committees have urged meaningful change.

Practical Consequences of the Treaty Imbalance

There are three most obvious consequences of the imbalance in the Treaty, which
permits US prosecutors to request extraditions of UK citizens without the need for any
evidence.

1. Anincrease and imbalance in the volume of extradition requests by US prosecutors.

2. A wholly disproportionate number of requests for the extradition of UK citizens, many of
whom have never previously set foot in America.

3. Agrowing tendency by UK prosecutors to ‘outsource’ our criminal justice system by
encouraging the US to prosecute a case which demonstrably belongs in the UK.

Increase and imbalance in the volume of US extradition requests

Home Office statistics reveal a significant rise in the number of requests from America
after the coming into force of the Extradition Act on 1 January 2004. During the period to 30
June 2014, there have been a total of 173 requests, as against 65 requests in the other
direction.

Disproportionate number of requests for the extradition of UK citizens.

Over the last few years, the supporters of the Treaty have argued that as America has
roughly five times the population of the UK, it is quite logical that it should make more
extradition requests of the UK than the UK makes of it. Indeed in her evidence to this
Committee Ms Amy Jeffress ran this argument, much as the US embassy had done to the
Scott Baker Review team, who dealt with the matter at paragraph 7.85 of the review:
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There has been some comment about the respective numbers of extraditions
between the United States and the United Kingdom. The United States has a
population about five times the size of the United Kingdom. However, the United
States has less than twice as many people extradited to it than the United Kingdom.
Therefore, the difference in population would be one factor that would suggest that
the United States would have more people extradited to it.

There might be some force to this argument but for an analysis of the nationality of those
whose extradition is sought.

To support the argument, the US should logically be seeking the extradition of US
nationals from the UK, because they are five times more populous, which would then justify
the difference in overall numbers of requests, as explained by Sir Scott Baker above.

On the contrary, however, Home Office statistics show that the US most routinely
requests the extradition of UK citizens. In the period 1 January 2004 to 30 June 2014, 73 out
of 173 people whose extradition to the US was sought were UK citizens, or 42% of all
extradition requests. By contrast, only 40 (23%) were US citizens.

In the opposite direction, the ratio is reversed. The UK pursues the extradition of very
few US citizens (only 10 out of a total of 65, or 15%, in the period January 2004 to June
2014), and largely concentrates on its own (32 out of 65, or 49%).

In other words, whilst the US may have five times as many citizens as the UK, apparently
the vast majority of the criminals are British (accounting for an aggregate of 105 requests),
and very few are American (50). Some people might regard this as a little odd, and it
certainly does not support the conclusion reached by Sir Scott Baker’s panel. Quite the
contrary, in fact.

Attached at Appendix 1 is the Freedom of Information Request that provides the above
statistics.

Outsourcing of the UK Criminal Justice System

There have been a significant number of cases where the UK authorities not only had
jurisdiction to bring a case, but on any sensible analysis of the case most definitely should
have done if there were any evidence to support it. The case of the NatWest Three was
probably the first of such cases, but there have been many since, some truly shocking.

Perhaps the most egregious example was the case of Babar Ahmad and Syed Talha
Ahsan, extradited in October 2012 on the same plane as Abu Hamza and two other terrorist
suspects (with whom Ahmad and Ahsan had absolutely no connection, other than in the
eyes of Home Secretary Theresa May).

Ahmad and Ahsan were charged with running websites at the turn of the last century and

through to the middle of 2002 which incited violent jihad in Chechnya and Afghanistan.
Neither man had ever been to America. The only nexus with America was that one of the
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websites was temporarily hosted on a server based in Connecticut, and that the men had
been in receipt of an unsolicited e-mail from a US citizen attaching a classified US document
(with which they did nothing).

The Metropolitan Police had found no basis to charge the men, after arresting Ahmad at
his home in December 2003 and seizing his home and work computers and large amounts of
documentary material. During the course of the arrest Ahmad sustained very serious
injuries for which he was eventually awarded £60,000 in compensation by the police. Having
been released without charge in December 2003, Ahmad made a complaint to the
Metropolitan Police Complaints Authority about the assault during his arrest. In August
2004, he was re-arrested on an extradition warrant from the US, after the Met had sent all
of the materials that they had seized from him to America. Ahsan was arrested in
connection with the same allegations in 2006.

After their extradition in 2012, having spent many years incarcerated in the UK pending
extradition, the two men were held in solitary confinement in a Supermax prison in
Connecticut, in conditions described by the US public defenders’ office as horrific and
inhuman, before finally entering into a plea bargain on one count of providing material
support to terrorism.

At sentencing in July of this year, the judge was at great pains to say that she saw no
terrorist tendencies whatsoever in either of the men, whom she described as being
fundamentally good people. She sentenced Ahsan to time served (he returned to the UK a
few weeks ago), and Ahmad to a further 13 months incarceration (the US was seeking a
sentence of 25 years).

Most recently, the Libor fixing cases have produced some examples of the US charging
British citizens (resident in Britain) in cases which have no obvious connections whatsoever

with the US, and with the full concurrence of the UK authorities.

The Hard Realities of the US Criminal Justice System

The iniquities of our extradition arrangements with the US are only properly understood
by reference to the practical workings of the US criminal justice system. The Committee has
already highlighted certain areas of concern such as excessive use of plea bargaining, and
elected judges.

It would be wrong to say that all US prosecutors or judges are bad people. This would be
a preposterous statement. But no more preposterous than blindly assuming that all US
prosecutors and judges are good people, which is what our extradition arrangements do.

Our extradition courts take it on trust that what is contained in a prosecutor’s affidavit or
charging document is true. They take it on trust that if extradited to the US, a defendant will
receive a fair trial before an impartial jury. And they do this largely because the US has
strong constitutional protections that are designed to guarantee both of these assumptions.
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Regrettably, life just isn’t like that. Human nature isn’t like that. There are bad people
working for the Department of Justice just as there are in the police force and almost all
other walks of life. It would be nice to think that we had some checks and balances against
such people before carting our citizens off to the other side of the world in chains to be
incarcerated in some hellhole prison pre-trial, but seemingly we do not feel this is necessary,
and that strikes me as a dereliction of Parliament’s duty to protect its citizens.

By way of example, | believe that the Committee should read the following recent report
(March 2014) from the US Project on Government Oversight, citing the Department of
Justice’s own internal investigations unit the Office of Professional Responsibility, which has
released statistics showing that literally hundreds of prosecutors have engaged in abusive
behaviour.

http://www.pogo.org/our-work/reports/2014/hundreds-of-justice-attorneys-violated-
standards.html

As the report states, the violations include instances in which attorneys who have a duty
to uphold justice have, according to the internal affairs office, misled courts, withheld
evidence that could have helped defendants, abused prosecutorial and investigative power,
and violated constitutional rights.

One of the most egregious examples was the prosecution and conviction of Senator Ted
Stevens, which cost one of the Senate’s longest serving members his seat, and altered the
balance of power in the Senate. The prosecutorial abuse might have gone undiscovered had
it not been for a whistle-blower inside the FBI, and a judge in the case who diligently and
tenaciously uncovered what had been going on (witness tampering, withholding patently
exculpatory material and other violations). He was so incensed that he ordered a criminal
investigation into the prosecutors, one of whom subsequently committed suicide. Senator
Stevens’ conviction was overturned, but by then he had narrowly lost his seat in the Senate.

If members of the Committee are interested in the subject matter, | would recommend
the book Licensed to Lie by Texas defense Attorney Sidney Powell, which deals in detail not
just with the Stevens case, but also the conduct of the Enron prosecutions, in which Ms
Powell labels accusations of gross abuse not just at the prosecutors, but at the presiding
judge who in her view routinely turned a blind eye to clear examples of prosecutorial abuse.
See http://www.amazon.co.uk/Licensed-Lie-Exposing-Corruption-
Department/dp/1612541496

Indeed, former Enron CEO Jeff Skilling (convicted in 2006 and sentenced to 24 years in
prison) eventually agreed in 2013 to drop a motion alleging gross prosecutorial abuse in
return for the prosecutors not opposing him being resentenced to 14 years, which would
see him released from prison in 2017.

It must be reasonable to assume that if the DoJ’s own internal investigations unit have

uncovered this amount of abusive behaviour, then the true scale of the problem is likely to
be larger, since many more cases of abuse have almost certainly not been discovered.

80


http://www.pogo.org/our-work/reports/2014/hundreds-of-justice-attorneys-violated-standards.html
http://www.pogo.org/our-work/reports/2014/hundreds-of-justice-attorneys-violated-standards.html
http://www.amazon.co.uk/Licensed-Lie-Exposing-Corruption-Department/dp/1612541496
http://www.amazon.co.uk/Licensed-Lie-Exposing-Corruption-Department/dp/1612541496

David Bermingham — Written evidence (EXL0052)

During the time that | was in Texas post extradition, there was a very public example of
prosecutorial abuse in the case of several students at Duke University who were accused of
raping a stripper at a frat house party in 2006. The conduct of the case by District Attorney
Mike Nifong led to his removal from office and disbarment.

As noted above, the fact that there are bad people working in the Department of Justice,
and judges who may condone or turn a blind eye to their behaviour, does not mean that all
prosecutors or judges are bad, but it should give us paus for thought, and in particular when
it comes to sacrificing the liberty of our citizens on the word of a prosecutor, it should give
us cause to consider some checks and balances.

The most notable such checks and balances would be a restoration of the requirement
for a evidence (called for by the Home Affairs Select Committee in their March 2012 Report)
and the introduction of a sensible and workable forum provision (ditto).

It is not just corrupt prosecutors that we need to protect ourselves from, however.
Prosecutors make honest mistakes too. A classic example would be the case of Lotfi Raissi, a
man of Algerian extraction living in the UK at the time of 9/11, and whose extradition was
sought by the US shortly thereafter on allegations that he had trained the 9/11 pilots. As the
case pre-dated the Extradition Act 2003, the US was required to submit evidence in support
of its allegations at the magistrates hearing on extradition.

The prosecutors could not, as it turned out, because Raissi was wholly innocent, and a
video that the US produced which purported to show Raissi with one of the hijackers was in
fact a video of Raissi with his cousin at a barbeque.

The presiding magistrate, District Judge Timothy Workman, testified to the Home Affairs
Committee in November 2005 that if the case had been brought under the 2003 Act, where
no evidence was required, he would almost certainly have been powerless to prevent the
extradition.

Judge Workman also presided over the later case of Babar Ahmad, conducted under the
new Extradition Act, which he described as ‘deeply troubling’, because it so clearly belonged
in the UK, and yet he was indeed powerless to prevent it because there was no evidential
requirement and no forum provision in the legislation. This is a chilling thought, given the
recent experiences of Messrs Ahmad and Ahsan in US custody, even eleven years after 9/11
when much of the heat and righteous fury of America has perhaps being drawn from the
subject matter.

The Committee has taken oral evidence from Amy Jeffress, formerly the Department of
Justice Legal Attaché to the US embassy in London, and Roger Burlingame, formerly a
Federal Prosecutor. Both have attested to the constitutional protections offered by the US
criminal justice system, and in the case of Mr Burlingame to the practicalities of reaching
charging decisions and discussions between prosecutors where there is concurrent
jurisdiction. Both would have the Committee believe that there is no cause for concern.
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| beg to differ. Mr Burlingame in particular managed inadvertently to highlight many
aspects of the practice of bringing prosecutions in the US on which the Committee should
have serious concern.

Agreeing that the rate of plea bargains in the Federal system in America is in the high
nineties percent, Mr Burlingame was at pains to attribute this statistic to the rigorous
standards set by US prosecutors when making charging decisions, indicating that
prosecutors in the US indict only on a ‘guilty beyond reasonable doubt’ standard. With
respect to Mr Burlingame, this is palpable nonsense, for a variety of reasons.

The first is that it is belied by the evidence of prosecutorial abuse described above. The
second is that the case of Lotfi Raissi demonstrates that prosecutors have a habit of
charging first and endeavouring to find evidence later. The third is that the sentencing judge
in Ahmad and Ahsan ridiculed the prosecution theory (which was the central plank of their
extradition) that the defendants were engaged in a conspiracy to murder US citizens. The
fourth is that the Innocence Project in the US exists largely because there are so many
innocent people in prison in the US.

Beyond the above, however, the legal process of charging itself is worth examination
because it does not exactly scream ‘checks and balances’:

The Federal Grand Jury is a panel comprised of up to 23 and no less than 16 members of
the public, whose job it is to review a case produced by a prosecutor to determine whether,
in their view, there is “probable cause” of an offence. This panel, which sits secretly and will
likely hear only the prosecutor’s side of the case, involves no judicial scrutiny whatsoever.
The defendant has no rights, can produce no evidence, and indeed may not even be aware
that the proceedings are happening. Mr Burlingame has attested to all of the above.

To that extent, it is widely regarded as a rubber stamp, the plaything of the prosecutor,
and rarely comes up with an answer other than “a true bill”, meaning that the indictment
(the charging document) can be brought against the defendant. The defendant has no rights
in the Grand Jury proceedings, and indeed may not even be aware that they are happening.
In 1985, Sol Wachtler, former chief judge of New York's court of appeals, was quoted as
saying that a determined prosecutor could get a Grand Jury to "indict a ham sandwich.”

If that were not bad enough, however, even an indictment is not required in order for a
US prosecutor to bring an extradition case. He can do so on the basis of a criminal
complaint, which as Mr Burlingame explained is a much more informal version of the
charge, dispensing with the need for a grand jury, and simply asking a magistrate to sign a
piece of paper.

Mr Burlingame was asked by the Committee why a prosecutor would use this route
rather than opt for an indictment. Historically, in fact, a criminal complaint would be used
where there was a real risk of flight, and the possibility of the defendant becoming aware
that a grand jury was sitting in contemplation of an indictment, and fleeing the jurisdiction.
And yet criminal complaints are now absolutely standard practice across a whole variety of
cases, but in particular white collar cases, because (as Mr Burlingame hinted) they give the
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prosecutor leverage over a defendant before any charges become formal, and this is an
absolutely critical feature of the modern US criminal justice system, which is all about threat
and bargain, and largely explains why so few cases ever make it to trial. It works as follows:

In a white collar case, the standard prosecutorial position is to allege a conspiracy, which
by definition involves more than one person. Prosecutors do this for two reasons. The first is
that having a co-operating witness for the prosecution is close to being a guarantee of
conviction at trial, and defendants and their lawyers know it, irrespective of the merits of
the case. The second reason, which is linked to the first, is that by alleging a conspiracy, the
prosecutor can then engage in game theory, using what is called ‘the prisoner’s dilemma’,
which in effect means that they will approach a potential target, and offer him either
immunity or a massively reduced sentence if he agrees to plead guilty to something and give
evidence against others. But if he does not accept this, then they will move on to one of the
others with the same proposition, such that the first person now becomes the hunted
rather than the hunter.

And this is where the criminal complaint comes in handy. As an informal charge, it does
not appear on any Federal statistics in the way that an indictment does (an indictment will
have a specific Federal judge assigned to the case, and so becomes a statistic). So the
prosecutor can use it as leverage to get the first witness to turn, because he can see a
charging document, but the prosecutor is at liberty either to rip it up, or turn it into an
indictment.

In reality, therefore, the criminal complaint is now a standard tool for prosecutors to
coerce co-operation out of witnesses or potential defendants.

A criminal complaint has been used in many of the UK extradition cases. Our case began
with a criminal complaint, but back in 2006 we had no idea as to how the game was played,
and that what the prosecutors were really doing was sending us a message that they
wanted our co-operation against Enron officers. Our failure to play by the prosecutors rules
ensured that the one count complaint would be turned into a seven count indictment,
therefore increasing the sentencing penalty from five to thirty five years.

A good example of how the flexible criminal complaint can be used was the case of
Richard O’Dwyer, whose extradition was sought on allegations of copyright infringement.
Because the case had never been indicted, Mr O’Dwyer’s attorneys were able to negotiate a
deferred prosecution agreement which saw him pay a sum of money and promise to be
good, in return for which the charges against him would be withdrawn. This would have
been significantly more difficult if the case had been indicted.

In the Libor fixing scandal, the man allegedly at the epicentre of the global conspiracy is
an Englishman called Tom Hayes, who used to work for a Swiss bank in Tokyo trading Yen
swaps. Mr Hayes was charged by the US in December 2012 using a criminal complaint. The
SFO charged him in the UK shortly thereafter, causing no small angst in the corridors of the
Dol in Washington. Some two years later, the criminal complaint is still outstanding, and Mr
Hayes has never been formally indicted.
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Prosecutors use the threat of a multi-count indictment (and potentially hundreds of years
in prison as a consequence of conviction) to secure plea bargains and co-operation
agreements from people who may be entirely innocent. With a co-operating witness,
potentially complex white collar cases (which are difficult to try because juries have trouble
understanding voluminous documentary cases) become much simpler for prosecutors,
because if forced to go to trial they will rely much more on their witness, who is primed to
remember whatever suits the prosecution, and who will already have admitted his own
‘culpability’, thereby rendering them far more powerful as a witness.

The above is at least partially responsible for the plea bargain rate of over 97% in Federal
cases, which knocks Stalinist Russia and China into a cocked hat. When Mr Burlingame told
the Committee that prosecutors will only indict a case where they are sure of a conviction, |
found myself agreeing with him, therefore, but perhaps not in the way that he would
imagine.

The Committee should take note of the US prison statistics that show that the US
incarcerates more people both in absolute terms (2.3 million) and per head of population
(nearly 800 per 100,000) than any other country on earth. The US has roughly a quarter of
the entire world’s prisoners, despite having only five percent of its population.

To put it in perspective, if the UK were to incarcerate the same proportion of its
population we would have half a million people in prison, as opposed to below ninety
thousand which is the current historically high level of UK incarceration.

Once extradited, the overwhelming likelihood is that a UK citizen will be incarcerated in a
Federal Detention Center. Mr Burlingame explained why this was the likely outcome and |
agree with his analysis, particularly with respect to flight risk which tends to be
determinative.

Federal Detention Centers are grim places which will ensure that the pressure to enter
into a plea bargain is significantly increased, as if the pressures were not high enough
already. Costs of taking a case to trial in a US court can run into millions of dollars, none of
which is recoverable even if you are found not guilty.

The prosecutor holds all of the cards, therefore. He can negotiate a plea agreement that
effectively locks in your sentence without any input from a judge (we entered into exactly
such a plea agreement, over which the judge is just a rubber stamp). And if he is dealing
with an extradited person, he has the ace card up his sleeve which is repatriation, because
he has it within his power to stop any repatriation if a person goes to trial and loses. So a
prosecutor will regularly tell a defendant that if he agrees to a plea bargain he will support
early repatriation, and if he doesn’t then he will seek the maximum sentence on conviction
and oppose any application for repatriation, which will inevitably be determinative because
of the way the process works.

To re-iterate, therefore. Our extradition arrangements expose our citizens to this system
with absolutely no checks and balances whatsoever. It remains incomprehensible to me all
these years later why successive Governments are willing to allow this, other than through a
collective failure of moral courage.
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I would finally observe this on the topic. If the Committee is minded to accept Mr
Burlingame’s testimony as to the evidential rigour that precedes a US charging decision,
then it should surely be very straightforward for the US to provide sufficient of this evidence
to satisfy a UK extradition court that there is a case to answer. It would produce no delay in
the extradition proceedings because the timetable for Category 2 countries is the same
whether they are required to produce evidence or not. Given that the US Constitution
requires a probable cause hearing in such circumstances, | have always found it odd that the
US is so against the concept of reciprocity.

The Forum Amendment

The forum bar recently incorporated into the Extradition Act 2003 is a dog’s breakfast. It
is extremely long, complicated, prescriptive as to what may be considered in the interests of
justice, and horribly skewed against defendants. Mr Doobay’s observations to the
Committee on 8™ July on his fears about the prosecutor’s certificate were well founded in
my view.

It is difficult to escape the conclusion that the Home Secretary, faced with a mountain of
evidence that a forum bar was necessary (see for instance the March 2012 Report of the
Home Affairs Select Committee) asked her civil servants to concoct something that would
enable her to say she had dealt with the issue whilst in fact ensuring that the status quo
would remain, allowing the US to extradite whoever it would wish to.

Attached as Appendix 2 hereto is the written submission that | made to the Home Affairs
Committee in December 2011 on the subject matter, which was in effect a critique of the
Baker Review on matters including but not limited to forum. | believe that the vast majority
of the subject matter remains relevant to this Committee and | would urge the Committee
to read this note, not least because the Home Affairs Select Committee seemed to agree
with most of what is in it, and their recommendations in their report of March 2012 largely
mirrored my own thoughts. Perhaps my biggest criticism of the Baker Review is that the
panel did not take evidence from one single person who had either been the subject of
extradition or involved in the defence of these people, or who defends criminal cases in the
US. Their witnesses were almost exclusively Government and prosecutorial authority
representatives, and this seems to have coloured their views very significantly on matters
including forum.

What the Home Office has implemented by way of a forum bar now effectively enables a
UK prosecutor to ensure that the court cannot have any deliberation on forum by
presenting the magistrates court with a certificate. In theory, the matter can be challenged
on appeal in the High Court, but since automatic appeal rights have also now been curtailed,
the practical consequence of a prosecutor’s certificate is likely to be that forum can never
be discussed at all.

The lunacy of this provision is that the new provision runs to literally pages of legislation,
when the provision that it replaced (which was never brought into effect) ran to eight lines,
and the original proposal put forward by the Conservatives and Liberal Democrats in 2006
ran to just four lines.
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Indeed, every single member of the current cabinet that was then in Parliament,
including Prime Minister, Deputy Prime Minister, Attorney General and Home Secretary,
together with the current Immigration Minister James Brokenshire MP, was involved in an
attempt in 2006 to introduce an infinitely simpler forum bar, which would actually have had
some meaningful impact.

Attached at Appendix 3 is an extract from the Commons Standing Committee Meeting of
28 March 2006, during the Passage of the Police & Justice Bill. The Conservatives and Liberal
Democrats joined forces to try to introduce a forum bar which incorporated the simple
presumption that if a trial could take place in the UK, then it should take place in the UK, and
that it would be for the requesting state to demonstrate why extradition would be
preferable. The wording of the entire clause was as follows:

If the conduct disclosed by the request was committed partly in the United
Kingdom, the judge shall not order the extradition of the person unless it appears,
in the light of all the circumstances, that it would be in the interests of justice that
the person should be tried in the category [1 or 2] territory

The proposed amendments were rejected at Committee stage by the Labour majority,
and then again in the latter stages of the Bill, becoming highly contentious in October and
November 2006 because the Lords insisted on the amendments and the Labour Majority in
the Commons consistently rejected them. Eventually Mr Cameron ordered his Peers to
abstain so that the Parliament Act would not have to be invoked, much to the disgust of the
Liberal Democrats.

The Commons Hansard from 24 October and 6 November 2006 reveals that every single
member of the current Cabinet that was then in Parliament voted in favour of the very
simple forum formulation that appears above. It is puzzling as to why these same people
should now be in favour of something so ludicrously complex that demonstrably provides no
substantive protections whatsoever for defendants and constrains a judge in what he may
consider as being in the interest of justice, even assuming that a prosecutor allows the judge
to consider the matter at all.

Whilst early days, it seems unlikely that many if any cases will be defeated on forum
grounds.

12 September 2014
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Appendix 1

International and Immigration Policy Group
2 Marsham Street

Home Office London SW1P 4DF

Tel: 020 7035 4848(switchboard)
www.homeoffice.gov.uk

David Bermingham

Our Ref: 32460

12 September 2014

Dear Mr Bermingham,
YOUR REQUEST FOR INFORMATION IN RELATION TO UK-US EXTRADITION

Thank you for your email of 31 July 2014, in which you ask for information regarding
extradition between the UK and the US. Your request has been handled as a request for
information under the Freedom of Information Act 2000 (“the Act”). | am sorry for the
delay in replying.

We are able to disclose the information requested, which is set out in the enclosed annex.

If you are dissatisfied with this response you may request an independent internal
review of our handling of your request by submitting a complaint within two months to
the address below, quoting reference 32460.

Information

Access Team

Home Office

Ground Floor, Seacole
Building 2 Marsham
Street

London SW1P 4DF

e-mail: info.access@homeoffice.gsi.gov.uk

As part of any internal review the Department's handling of your information request will
be reassessed by colleagues who were not involved in providing you with this response.
If you remain dissatisfied after this internal review, you would have a right of complaint
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to the Information Commissioner as established by section 50 of the Fol Act.

If you ask for an internal review, it would be helpful if you could say why you are
dissatisfied with the response.

Yours sincerely,

Amanda Shiels
International and Immigration Policy Group

Annex - Freedom of Information request from David Bermingham (reference 32460)

You have requested the following information:

1. Since 1 Jan 2004, how many requests have been made by the US for the
extradition of persons from the UK?

2. Of the numbers in 1 above, above, how many of the persons whose
extradition were requested were UK citizens?

3. Of the numbers in 1 above, how many of the persons whose extradition
was requested were US citizens?

4, Since 1 Jan 2004, how many requests have been made by the UK for the
extradition of persons from the US?

5. Of the numbers in 4 above, above, how many of the persons whose
extradition were requested were UK citizens?

6. Of the numbers in 4 above, how many of the persons whose extradition

was requested were US citizens?

Information

As a person’s nationality has never been a bar to extradition between the UK and the US,
the nationality of the person whose extradition was sought was not, before 2010, always
recorded.

The information provided reflects this qualification.

Q1: Between 1 January 2004 and 30 June 2014, 173 extradition requests have been made
by the US to the UK.

Q2: Of those 173 requests, there have been 73 requests from the US for the extradition of
known UK citizens.

Q3: Of those 173 requests, there have been 40 requests from the US for the extradition of
known US citizens.

Q4: Between 1 January 2004 and 30 June 2014, 65 extradition requests have been made
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by the UK to the US.

Q5: Of those 65 requests, there have been 32 requests made to the US for the extradition
of known UK citizens.

Q6: Of those 65 requests, there have been 10 requests made to the US for the extradition
of known US citizens

The figures above include dual British and dual American nationals.
Please note that these figures do not include Scotland. The Home Office deals with
extradition requests on behalf of England, Wales and Northern Ireland only. Scotland
deals with its own extradition cases.

Appendix 2

Appendix 2 referred to written evidence submitted by David Bermingham to House of

Commons Home Affairs Committee, The US-UK Extradition Treaty (20th Report, Session
2010-12, HC Paper 644)

Appendix 3

Appendix 3 referred to House of Commons Standing Committee D debate on 28 March 2006
(cols. 271-309) published online at
http://www.publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm200506/cmstand/d/st060328/am/60328s03.
htm
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Evidence Session No. 15 Heard in Public Questions 238 - 254

WEDNESDAY 21 JANUARY 2015

10.10 am

Members present

Lord Inglewood (Chairman)
Lord Brown of Eaton-under-Heywood
Lord Empey

Baroness Hamwee

Lord Hart of Chilton

Lord Henley

Lord Hussain

Baroness Jay of Paddington
Lord Jones

Lord Mackay of Drumadoon
Lord Rowlands CBE
Baroness Wilcox

Examination of Witness

David Bermingham

Q238 The Chairman: Good morning, Mr Bermingham. Thank you for coming to talk to us.
We appreciate your doing so. As | think | mentioned to you outside, we are interested in
knowing your experience of and feelings about being extradited, at the time and since, and
what happened subsequently in the United States. You have kindly given us quite a lot of
written material. | am sure | speak for everybody by saying we have read that, except for the
article you produced last night. It was a bit too late to get it to people in enough time to give
them an opportunity to read it. | am sure they will do so. Normally we ask witnesses
whether they would like to make an introductory statement. | do not know whether you
think that is appropriate in your case.

David Bermingham: If you would not mind, Lord Chairman, | could give you 30 seconds.
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The Chairman: If you could keep it concise, because we have quite a lot of questions, as |
think you have been alerted to. Could you begin by saying who you are so that that goes on
the record? We are obviously going to take a copy of your evidence.

David Bermingham: Yes, Lord Chairman. | am David Bermingham. Thank you very much for
inviting me to speak today. As you mentioned, you have a large amount of material from
me. My views on the subject of our extradition arrangements are well known and have been
for the last 10 years or so. | have not moved one inch from them. | think it is a bad law. |
understand that | am here today to talk about my personal experience. The significance of
the article that | sent last night is that it is very easy in situations like this for a committee to
say, “His evidence on this, that or the other is entirely self-serving”. | accept that. What was
wonderful about what | circulated last night—although obviously the Committee has not yet
had the time to read it—is that it supports in almost every material detail what | have said
about the workings of the US justice system, which is my bone of contention. It was written
by a currently serving district judge in the Southern District of New York, who is genuinely
appalled by the way their justice system has evolved over the last 20 years. | would like to
leave that out there.

Q239 The Chairman: If | might get the ball rolling, at what point of the investigations
against you was extradition raised as a possibility? What steps, if any, were made to tell you
about the process and its implications? In parallel to that, did you take steps of your own,
and if so what steps, to find out about extradition at this first point in the story?

David Bermingham: Our story is an interesting one because it spanned two different
extradition systems. When we were originally charged, which was by way of a criminal
complaint rather than indictment, we had no idea that this was coming. We had never been
interviewed or talked to by any member of the US—

The Chairman: Sorry, were you charged while in America or in the UK?
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David Bermingham: We were very much in the UK. To take half a step back, we had made
what turned out to be an extraordinarily stupid decision to go to the Financial Services
Authority and report our suspicions of a fraud at Enron in a transaction in which we had
been involved. The FSA, with our concurrence, passed all those materials to the American
authorities for them to look at. Nothing happened for nine months. The first thing we knew
about it was waking up one morning and finding ourselves having been accused of fraud on
the BBC “Breakfast” news. Now, the charges that were brought against us were an informal
charge—a thing called a criminal complaint as distinct from an indictment. The difference is
that it does not involve a grand jury. A prosecutor goes to a magistrate judge and says, “I
think these people are very bad. Please sign this piece of paper”. That is all that is required
now to commence extradition proceedings.

The Chairman: When you say you that received the charge, did someone knock on your
door in the middle of the night? Did it come through the post?

David Bermingham: No, it came on the BBC “Breakfast” news.

The Chairman: That was information about what was happening, but what happened to
you? Did you get a letter?

David Bermingham: No.

The Chairman: Anything?

David Bermingham: No. The first thing | did, after alerting my wife to the fact that | had just
been accused of fraud, was to ring our attorneys in London. We did not have any criminal
attorneys; not for one moment had we ever contemplated being involved in any kind of
criminal action. We had to hire attorneys because to go to the FSA we needed to be
represented. It was a civil matter. | was starting from scratch. The very first thing | knew was

that | had been charged with fraud, along with my two compatriots. We had to ring our
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attorneys in London and say, “What the hell just happened?”. By the time | got to London at
half past nine that morning, they had found the charging document online, which was an
American criminal complaint, and the affidavit in support of that. There never was, and to
this day never has been, any sort of proceeding against us in the UK. We were faced with an
allegation from the US Government that we had committed fraud against our own bank in
London. We sat with a bunch of lawyers in their offices in London who had no criminal
expertise at all. Luckily, one of them said, “lI need to get hold of an extradition expert,
because they could be calling for your extradition this afternoon”. They very kindly got hold
of Alun Jones QC, who had literally written the book on extradition. He sat down with us the
following morning and explained that there was little or no chance of an extradition
proceeding any time soon, and moreover that if the Americans wanted to extradite us on
these charges they would effectively have to make out a case under the Theft Act.

The Chairman: Can | just stop you so we are absolutely clear on what happened? You heard
about the issuing of the complaint in America in the way you described. At that point, you
then advised your lawyers in the UK of what was going on. Had it got as far as being
processed for extradition?

David Bermingham: No.

The Chairman: So they then said to you, “If this goes forward you may be susceptible to
being extradited. It will be some time down the line and various processes will have to be
gone through before that happens”.

David Bermingham: Correct.

The Chairman: At that point you were aware that it was a possibility, but there was no

certainty about it and you were in receipt of your own legal advice at this end.
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David Bermingham: Yes. To put that into a bit of context, at no stage were we given any
kind of advice on extradition from the authorities here in the UK or any form of
communication, one to one, from the authorities in the US.

The Chairman: Presumably at that point you had no interface with any kind of UK court
system at all, or with any prosecutors of any sort in the UK.

David Bermingham: Correct.

Lord Hart of Chilton: Nor would the authorities here have anything to do with it either.
David Bermingham: No. In fact, we are still unique in British legal history for suing the
Serious Fraud Office for refusing to investigate our case.

The Chairman: So this is the position you were in. What happened next?

David Bermingham: Then we had to engage US counsel. Our London lawyers found
independent counsel. You are required under US law to be separately represented, which
struck us as a humungous waste of money, because obviously we were all three joined at
the hip. But they made the point, not unreasonably, that in the US system people have a
habit of becoming unjoined at the hip relatively quickly when there are multiple defendants
in one case. Each of us had to find a separate US law firm to represent us. These lawyers
then got on a plane, came to the UK and said to us, “The first thing we need to do is talk to
the prosecutors to find out what they really want”.

The Chairman: The US prosecutors?

David Bermingham: Yes, exactly, bearing in mind there were no proceedings against us in
the UK.

The Chairman: Lady Wilcox, do you want to continue eliciting the story?

Q240 Baroness Wilcox: My question, which you will have received, flows from that. A lot

of what | was going to ask you is already in your written evidence. It is clear that you were
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utterly confused. | would have been. Lord knows what you and your family would have felt
at that time. | am interested in what information you were given as to how you were
supposed to proceed. Were you given a piece of paper that said, “You will receive this and
then you will do that”, from either the United States or the United Kingdom?

David Bermingham: No, neither.

Baroness Wilcox: Nothing?

David Bermingham: No.

Baroness Wilcox: Did you ask for any?

David Bermingham: As | said, the US attorneys who we instructed came to London. We sat
down with them and they said, “Procedurally, what we want to do now is to go and talk to
the prosecutors in the US and find out what it is that they really want”. That is what
happened.

Baroness Wilcox: And that is all that happened at that stage?

David Bermingham: At that stage, yes.

Baroness Wilcox: And then going forward from that?

David Bermingham: Our UK legal advice from Alun Jones was that they were very unlikely to
bring a case of extradition against us under the Extradition Act because they would need to
make out a case under the Theft Act. Conspiracy, for instance, was not extraditable prior to
1 January 2004. The affidavit in support of the prosecutor’s charges clearly made out what
sounded like a common law conspiracy. He said, “Conspiracy is not extraditable. Therefore
they’ll have to make out a case under the Theft Act”.

The Chairman: Can you give us some dates? When did this happen?

David Bermingham: Yes. This happened in June 2002.

Lord Rowlands CBE: So it predates the Extradition Act.
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David Bermingham: 1t predates the Extradition Act 2003. Our advice was, “It’s very unlikely
they’re going to come after you, because if it is hogwash, as you say it is, they’re going to
have to have evidence to support it. They’re not going to be able to make it out”. So we sat
in legal limbo for 18 months until 1 January 2004, when the new Extradition Act came into
force. Within a couple of weeks thereafter the Americans conveniently slipped in an
extradition request.

Baroness Wilcox: Were you still working at this time? Were you employed? Was everybody
retreating from you?

David Bermingham: They were running a mile. Frankly, | cannot blame them. | would have
done exactly the same.

Baroness Wilcox: Yes, but were you and your family suffering financially?

David Bermingham: Yes and no. The short answer is that we were all self-employed at the
time. We had ceased to be bankers.

Baroness Wilcox: That is fine, thank you.

Q241 Baroness Jay of Paddington: What has just been said probably answers my question.
It seems to me that you obviously took enormous personal initiative, but | had thought,
before you answered Lady Wilcox, that you were still employed and therefore you should
have gone initially to your corporate employers.

David Bermingham: That was the biggest problem we had: because we were no longer
employed there were no directors and no office insurance policy. There was nothing.
Baroness Jay of Paddington: No, but although, as you said, you were self-employed, did you
still have a contractual relationship with the bank, which | imagine would have enabled you
to ring them up and say, “For goodness sake, what’s going on? Can | talk to the lawyers?”?
David Bermingham: No. Taking half a step back, when we first went to the Financial Services

Authority in November 2001 to report our suspicions of a fraud, we were working for an
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institution called the Royal Bank of Canada. We agreed with them that we would resign at
that point. About six months previously they had been on the wrong end of an insider trader
scandal in Canada. At this stage, Enron was all over the news on a daily basis—not as a
criminal enterprise at that stage, just as a civil case. However, they did not want the
reputational risk of being associated with an SEC investigation into Enron with three of their
employees. By arrangement with the bank, we resigned. When all this blew up seven or
eight months later, we were not working for a bank.

The Chairman: Just to be clear: when you made the complaint your employer asked you to
resign.

David Bermingham: Yes, that would be the best way to put it.

The Chairman: | am not trying to put words in your mouth, | am just trying to get the story
clear in our minds.

David Bermingham: Yes.

Q242 Lord Brown of Eaton-under-Heywood: When was the extradition request made?

David Bermingham: | think it was 12 February 2004.

Lord Brown of Eaton-under-Heywood: So that was just after the test had changed from one
of prima facie evidence.

David Bermingham: Yes, so for 18 months nothing happened. Then pretty quickly thereafter
when the law changed, they—

Lord Brown of Eaton-under-Heywood: Who were your London solicitors?

David Bermingham: Our problem was originally that they were McDermott Will & Emery,
which is a big American firm with a large London presence, but they had no criminal

expertise in the UK. We had to drop them and we took on a gentleman by the name of Mark
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Spragg, who worked at the time for a company called Jeffrey Green Russell. He was a
specialist in criminal and extradition work.

Lord Brown of Eaton-under-Heywood: When did you bring proceedings against the SFO?
David Bermingham: That would have been in 2005. The first thing we did was go to the
Financial Services Authority. We said, “We don’t know if you recall, but here’s a taped and
transcribed session where you congratulated us for coming forward, telling our story and
giving you all these documents. Now, under the Financial Services and Markets Act you guys
have enormous power to prosecute crime. We are three London bankers who live and work
in the UK who are accused by a foreign Government of robbing our own bank in London.
Don’t you think you ought to take an interest in that, seeing as we brought you the materials
that you gave to the SEC, which are now being used against us?”. They put up their hands
and said, “Sorry, it’s nothing to do with us”. Then we went to the Serious Fraud Office and
said, “Look, we’ve been accused of a S7 million fraud here in London. Don’t you think that’s
within your jurisdiction? You ought to take an interest”. They said, “We're really sorry. It's
got nothing to do with us”. When they said that in writing we brought a judicial review
against them for their refusal to investigate us.

The Chairman: This took place some time after the extradition request was submitted.
David Bermingham: Yes, correct.

Lord Rowlands CBE: You said that the initial application was not expected, is that right?
David Bermingham: Yes. The initial allegation and the affidavit made out a conspiracy.
Conspiracy, prior to 1 January 2004, was not extraditable.

Lord Brown of Eaton-under-Heywood: What happened to your judicial review?

David Bermingham: |t was heard in parallel by the same court that heard the appeal on our

extradition proceedings. They dismissed it out of hand. They said that the Serious Fraud
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Office had no statutory requirement to investigate a case; if they choose not to, it is up to
them.

Lord Brown of Eaton-under-Heywood: So the Court of Appeal, at one and the same time,
approved the extradition and rejected the judicial review challenge?

David Bermingham: Yes. They were separate hearings but in parallel.

The Chairman: From our point of view, one of the interesting things that we want to be
absolutely clear about is that what you are telling us is that at no point during the
extradition aspect of this was any information given to you, from either the US or UK
authorities, about the implications of what all this entailed.

David Bermingham: No, not to the best of my knowledge.

The Chairman: So you had to rely on your own legal advisers.

David Bermingham: Yes. When the extradition request was served on us in February 2012
by arrangement or agreement with the Metropolitan Police, we turned up to be arrested at
Charing Cross police station, where each of us was presented with a large binder full of the
extradition materials that had been provided by the US to the UK to enable the warrant to
be served.

The Chairman: To probe that a tiny bit further, the police then contacted you, or somebody
prosecuted you—

David Bermingham: Yes, the extradition squad.

The Chairman: So they approached you or your lawyers and said, “We would like to arrest
these guys. Will you make sure that they turn up at a particular time and place so we can do
it?”.

David Bermingham: Yes.

99



David Bermingham — Oral evidence (QQ 238 - 254)

The Chairman: But it was not a case of somebody knocking on the door at two in the
morning?

David Bermingham: No. One of the reasons for that was that in June 2002, when it first
blew up, our lawyers had gone to the extradition squad of the Metropolitan Police and said,
“Be aware, there’s this. If an extradition request comes in, would you mind not knocking on
the door at two in the morning? They will happily turn up to be arrested, pursuant to an
extradition warrant. Just let us know when and where”. Fair play to them, the extradition
squad were good to their word.

The Chairman: How much warning did you get?

David Bermingham: A couple of days, | believe.

Lord Rowlands CBE: Did this big binder of information make a case against you?

David Bermingham: In a manner of speaking, yes. It was all affidavit stuff. Evidence was
lacking, but the evidence did not need to be there.

The Chairman: Lord Mackay, | know that you want to come in at this stage of the
questioning.

Lord Mackay of Drumadoon: Can | clarify one thing? Was it your London lawyer who spoke
to the police and made arrangements for your detention?

David Bermingham: Yes, it was.

Lord Mackay of Drumadoon: Was he present when you were arrested?

David Bermingham: It was two different sets of lawyers. Originally, in June 2002, it was
McDermott Will & Emery, so a lawyer from there made that arrangement. Eighteen months
later, when the extradition came in, it was Mark Spragg.

Lord Mackay of Drumadoon: Was he present?

David Bermingham: Yes, he was.
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Lord Mackay of Drumadoon: How long after you went through this procedure did you have
the opportunity to discuss matters with your London lawyer?
David Bermingham: We were constantly discussing them.

Q243 Lord Mackay of Drumadoon: The question it has been suggested | might ask is on
forum bar. | think you are familiar with the two statutory types of forum bar and the history
of when one of them came into force.

David Bermingham: Yes.

Lord Mackay of Drumadoon: Looking back at what happened to you over a period of time,
what is your reaction to this question: would the forum bar that is now in force in the United
Kingdom have made any difference in the way your case unfolded, in your opinion?

David Bermingham: This is obviously a hypothetical question. The short and correct answer
has to be that | have no idea because it is hypothetical. But in my view, there was absolutely
no chance. The forum bar, as currently on the statute book, is a complete dog’s breakfast. |
have said as much. In particular, we came to the conclusion, during the course of what was a
long and very public struggle against extradition, that there were forces at work that were
going to damn well ensure that we were put on a plane. There was no doubt in our minds
whatever.

Lord Mackay of Drumadoon: When you say “forces”, were these forces based in the United
Kingdom or the US?

David Bermingham: A combination of both, but yes. | am a great conspiracy theorist. The
key thing with the forum bar as it is currently drafted, quite apart from the fact that it is
about four pages long when four lines would have done, is there is in there the ability for a
UK prosecutor to serve a certificate on the court that then becomes determinative. He can
essentially say, “I've looked at this. We don’t want to prosecute it, and therefore you, the

magistrate, should order their extradition”. Almost inevitably that would have happened to
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us because we had already sued the Serious Fraud Office and said, “We want you to
prosecute”. We had been to all the prosecuting authorities. We had written to the DPP, the
FSA, the SFO, and everybody just said, “Nothing to do with us”. | am damn sure that a
prosecutor in our case would have written that certificate. Of course, under the new law
there are no longer automatic appeal rights. That would essentially have become
determinative.

Lord Brown of Eaton-under-Heywood: That certificate is subject to appeal.

David Bermingham: It is, my Lord, but as | just said, under the new law there are no longer
automatic appeal rights.

Lord Brown of Eaton-under-Heywood: We know that, but that is a different point entirely.
In your case it would have been subject to an appeal.

David Bermingham: Sorry, | thought the question | was answering was “what would happen
if you applied today’s law to our case”? | suppose if we are just talking about forum and not
automatic appeal rights, | would agree with you.

The Chairman: Just for clarification, because | was not clear from what you were saying, are
you saying that the bodies that you invited to prosecute you—Ilet us put it that way—did or
did not properly consider the possibility of doing that?

David Bermingham: They all considered, but they refused to entertain the possibility of
investigating it.

The Chairman: You are not saying that they came to that conclusion improperly?

David Bermingham: |t is probably better that | do not, because | really do not know.

The Chairman: You can say what you like here. It does not matter. Tell us the truth as you
see it.

David Bermingham: In my view, yes.
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The Chairman: Right, fine, thank you. That is all | wanted to be clear about.

Q244 Lord Jones: The question | have been asked to put to you, hearing the distressing
detail of your struggle, is: as the extradition process in this country moved forward, did you
have any legal representation in the United States, and if you did to what extent was this of
benefit to you?

David Bermingham: Yes, we did. In June 2002 when the charges were brought against us,
and as | mentioned, we immediately got hold of some US lawyers, who talked to the
prosecutor—it was a single prosecutor—who said, “The only basis on which | am interested
in talking to these guys is if they waive their rights in extradition, come to America and enter
a guilty plea”. So that was a relatively short conversation. Thereafter, our US lawyers said,
“Right. On the basis of that, | would do everything in your power not to come to America”.
Lord Jones: Thank you.

David Bermingham: Might | go back to the last question, as | did not really give a complete
answer on forum. You mentioned, my Lord, two statutory forum provisions. There were
actually three. The third one is often forgotten, but never by me because | drafted it. | refer
to it in my written evidence. Back in 2006, when we were simultaneously trying to avoid
extradition and get the law changed, we drafted a forum amendment that was no more
than four lines long. The difference between that and what ended up dormant on the
statute book was that in ours the presumption was against extradition if the case could be
heard in the UK. The philosophy behind that was very straightforward. The whole point
about extradition is that the moment you put someone on a plane, you have effectively
exercised summary judgment over them. They are going to be thrown into a hellhole prison
somewhere. It may be a very long way away. They may have difficulty understanding the
language. They are going to have difficulty with a foreign legal system. They are away from

their home, their family. It is a terrible thing to happen. My view, and | am not anti
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extradition, is that extradition should be akin to a last resort. It is absolutely imperative that
the interests of justice are served, but do they necessarily have to be served in the first
instance by carting people off in chains to the far side of the world? Answer: no. If a case
could be heard here, we ought to think very carefully about the fact that, as a first priority, it
ought to be. | do not think that is a radical proposition, not least because that is, in terms,
the way the whole of the rest of the world behaves. If you are France, for instance, you will
never put one of your own citizens on a plane to America, simply because he is French, and
if you are lIrish you will not put him on a plane to America if the case could be heard in
Ireland. This is the point: no one is suggesting for one moment that a forum bar ought to
prevent all extraditions. We are saying that it should be incumbent upon a requesting state
to make the case as to why putting someone on a plane in chains to the far side of the world
to be locked up in prison is better than the case being dealt with in the UK. | genuinely do
not think that is a radical proposition, and the fact that so many parliamentarians over the
years have refused point blank to recognise that does a massive disservice to our citizens. |
am absolutely ashamed of the legislation that we have enacted, and continue to defend. All
the Conservatives and Liberal Democrats, in opposition in 2006, tried jolly hard to put in
place exactly the four-line forum bar that | have just set out.

Lord Henley: Was it your amendment?

David Bermingham: Yes, it was. It was taken up by the Conservatives. Hansard is clear on it.
In fact, your Lordships’ House kept batting it back to the House of Commons. Tony Blair
parked his parliamentary majority on the lawn to ensure this would not happen. It was only
because David Cameron had a case of utter moral cowardice, backed down and instructed
his Peers at the third attempt to oppose no longer that we did not get it through. This House

wanted it to go through by a substantial majority. It is a very straightforward proposition
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that would have solved an awful lot of the issues that have been faced, were faced then,
and are still faced today.

Lord Brown of Eaton-under-Heywood: We still have the interests of justice test. You set all
this out in the penultimate page of your statement.

David Bermingham: Absolutely, but the difference is one of presumption, and while we pay
lip service to that it is jolly important.

Lord Rowlands CBE: In fact, none of the UK authorities wanted to prosecute in any shape or
form.

David Bermingham: They did not.

Lord Rowlands CBE: So the forum bar would not have done anything.

David Bermingham: On the contrary; if you had taken the Eurojust test, put it into the
hands of a judge and said, “Where does this case belong?”, he would have said, “It belongs
in the UK”. At that point, having said, “These guys are not going to get extradited to the US”,
the UK authorities might just have taken a different view.

The Chairman: The thing that is important to establish from our point of view is whether
your US legal advisers were a help to you.

David Bermingham: Yes, there were a huge help, because they gave us an insight into how
the system worked over there. It took us a long time fully to understand it, because being
British we were all very much of the belief that if you had done nothing wrong, everything
would be fine. It took a very long time and an awful lot of money for us to understand that
that is not how the game is played in America.

Q245 Baroness Jay of Paddington: Obviously your main critique is of the American system,

as you have just demonstrated, but you are also very critical of the British system.
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David Bermingham: Completely. | am absolutely livid, in case that is not abundantly clear. |
cannot believe that successive Governments—

Baroness Jay of Paddington: Leaving aside the politics, you are very critical of the legal
system.

David Bermingham: | am sorry, do you mean the criminal justice system or the extradition
system?

Baroness Jay of Paddington: You have talked quite vividly about the way in which you were
handled, as it were, by the British criminal justice system.

David Bermingham: | know for a fact that they were leaned on. The Financial Services
Authority and the Serious Fraud Office were told in no uncertain terms by the FBI, “We need
these guys. Step away”.

Lord Brown of Eaton-under-Heywood: Sorry, you were told in no uncertain terms by—
David Bermingham: They were told by the Federal Bureau of Investigation, who came to
London by plane on 12 June 2006, visited the FSA and the SFO and told them to get out of
the way because they needed us.

Lord Brown of Eaton-under-Heywood: Where is the evidence of this?

David Bermingham: | have been told by somebody whose name | cannot give you.

The Chairman: You talked earlier about extradition and people—I think | quote you
accurately—being sent off in chains to America. Just so we are absolutely clear, when you
went to America, were you in chains?

David Bermingham: No, | was not.

The Chairman: It is terribly important that we are absolutely clear about these things. Tell us

about that.
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David Bermingham: Here is the thing. We had probably the most delightful extradition you
could ever have to America, and because we had become such political hot potatoes the
Attorney-General here, Lord Goldsmith, personally contacted the Attorney-General in the
US and said, “Give these guys bail”, which had never been done before. We were delivered
to the US marshals who came to take us on the plane at the elbow prior to the door to the
plane at Gatwick Airport. The marshal said, “Under normal circumstances you guys would be
in chains at this stage. However, we are not going to do that”. Whether that was because
someone had told them not to | do not know, but they made it absolutely clear that that
would be the normal protocol. As soon as we arrived in the US, we were put in chains.

The Chairman: So you got on to the plane as you described, in your ordinary clothes, with
the rest of the passengers.

David Bermingham: Most of the rest of the passengers were the UK press corps. It was
rather extraordinary.

Lord Hart of Chilton: Did you travel first class?

David Bermingham: Regrettably we did not. We were very much at the back of the bus.

The Chairman: When you got to JFK, Newark, Washington, or wherever it was, what
happened then?

David Bermingham: It was Houston, Texas. It was hotter than hell. When we arrived we
were met by a wall of law enforcement. You could not have made this stuff up: there were
guys with more badges and guns than you could shake a stick at. We were taken to the
Immigration and Customs Enforcement department. We were put in our hand chains, foot
chains, belts and everything else, strip-searched and then taken off to what we thought was
the Federal Detention Center in downtown Houston. In fact, it turned out to be the federal

courthouse. We were processed there. At this stage, we were expecting to be remanded
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into custody in the Federal Detention Center when a representative of the US Attorney-
General turned up in a very smart suit and said, “Guys, don’t worry, everything’s going to be
fine”. He took the marshals outside and loud voices ensued. The marshals then said, “We
don’t really know what’s going on”. They took us out of our chains, took us downstairs, put
us into a couple of cars and drove us to the Marriott hotel, where they put us up in a room
for the night prior to a bail hearing the following day.

Baroness Jay of Paddington: You said earlier, not in reply to the Chairman’s question, that
you were delivered to a “hellhole” prison.

David Bermingham: | have been in several hellhole prisons.

Baroness Jay of Paddington: As | say, we are trying to get the narrative straight.

David Bermingham: No, we were not then, absolutely. We had an extraordinary adventure,
which | do not think anybody else has come close to having.

Lord Hart of Chilton: That is all thanks to Lord Goldsmith.

David Bermingham: | think it was down to the pressure on Tony Blair. For about a week
prior to our extradition, if you look at the morning and afternoon daily press conferences
with the Prime Minister, which is all online, you will see what was happening.

Lord Rowlands CBE: Were any assurances sought or given by the US authorities as to how
you were going to be treated?

David Bermingham: No, we had made clear that we expected to be treated very badly. In
that sense, they surprised us greatly. We were treated extremely well.

Lord Rowlands CBE: Neither the court nor anybody else sought assurances about how you
were going to be treated?

David Bermingham: No.
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Q246 The Chairman: Can | ask you briefly about the bail proceedings you referred to? |
understand, from the story as | read it, that you were given bail.

David Bermingham: Yes.

The Chairman: Who provided the bail?

David Bermingham: What happens is that you go before a US magistrate judge for the bail
hearing. Everyone was in uncharted water. The United States Attorneys’ Manual requires
that the US attorneys oppose bail. You have to make out a case as to why you should be
granted bail. The problem was that we were not US citizens: we did not have green cards or
anything like that. We had no social security numbers, we had no place of abode and no
means of earning income. We would have failed every one of the tests. The US attorneys
therefore did not oppose our bail because they had been instructed to do so by the US
Attorney-General’s office. The judge was then left in a quandary as to what to do. He rightly
said, “If | release these guys, where are they going to go? They haven’t got any homes to go
to, they’ve got no money, they can’t support themselves. They’re not US citizens; they're
effectively deportable aliens. | have to think about this”. At that point my US lawyer, who |
had met for the first time only an hour previously, stepped in and said, “Your honour, if it
helps | will take them into my house”, and he did.

The Chairman: So he dealt with the surety.

David Bermingham: Yes, he gave the judge the ability to let us go on bail. | think the judge
was genuinely scratching his head—I do not blame him—about what he was going to do
with us.

Lord Hart of Chilton: What other sureties had to be given? He gave surety because your

lawyer was going to put you up.
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David Bermingham: Yes. There was no monetary surety. It was a temporary arrangement
pending a more detailed hearing the following week. For a week we lived with him.

The Chairman: All three of you together?

David Bermingham: All three of us; we lived in his house. We were subject to electronic
monitoring. That day they put electronic monitors on us, which meant that we could not
move outside a fairly narrow circumference. After a week, more formal bail conditions were
put in place, by which time we had secured, through my lawyer, accommodation in various
apartments, so we could demonstrate that we had somewhere to live. We were required by
the US court to find work, which was relatively funny. We therefore satisfied the conditions.
It was acknowledged by all as fairly extraordinary.

The Chairman: Who put the money up?

David Bermingham: \We had to put it up.

The Chairman: Each of you put your own money up?

David Bermingham: Yes, so | had to put up $0.5 million in cash.

Q247 Lord Brown of Eaton-under-Heywood: Mr Bermingham, among other points you
raised was an Article 8(2) defence, on the basis that extradition would interfere gravely with
your family life and all the rest. Dare | mention this: it cannot surprise you that that aspect
of your defence failed.

David Bermingham: Funnily enough, | am a born optimist, my Lord. It surprised me greatly.
The reason for that, very simply, although | am not a lawyer, is that it was put to us by our
lawyers that we had a strong case because Article 8 is a qualified right. It is inevitable that
there would be an interference with our right to a family life because we were being carted
off to the other side of the world. The question is: is it necessary and proportionate? In our
case we said that it was not necessary or proportionate because the case could and should

be heard in London. | did not think that was a particularly difficult concept. | do not blame
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the judges—much as | would like to | cannot. They were deciding the case based on the law.
Essentially, we were endeavouring to use Article 8 to put a forum provision in place,
because it did not exist in the law. To this day | could tell you that it was not necessary, for
the interests of justice to be served, to extradite us to America. If the Americans had wanted
that case to be heard in the UK, all they had to do was say to the Serious Fraud Office,
“Prosecute it”. It is as simple as that.

Lord Brown of Eaton-under-Heywood: Really, therefore, you are running this defence very
much in conjunction with the forum point.

David Bermingham: Yes.

Lord Brown of Eaton-under-Heywood: If it was right from a forum standpoint that you
should stand trial in the States rather than in the UK, Article 8 cannot have tipped the
balance against any prosecution at all.

David Bermingham: | agree. That is exactly why we ran it, though, because there was no
forum provision.

Lord Brown of Eaton-under-Heywood: | do not know whether you are alive to the
developments in the law following the case of HH: it is thought that the Article 8 defence
now has an altogether better prospect of success. How far that is so perhaps remains to be
seen, but do you think that you would be significantly better off today than you were then
on an Article 8 defence basis?

David Bermingham: We would obviously be running a different or perhaps no Article 8
argument. Today you would be trying to run that argument under the forum provision. As |
said earlier, | think we would fail on that. | honestly believe that the courts’ interpretation of
Article 8 is pretty draconian. Underpinning it very clearly in both Norris and HH is a very

strong presumption that we must honour our extradition arrangements and that those take
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priority over an individual’s case or circumstances in all but the most exceptional cases. |
genuinely do not take that view because, as | say, | think the whole framework that we have
is flawed. It is completely out of kilter with all other countries, including America, most
notably—they look after their own and will try cases locally before considering putting
people on a plane. | think that is where we fail. While our analysis of Article 8 may be correct
in terms of meshing it with European precedent, the whole framework is flawed. Within
that, therefore, the Article 8 test is the wrong one.

Lord Rowlands CBE: You mentioned proportionality. That has been introduced in European
arrest warrant cases, but they do not apply or extend to Article 8(2) cases. Should they apply
to Part 2 cases? Secondly, would proportionality have been a defence in your case?

David Bermingham: No, | do not think it was. We were accused of a major fraud.

Lord Rowlands CBE: It was S7 million.

David Bermingham: Absolutely. | think the short answer is yes. There have been an awful lot
of cases where you would say, “What on earth are we doing putting these people on a plane
to America?”. It would be great if the Part 2 countries had proportionality testing. The
problem | have is how you would make that work in practice. As things stand, the court has
to assess the affidavit that is in front of it: it is the charge, the narrative of the conduct. A
prosecutor in America can draft whatever narrative he wants. If he knows that he has to
meet a proportionality test, he will just draft the narrative that does. In practice, it would be
a difficult one.

Q248 Lord Hart of Chilton: Your lawyers argued that you would receive an unfair trial in
America. That was ruled against you. There are various aspects of the American system that
we have had evidence on. | am particularly interested in plea bargaining. | would like you to
describe what happened to you in relation to plea bargaining. How did it come about? What

were the arguments? What happened to you in terms of making a decision, and so on?
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David Bermingham: As | said, in the very first conversation between our US lawyers and the
prosecutor in June 2002, he said, “The only basis on which I'm prepared to entertain a
discussion with your clients is if they will waive their rights to an extradition, come to the
UK, plead guilty to a potentially lesser offence and give evidence against other people”. Of
course, many years then passed. We got extradited and we set about endeavouring to
defend our case. We were all separately advised and they were all very good lawyers. In
fact, the lawyer of one of my co-defendants, Gary Mulgrew, was formerly a prosecutor in
the Department of Justice. He had been the head of the fraud squad. He knew very well how
the system worked. The plea bargain is always there for any defendant and it was always
there for us. We made the best fist we could of endeavouring to defend this. As it
transpired—

The Chairman: Can you explain how the plea bargaining occurred? Who said what to
whom?

David Bermingham: | was going to come on to that, Lord Chairman. As it transpired, a
cumulative series of things eventually led us to a decision to plea bargain. The first was that
the trial was continually put back. We were living in a legal la-la land. Every day in Houston,
Texas was a day out of our lives. It was not being credited against any sentence, should we
end up being found guilty. We were spending an enormous amount of money. Every time
they put the trial back another four months it was another four months of having to pay to
be somewhere you did not want to be.

That was one thing. The other was that we tried desperately hard to get access to all the
written materials that we wanted to conduct our defence, but also, more importantly, to
witnesses from the UK. We had flagged this in the extradition proceedings. Because there

were no proceedings against us in the UK when we were still here, we had no rights to

13



David Bermingham — Oral evidence (QQ 238 - 254)

subpoena. We could not get any preparatory work done: we could not interview witnesses
or get documents. It is only when you get to America that you can start to engage processes.
To give you an analogy, someone once said—

The Chairman: Can | just stop you there for a moment? Is that because of the law or just the
mechanics of it?

David Bermingham: Yes, it is the law.

The Chairman: You are saying that if you are outside the US jurisdiction, you cannot
subpoena witnesses. Is that right?

David Bermingham: That is absolutely correct. We had no right to subpoena. When we got
to the US we had rights of subpoena but only through the US system. Now we are
endeavouring to subpoena witnesses who are in the UK through the US justice system. It is a
bit like trying to wallpaper your house through the letterbox. We were endeavouring to
engage a mutual legal assistance programme through a US district judge in a court in
Houston, Texas. We failed miserably. All this is a matter of public record. We told them all
the documents and the witnesses that we wanted, but we were entirely unable to get them.
We never came close. At that point you are faced with, “We might really struggle to defend
this case. If the trial is continually being put back, let us entertain the concept of a plea
bargain”. What actually happened, before we ever went to them, was that the prosecutors
approached one of my co-defendants, Giles Darby. Giles was the person against whom there
was minimal—that is the best way | can put it—evidence of any involvement but for the fact
that the three of us were supposedly co-conspirators. They approached him with a view to
him entering into a plea bargain, which would have been along the lines of him pleading
guilty to something very, very minor, getting a slap on the wrist and getting sent home. The

quid pro quo would be that he had to give evidence against us. Giles said no. The
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prosecutors then moved on to me through our lawyers and made much the same advances
to me, and | said no. Then they moved on to Gary.

The Chairman: Can you be slightly more precise about the nature of this process? The
American prosecutors approached your lawyers. Trying to describe it in simple layman’s
language, neither in legal language nor necessarily in slang, what was the proposition?
David Bermingham: The proposition was that you, the defendant—me, in my case—are
willing to plead guilty to something significantly less serious than was charged in the
indictment. Much more importantly, you are also willing to give evidence against your co-
conspirators.

The Chairman: Of what?

David Bermingham: Of the conspiracy that was charged.

The Chairman: Right. | think | am right in saying that there were seven charges against you.
David Bermingham: There were seven counts on the indictment. The original criminal
complaint was one count of wire fraud. The indictment was seven counts of wire fraud.

The Chairman: And the offer was that all but one would be dropped.

David Bermingham: Yes, essentially.

Lord Hart of Chilton: Just for the record, how many witnesses did you seek to subpoena?
David Bermingham: Thirty-six.

Lord Hart of Chilton: And they were all rejected?

David Bermingham: Yes. It is not quite that simple. The vast majority of them were former
or current employees of the Royal Bank of Scotland and had fallen under the umbrella of the
Royal Bank of Scotland’s legal advisers, who put themselves between us and those people

and said, “They don’t want to talk to you”. Of course, that is determinative. If the US judge
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had given the order that we sought, we could, through the mutual legal assistance treaty,
have forced them to give evidence, which is what we were seeking to do.

The Chairman: Why did that not happen?

David Bermingham: Because the judge never made the order. He sat on it.

The Chairman: So he just ignored what you requested.

David Bermingham: Yes.

Lord Hart of Chilton: Please go on with the narrative of what happened.

David Bermingham: When | said no, they moved on to Gary, and Gary subsequently said no.
At that stage, Gary’s lawyer, who, as | say, had been the former prosecutor, said, “Right, if
there is ever a good time, now is the time to go back to the prosecutors and say, ‘We will

4

entertain the prospect of a deal, but it is a deal for all three or a deal for none’”. This was
when the trial had been put back yet again, so we were facing a further six-month delay.
That was a relatively short conversation, because they said, “Of course. If all three plead
guilty, happiness, no trial, lovely jubbly”. We then entered into a rather extraordinary series
of negotiations, where for about two weeks we decided what the punishment would be, and
after we had agreed on what it would be we then had to agree on what we had done that
would support that level of punishment under US sentencing guidelines.

The Chairman: This was done on a prosecutor to defence basis without the involvement of
any of the judiciary, was it not?

David Bermingham: Correct. The judge was presented, ultimately, with a take-it-or-leave-it
piece of paper that said, “This is the sentence, this is what they’'ve done, and we the
prosecutors agree that by signing this piece of paper we will agree (a) to drop the rest of

these charges and (b) to expedite their repatriation”. That was the key thing: the

prosecutors made it clear to us that if we signed a piece of paper saying that we had done
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something wrong, not only would they not oppose but they would support and expedite a
transfer home to the UK so that we could spend the majority of our sentence here.

Lord Hart of Chilton: So it was all part of the deal?

David Bermingham: 1t was all part of the deal. If, by contrast, we turned down the deal,
went to trial and lost, they would ensure that we never got back. That was within their gift
because of the way the prisoner transfer works.

Lord Hart of Chilton: And they said that to you, did they?

David Bermingham: Oh yes. They said exactly the same to Gary McKinnon in the US
embassy here in London. This is exactly how it works. It is a very, very powerful weapon.

The Chairman: In the context of the circumstances in which this alleged fraud was supposed
to have taken place, there were other—for want of a better way of putting it—co-
conspirators who were Americans, were there not?

David Bermingham: Supposedly, yes.

The Chairman: What happened to them? How did their circumstances relate to yours? What
was the impact on them of your pleading guilty, and vice versa?

David Bermingham: None at all. They had pleaded guilty to a litany of other offences way
before us. We were kind of the last men standing.

Lord Brown of Eaton-under-Heywood: They had, in fact, incriminated you, or Kopper had.
David Bermingham: Michael Kopper. Yes he did, absolutely. Dear old Michael Kopper. No,
Michael Kopper signed up to exactly the theory as part of his plea agreement. He was the
smartest guy in the room.

The Chairman: Then there was a Mr Fastow, was there not?

David Bermingham: There was a Mr Fastow.

The Chairman: What happened to him?
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David Bermingham: He was originally indicted on 98 counts. He ended up making a plea
bargain—only after they charged his wife, | might add, which was kind of underhand. He
pleaded guilty to two offences, and was sentenced to six years in prison.

The Chairman: What they said and did had no impact on your trial?

David Bermingham: No, not at all. In fact, oddly enough, Mr Fastow, from his prison cell,
was required to go and give all kinds of civil depositions, which were supposed to be in
camera but we got hold of the transcript of one of them. In that, he all but exonerated us,
which was kind of funny, but we had already pleaded guilty by then. But such is life.

Q249 Baroness Jay of Paddington: On the point that Lord Hart raised about the witnesses
in the UK who you said you could not access because the judge did not act appropriately,
given that you obviously felt that they were very strong—and 36 of them is a formidable
number—would it not have been better, given the legal circumstances, for your lawyers to
have acted in trying to influence the judge on that rather than being involved in plea
bargaining. Did they make the steps in the first instance before they started the plea
bargaining negotiation? It seems a funny sort of lacuna.

David Bermingham: | am sorry if | am not clear on this. It will vary on a judge-by-judge basis.
Jed Rakoff, who wrote the article in front of you, is at the other end of the spectrum. There
are different judges in America. We had a judge who was known to be enormously pro-
prosecution. It is just a fact of life; it is a lottery. One of the tools in a judge’s armoury is to
introduce delay into the process. That is what he did: he sat on it. We endeavoured to get
him to respond to it but he did not.

Lord Rowlands CBE: Do you believe plea bargaining is utterly wrong, as a consequence?
David Bermingham: No. We have always had plea bargaining here, to a limited degree. My
issue with the American system is that over the last 20 years it has got completely out of

kilter because the prosecutor is now effectively judge, jury and executioner. The judge had

118



David Bermingham — Oral evidence (QQ 238 - 254)

absolutely nothing to do with the plea bargain that we put in front of him, other than to
agree with it.

The Chairman: Or to disagree with it.

David Bermingham: Or to disagree. If he disagreed the whole deal was off and we walked
away. That is what happened with Mr Fastow’s wife. They charged her. Her prosecutor put
together a plea bargain, which was basically a slap on the wrist for her because that way
they got Mr Fastow’s co-operation. The judge said, “This is a complete and utter farrago. I'm
not going to sign off on this”, at which point all bets were off. The prosecutors had to go
back and be very creative in their charging decision. They charged her with something
completely different, such that the sentencing that the judge imposed would be so small.
Lord Rowlands CBE: Do you think what has happened to the plea bargaining system is now a
justification for never extraditing to the States?

David Bermingham: No, not at all. Let me make clear: | am not anti-extradition or anti-
American. | just think that we have to have checks and balances. We need to recognise that
there are aspects of their system of plea bargaining that are anathema to us. There is a 97%
plea bargain rate in the federal system in the US. That beats Stalinist Russia and China into a
cocked hat. There has to be something wrong with that and there is. That is why | commend
you to read the article by Judge Rakoff.

Q250 The Chairman: Can | go back to your own circumstances, when you were faced with
what you described? When you decided to plead guilty you felt that the pressures were
coming in on you. What exactly was the main driver of that decision? Was it the fact that
you would get a reduced sentence? Was it the fact that the judge would not pursue the
mutual legal assistance? Or was it frankly just the general length of time that this was taking
and being spun out for and so on? What propelled you and your co-defendants to change

your minds and say, “Okay”?

119



David Bermingham — Oral evidence (QQ 238 - 254)

David Bermingham: It was a combination of all those things. The final straw was in August
2007. Our wives had come out during the summer holidays with the children. We learnt that
day that the trial had been put back another six months. The wives just said, “Done. Forget
it. Get out of here. Sign a piece of paper, do what you need to do”. When you have,
between us, 12 children and three wives—not each, obviously—that bears upon you, the
human consequences of this.

Lord Hart of Chilton: So getting home was a very important factor?

David Bermingham: Absolutely. That was why it was important to us that the nature of the
plea deal that we did took out the judge—we were not confident in him—and wrote in black
and white that they were going to get us home and get us home fast.

Lord Brown of Eaton-under-Heywood: By the time you got to the sentencing process, you
say that 37 months’ imprisonment was already a fixed term?

David Bermingham: Yes, it was in the plea deal.

Lord Brown of Eaton-under-Heywood: In those circumstances, what are we to make of your
co-accused saying to the sentencing judge that they regretted their lack of integrity, that
they had no one to blame but themselves and deeply regretting involvement in the whole
affair?

David Bermingham: | stand by everything we said. Just in case | am unclear on this, the
conduct to which we pled guilty and the affidavit against which we pled guilty bore an
uncanny resemblance to exactly what we said to the Financial Services Authority. | am not
proud of what we did. We made a crass error of judgment in not telling the Royal Bank of
Scotland what we had done. It was a spectacularly stupid thing to do. If somebody who had

worked for me had done the same thing, | would have fired him on the spot. | am not proud

120



David Bermingham — Oral evidence (QQ 238 - 254)

of what we did, but there is a very great difference between not being proud of some
conduct and signing up to some cockamamie theory of massive criminal conspiracy.

Q251 Lord Hart of Chilton: You have frequently described prisons in America as “hellholes”.
You were not in a hellhole, were you?

David Bermingham: | was for a brief period of time, yes. Before you come back to the UK, if
you are the subject of a prisoner transfer or if you are held on remand pre-trial you will be in
the same kind of thing: you will be in a federal detention centre. The one through which you
must come back, if you are transferred, is the Metropolitan Correctional Center in
downtown Manhattan. The federal detention centres are all much of a muchness: they are
multi-storey buildings with very little light, two to a cell. Statistically, you will be in with a
drug dealer. They are not nice places. They are designed not to be nice places because it is
all part of the process of ensuring that remand prisoners plead.

The Chairman: How long were you physically inside this place?

David Bermingham: | was in MCC only for a month. | went into prison in California first of
all. I knew that | would have to stage out of New York.

The Chairman: What was the Californian one like?

David Bermingham: From my perspective it was marvellous. | had never been to California
before and the weather was very nice. They build prisons over there in complexes. They
build a high-security, a medium and a low, and they might have a prison camp, which is the
minimum. If you are a foreigner you cannot go into an open prison: the Bureau of Prisons
will not allow it. The best you will do is a low, which will typically have wire around the
outside, but you get a fair degree of freedom during the day to walk around and exercise.
Once you get into a medium or a high you get prison walls, so you cannot see the outside,

and you are incarcerated in a cell a lot of the time. From my perspective, being incarcerated
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in a room where there were 250 inmates in bunk beds two feet apart was not a bad place to
be, oddly enough—I was in the army; to me it was a bit like basic training on steroids. It did
not faze me greatly. The fact that | could move around and the weather was nice bear upon
the time you will have there. It was low security.

In a federal prison, you are unlikely—unless you are a fool or a child molester—to be in
great danger. They are almost all run along gang lines, so typically in California in any given
prison 60% of the inmates will be Hispanics with English as a second language, 20% black
and 20% white. The Hispanics and the black inmates will be organised along gang lines. If
you are a white and not a child molester, you should be able to stay out of trouble; no one is
going to go after you. My time there was fine. What they have, which | think we could learn
a lot from in the UK, gives you an absolute incentive never to step half a pace across the line
because they build prisons in these complexes. They have absolutely regimented rules. If
you are in a low and you have a fair degree of freedom, you can see the medium over there
and the high over there. You know full well that if you infract, as they would say, you would
be over there or over there in five minutes flat and you know you do not want to be there.
The Chairman: How much of your time was in this low prison?

David Bermingham: | was there for five months. It took five months for my transfer to go
through and then | began an odyssey through several other prisons. | wrote a book and | was
going to talk about prison in a chapter called “Planes, Chains and Automobiles”. | did the
prison bus thing and the prison plane thing—con air does exist. | eventually ended up in the
Metropolitan Correctional Center in New York.

The Chairman: Were the ones you went to from the Californian prison “hellholes”, or were

they more akin to the one in California.
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David Bermingham: No, they are all horrible places. All the transit prisons are high security
because they deal with all kinds of inmates.

The Chairman: Were you being transited deliberately towards New York?

David Bermingham: Yes, but in a roundabout way. For instance, | went variously to
Oklahoma, then to Pennsylvania, which is quite close to New York, and from there down to
Atlanta, which is not, and from there up to New York.

The Chairman: What length of time did all this take?

David Bermingham: That took two weeks.

The Chairman: Two weeks to go on this journey?

David Bermingham: Yes.

The Chairman: Then you were in New York.

David Bermingham: Then | was in New York. | was there for a month, because we had to
wait for a magistrates’ hearing. The transfer process has three stages. First, you have to
apply for a transfer from within prison. You have to be in prison to make the transfer
application. It goes through various desks on its way up to an office in Washington called the
OEO, which is part of the International Prisoner Transfer Unit. They have absolute discretion
over whether to say yea or nay. If they say no, there is no right of appeal and you must wait
two years before you can submit another request. In our case, because it was written into
the plea agreement that the prosecutor would support and expedite a transfer, we were
relatively confident, although you can never be 100% sure, that they would say yes. They
said yes. Once that has happened, then and only then are papers sent by the Office of
International Affairs in Washington to what was the Home Office and is now the justice
department here. The UK end of that process then clicks into gear. Really, that is all about:

first, whether there was dual criminality in the thing of which he was convicted or pleaded
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guilty to; secondly, whether he has a minimum six months left to serve once he is
repatriated; and, thirdly, whether he is a UK citizen. It ought to take about five minutes. It
regularly takes 10 to 12 weeks. Once that process has been gone through, then and only
then will they move you to New York. Then you have to have a magistrates’ hearing in which
you put up your hand and say, “Yes, | understand all that | am giving up by leaving America
and going back to the UK, and | want to do that”.

The Chairman: In a sense, one of the important aspects of this episode is that you spent all
the time that you were sentenced to be detained for in California. At the end of that period,
in order to get out to go home, you then went through the other prisons.

David Bermingham: Yes, but | was going home to serve more time in UK prisons.

The Chairman: Absolutely, but still, that was the characteristic of it.

David Bermingham: That is it. Behind me is Christopher Tappin. He would be able to tell you
at first hand about the hellhole he was in in the New Mexico desert. If you are extradited,
the likely course of events is that you will first be put into a very unpleasant place
immediately after extradition. We expected to be in that place in Houston but were not.
Then you may or may not get bail; most people who are extradited do not. If you do not,
you will spend all your time there until such time, statistically, as you make your plea
bargain. When you have made your plea bargain, you have to wait several months before
sentencing. When you have been sentenced, then and only then will they allocate you to a
prison that is commensurate with your sentence and the nature of the offence. So there is a
jolly good chance, if you are extradited, that you will spend most of your time in a very nasty
place.

Lord Hart of Chilton: Up to the point of the plea bargain, what amount of time was counted

as part of the sentence?
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David Bermingham: None.

Lord Hart of Chilton: And after the plea bargain?

David Bermingham: None, until sentencing. Sorry, even that is wrong. The plea bargain was
in November 2007. Sentencing was in February 2008. We were not told to report to prison
until May 2008. Many people would say, and they would be right, that that last bit was
entirely our fault, because we could have volunteered to walk straight into prison the
moment we were sentenced—the moment the plea deal was agreed by the judge. The
problem with doing that is that you will go into a hellhole, whereas if you wait until they tell
you to report to a prison you will report to somewhere much nicer, which is what we did. So
that was not until May 2008.

Lord Empey: Before | ask you the set question that | was going to ask you, Mr Bermingham,
you are effectively saying that if you are extradited, whether you are innocent or guilty, at
the end of the process you will effectively have conceded to some degree of guilt, whether
you are guilty or not.

David Bermingham: Yes.

Lord Empey: You are quoting a statistic of 97% for that.

David Bermingham: Yes.

Lord Empey: You would argue that a certain percentage of those people in all probability
could very well be innocent, but the practicalities of it are that it is not really possible, either
because of a lack of knowledge, a lack of resources, family pressures, to have the type of
trial that, in the latest paper that you circulated, would be the American ideal. That just does
not happen.

David Bermingham: In practice, that is correct.
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Q252 Lord Empey: Okay. Could | just take you to the situation back in the UK? Part of this
sentence was served here. | understand the process of getting you eventually to New York,
although | am bound to say that | do not know why you cannot go from California to New
York, but anyway. What happened then when you got to this stage and you left the United
States?

David Bermingham: |t is exactly the reverse of extradition. You are ha